
PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL 

STUDY SESSION 
November 20, 2018 

12:00P.M. 
58th Session of the 10th Council 

It is this Council's mission "To serve the citizens of Pontiac by committing to help provide an enhanced quality of life 
for its residents, fostering the vision of a family-friendly community that is a great place to live, work and play. " 

Call to order 

Roll Call 

Authorization to Excuse Councihnembers 

Amendments to and Approval of the Agenda 

Approval of the Minutes 

1. Meeting of November 13, 2018 
2. Correction to the Minutes of October 30, 2018 

Special Presentation 

3. John Balint, Director, Department of Public Works, 

Deputy Mayor Report or Depmtmental Head Report 

Public Comment 

Agenda Items for City Council Consideration 
4. Resolution for a Small Wine Maker's License [MLCC Request No. RQ-1807-10136] to existing Micro

Brewing License, Exferimentation Brewing Company at 7 North Saginaw, Pontiac, Michigan. 
5. Resolution requesting the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority to review the 140 S. Saginaw 

Street Project. 
6. Resolution concurring with the provisions of a Brownfield Plan adopted by the Oakland County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority for the 140 S. Saginaw Street Project. 
7. Resolution to authorize the Mayor to enter into a contract with Covenant Cemetery Se1vices for 2018-2023. 
8. Resolution to approve a 5% increase for eligible full time City employees effective December 1, 2018 and 

related budget amendments 

Adjournment 



October 30, 2018 Corrected 

Official Proceedings 
Pontiac City Council 

53,a Session of the Tenth Council 

A Formal Meeting of the City Council of Pontiac, Michigan was called to order in City Hall, Tuesday 
October 30, 2018 at Noon by Council President Kermit Williams. 

Call to Order at Noon. 

Invocation -

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 

Members Present: Caiter, Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams and Woodward. 
Mayor Waterman was present. 
Clerk announced a quorum. 

18-403 Motion to add resolution to change the next meeting date and time, move public 
comment before agenda items and table items #6, #10 and #12 for one week and approve the 
amendments of the agenda. Moved by Councilperson Woodward and second by Councilperson 
Waterman. 

Ayes: Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams, Woodward and Caiter 
No: None 
Motion Carried. 

18-404 Minutes of October 23, 2018. Moved by Councilperson Taylor-Burks and second by 
Councilperson Waterman. 

Ayes: Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams, Woodward, Carter and Miller 
No: None 
Motion Carried. 

18-405 Resolution to go into Closed Session. Moved by Councilperson Woodward and second 
by Councilperson Catter. 

Whereas, Section 8 (e), MCL 15.268, permits a public body "[to) consult with its attorney regarding trial 
or settlement strategy in connection with specific pending litigation, but only if an open meeting would 
have detrimental financial effect on the litigation or settlement position of the public body": and, 
Whereas, the Pontiac City Council believes that an open meeting would have a detrimental financial 
effect on the litigating or settlement position of the City. 
Therefore, Be It Resolved that the Pontiac City Council recesses into closed session for the purpose of 
consulting with its attorney regarding settlement strategy in the litigation case for Ottawa Towers, et. al. 
vs. City of Pontiac. 

Ayes: Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams, Woodward, Carter, Miller and Pietila 
No: None 

I 



October 30, 2018 Corrected 

Resolution Passed. 

18-406 Resolution for the settlement litigation regarding Ottawa Towers vs the City of 
Pontiac. Moved by Councilperson Pietila and second by Councilperson Waterman. 

Whereas, the City of Pontiac has determined that it is in the best interest of the City to settle the matter of 
Ottawa Towers, et. al. v City of Pontiac; and, 
Whereas, the City Attorney has provided details of the proposed settlement agreement; 
Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved that the City Council approves the proposed settlement agreement 
regarding Ottawa Towers, et. al. v City of Pontiac. 

Ayes: Waterman, Williams, Woodward and Pietila 
No: Caiter, Miller and Taylor-Burks 
Resolution Passed. 

18-407 Council President Kermit Williams opened up a public hearing at 12:36 pm 
regarding the approval of an Industrial Facilities Tax Exemption (IFT) Certificate application for 
Williams International for parcel #19-03-201-002. Moved by Councilperson Taylor-Burks and second 
by Councilperson Taylor-Burks. One individual who addressed the body during the public hearing. 

I. Mattie Hatchett 135 Perkins Pontiac, Mi. She asked what Williams International is going to do on 
the parcel and the parcel location. 

Ayes: Williams, Woodward, Carter, Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Burks and Waterman 
No:None 
Motion Carried. 

Council President Kermit Williams closed the public hearing at 12:38 p.m. 

18-408 Resolution to approve the Industrial Facilities Tax Exemption Certificate (IFT) 
parcel #19-03-201-002 and the Development Agreement between the City of Pontiac and Williams 
International. Moved by Councilperson Miller and second by Councilperson Pietila. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to P.A. 198 of 1974, M.C. 207.551 et seq., after a duly noticed public· hearing held 
on October 23, 2018, this City Council by resolution established a "Plant Rehabilitation District" covering 
2000 CenterPoint Parkway; and 
WHEREAS, Williams International Co., LLC ("Company") has filed an application for an Industrial 
Facilities Exemption Certificate (the "Application'! ) with respect to rehabilitation of the facility(s) 
within the Plant Rehabilitation District and such Application has been sent to the Office of the City Clerk 
for certification; and 
WHEREAS, before approving said Application the City held a hearing on June 22, 2017 at Pontiac City 
Hall in the City of Pontiac, at which hearing the applicant, the Assessor and a representative of the 
affected taxing units who had been given written notice and any other resident or non-resident of the City 
of Pontiac were afforded the opportunity to appear and be heard on said Application; and 
WHEREAS, construction on the prope1ty has not begun more than six (6) months prior to the date of the 
Application for the Industrial Facilities Exemption Ce1tificate was submitted to the City of Pontiac; and 
WHEREAS, completion of the facility(s) is calculated to and will at the time of issuance of the ce1tificate 
have the reasonable likelihood to create employment in the City of Pontiac; and 

2 



October 30, 2018 Corrected 

WHEREAS, the aggregate SEV ofreal and personal property exempt from ad valorem taxes within the 
City of Pontiac, after granting this ce1tificate, will not exceed 5% of an amount equal to the sum of the 
SEV of the unit, plus the SEV of personal and real prope1ty thus exempted. 
WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac and Company have agreed upon and will enter into an Industrial 
Facilities Tax Exemption Certificate Agreement, entitled "Industrial Facilities Exemption Certificate 
Agreement" which is attached as Exhibit B, and hereby incorporated here. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY the City Council of the City of Pontiac that: 

I. The City Council finds and determines that the granting of the Industrial Facilities Exemption 
Certificate, shall not have the effect of substantially impeding the operation of the City of 
Pontiac or impairing the :financial soundness of the taxing unit which levies ad valorem 
property taxes in the City of Pontiac. 

2 . The Application with respect to rehabilitation on the parcel ofreal prope1ty, situated within the 
Plant Rehabilitation District, which was established on June 22, 2017 (whose legal 
description is attached as Exhibit A), is hereby approved. 

3. The Industrial Facilities Exemption Certificate when issued shall be and remain in force for a 
period of Twelve (12) years after completion (including a one year rehabilitation period) of 
the facility(s), provided that the Industrial Facilities Exemption Certificate Agreement is 
executed by all parties, and subject to the statutory right of the City Council to request a 
revocation of such Certificate in accordance with MCLA 207.565. 

4. The Mayor is hereby authorized to take any steps in order to enter into and execute the 
Industrial Facilities Exemption Certificate Agreement on behalf of the City. 

Ayes: Woodward, Carter, Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Waterman and Williams 
No: None 
Resolution Passed. 

Recognition of Elected Officials - Brenda Caiter Trustee Pontiac School Board 

Agenda Address - Mattie Hatchett 

Twenty-Eight (28) individuals addressed the body during public comment. 

18-409 Resolution to authorize City Treasurer to distribute $63,529.09 of aged special 
assessment receivable on the 2018 winter tax rolls. Moved by Councilperson Waterman and second by 
Councilperson Woodward. 

Whereas, the Pontiac City Council believes that it is in the best interest of the City, that property owners 
who receive a direct benefit from the grass cutting, litter cleanup, demo and nuisance ordinance should 
pay for the benefit; 

Now, therefore, be it resolved, that the Pontiac City Council directs that the City Treasurer spread 
$63,529.09 of aged special assessment receivable on the 2018 winter tax rolls. 

Ayes: Carter, Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams and Woodward 

3 



October 30, 2018 CotTected 

No: None 
Resolution Passed. 

18-410 Resolution to authorize the Michigan Department of transportation to perform a 
road diet on Perry Street (I-75 Business Loop) for a nine (9) month period starting November 2018 
to July 2019. Motion to perform road diet for a six (6) month period instead of nine (9) month 
period. Moved by Councilperson Miller and second by Councilperson Pietila. 

WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac has received a request from the Michigan Department of Transportation 
to perform a road diet on Perry Street (1-75 Business Loop), effectively taking the roadway from a current 
five-lane section to a three-lane section; and, 
WHEREAS, the materials presented by MOOT show that there will be minimal delay caused to the 
motoring public, and, 
WHEREAS, this change will also create a safer environment for both motorists, bicyclists and 
pedestrians; and, 
WHEREAS, the change consists of only pavement markings, which can be changed, back to a five-lane 
section after a trial period; 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Pontiac City Council pass a resolution authorizing the 
Michigan Depattment of Transportation to perform a road diet on Perry Street (I-75 Business Loop) for a 
six-month trial period. (November 2018 to April 2019) 

Ayes: Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams, Woodward and Catter 
No:None 
Resolution Passed. 

18-41 I Resolution to authorize the Mayor to sign the Pontiac Stem! Agreement with 
Cranbrook Institute of Science for an amount not to exceed $33,500.00. Moved by Councilperson 
Miller and second by Councilperson Carter. 

Whereas, this paitnership between the City of Pontiac and Cran brook Institute will provide Pontiac youth 
with an environment of learning and creating where excellence innovation, collaboration, inclusiveness, 
stewardship and service are fostered; and 

Whereas, this pa1tnership will allow Pontiac youth to access the best Cranbrook Institute has to offer in 
terms of programing, experiences and collections. 

Now therefore, it is resolved that the Mayor be authorized to sign the Pontiac Stem! Agreement with 
Cranbrook Institute of Science for an amount not to exceed $33,500.00. 

Ayes: Waterman, Williams, Woodward and Pietila 
No: Taylor-Burks, Carter and Miller 
Resolution Passed. 

Council President Kermit Williams adjourned the meeting at 2:30 p.m. 

4 

GARLAND S. DOYLE 
INTERIM CITY CLERK 



November 13, 2018 

Official Proceedings 
Pontiac City Council 

56th Session of the Tenth Council 

A Formal Meeting of the City Council of Pontiac, Michigan was called to order in City Hall, Tuesday 
November 13, 2018 at 6:00 p.m. by Council President Pro-Tem Randy Catter. 

Call to Order at 6:00 p.m. 

Invocation - Pastor Matlock 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 

Members Present: Catter, Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Waterman and Woodward. 
Members Absent: Williams 
Mayor Waterman was present. 
Clerk announced a quorum. 

18-428 Excuse Councilman Kermit Williams for personal reasons. Moved by Councilperson 
Waterman and second by Councilperson Pietila. 

Ayes: Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Woodward and Carter 
No:None 
Motion Carried. 

Council President Kermit Williams arrived at 6:03 p.m. 

18-429 Motion to ad-on Item #7 (1·esolution for meeting time change from 6pm to 12:00 
p.m. on Tuesday, November 20, 2018) and aclcl Public Safety Committee Report nncler Sub
Committee Reports ancl approve the agencla with amendments. Moved by Councilperson Pietila and 
second by Councilperson Taylor-Burks. 

Ayes: Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams, Woodward, Carter and Miller 
No:None 
Motion Caniccl. 

18-430 Minutes of November 8, 2018. Moved by Councilperson Woodward and second by 
Councilperson Taylor-Burks. 

Ayes: Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams, Woodward, Carter, Miller and Pietila 
No:None 
Motion Carried. 

1 



November 13, 2018 

Subcommittee Rep011s - Law/50th District Sub-Committee and Public Safety Sub-Committee Reports 

Special Presentation - Suzanne Rossi, Oakland University made a presentation about the Nonprofit 
Management Ce1tificate Program. Several program paiticipants were a pai1 of the presentation. It was 
noted that Council President Williams is a graduate of the program. 

No Recognition of Elected Officials 

No Agenda Addresses 

18-431 Request to schedule a public hearing for Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) Program Year 2019 for December 4, 2018. Moved by Councilperson Waterman and second 
by Councilperson Woodward. 

During the discussion on the resolution, Council President Williams requested that the RFP for Senior 
Yard Services be prepared prior to the December 4, 2018 CDBG Public Hearing. 

Resolved that the Pontiac City Council schedules a public hearing on the Community Development Block 
Grant Application for Program Year 2019 on December 4, 2018 and instruct the clerk to have the public 
notice published in the newspaper on or before November 16, 2018. 

Ayes: Waterman, Williams, Woodward, Carter, Miller, Pietila and Taylor-Burks 
No:None 
Motion Ca!'l'ied. 

18-432 Request to schedule a public hearing for December 18, 2018 to amend the Tax 
Increment Finance Authority (TIFA) district boundaries by removing parcel #14-34-201-012 from 
the district. Moved by Councilperson Woodward and second by Councilperson Pietila. 

Whereas, The City of Pontiac has received a request to establish a brownfield district within the existing 
TIF A district; and, 
Whereas, in order for the brownfield district to be established, the parcel must either be removed from the 
TIF A district or the district must be removed from the TIF A development plan; and, 
Whereas, because the current parcel's taxable value is significantly below the base value of the parcel, 
removal from the TIF A district is most desirable; and, 
Therefore, Be It Resolved that the Pontiac City Council shall hold a public hearing during its regular 
scheduled City Council meeting at 6:00 p.m. on Tuesday, December 18, 2018 in Pontiac City Hall, City 
Council Chambers, 47450 Woodward Ave., for the purpose ofreceiving public comment on the proposal 
to amend the Tax Increment Finance Authority for parcel# 14-34-201-012. 

Ayes: Williams, Woodward, Carter, Pietila and Taylor-Burks 
No: Miller and Waterman 
Resolution Passed. 

18-433 Resolution for Shiloh Baptist Church 42nd Anniversary Celebration. Moved by 
Councilperson Woodward and second by Councilperson Waterman. 

2 



November 13, 2018 

Whereas, It is warm and sincere gratitude that we graciously recognize Shiloh Baptist Church for 42 
years of illustrious spiritual guidance which has been bestowed upon metropolitan Pontiac and beyond; 
and, 

Whereas, on August 23, 1976, the first organizational meeting was held in Pontiac, Michigan at 32 
Miller St., the home of Pastor Edward Williams Sr. and Mrs. Ora Williams, was later formed under 
the name, Baptist Mission in 1977 and as a consequence of the Southern Baptist convention, was 
renamed and became known as Shiloh Baptist Church; and, 

Whereas, Shiloh Baptist Church held its initial services from 1976 through 1980 at Debs Hall located 
at 197 S. Johnson St, during which time Rev. Arthur Jackson united with Shiloh Baptist Church as 
Assistant Pastor (1978) and from September 1980 through July 1981, services were held at Frost 
Elementary School; and, 

Whereas, Shiloh Baptist Church purchased the building located at 426 N. Paddock in Pontiac, 
Michigan in July 1981, acquired the property on University Dr. in 1986, held the ground breaking 
ceremony for the Educational Building in June of 1989 and celebrated its first Easter Sunrise Service 
at the Educational Building on April 15, 1990; and, 

Whereas, Shiloh Baptist Church elected Pastor David E Washington Sr. in July 2004 and on May 
20, 2007 the ground breaking ceremony was held for the construction of the new sanctuary which 
was completed March 9, 2008; and, 

Whereas, Pastor David E. Washington Sr. retired from Shiloh Baptist Church in 2014 and his 
successor, Rev. Maurice Flaniken was then elected Pastor and served until 2017; and, 

Whereas, Shiloh Baptist Church on Saturday August 18, 2018 selected Rev. Coley Gracey, a Pontiac 
native, to serve as Pastor Elect; and, 

Whereas, Rev. Coley M. Gracey was born to the late Michael Lee Gracey and Judith Harris Gracey, is 
mal'l'ied to Jay la Davis, and together the couple has two children, Caley Mishael and Jania Drew; and 

Whereas, Rev. Coley Gracey was called to the ministry at an early age, he served as a children and 
youth usher, sang and directed in the children and youth choirs and was a faithful member of all 
youth activities under the leadership of Dr. Robert E. Bailey at Trinity Missionary Baptist Church; 
and, 

Whereas, Rev. Coley M. Gracey is a graduate of Rochester College, has a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Leadership with a concentration in Management and is currently in a Masters of Divinity 
program at Morehouse School of Theology at the Interdenominational Theological Center in Atlanta, 
Georgia; and, 

Whereas, Rev. Coley M. Gracey's mission is to spread the love of Christ, in hopes that those 
impacted will be transformed and redeemed; and, 

Therefore Be It Resolved, that Shiloh Baptist Church has been resilient, even when faced with 
overwhelming challenges, the pastors have prevailed in their quest to hold high the banner of Christ 
who said, "upon this rock I build my church and the gates of hell shall not prevail against it." 

3 



November 13, 2018 

Now, Therefore Be It Resolved, that we the members of the Pontiac City Council and on behalf of 
the Citizens of Pontiac, hereby acknowledge and salute Shiloh Baptist Church for their service and 
commitment of 42 years of service in the community. 

Ayes: Woodward, Carter, Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Bmks, Waterman and Williams 
No: None 
Resolution Passed. 

18-434 Resolution to change time of the November 20, 2018 Council Meeting. Moved by 
Councilperson Waterman and second by Councilperson Taylor-Burks. 

Whereas, the next Pontiac City Council meeting is a Study Session and is scheduled for Tuesday, 
November 20, 2018 at 6:00 p.m.; and, 
Whereas, Council believes it is in the City's best interest to change the time of the next meeting from 
6:00 p.m. to noon, on Tuesday, November 20, 2018 in observance of the Thanksgiving Holiday. 
Now, Therefore, Be It resolved, that the next Pontiac City Council meeting will be at noon on 
Tuesday, November 20, 2018. 

Ayes: Ca1ter, Miller, Pietila, Taylor-Burks, Waterman, Williams and Woodward 
No:None 
Resolution Passed. 

Councilwoman Patrice Waterman asked to be excused at 6:30 p.m. 

Seven (7) individuals addressed the body during public comment. 

Deputy Mayor or Departmental Head Reports 
Mayor Deirdre Waterman Reported 

Council President Williams requested that the DPW Director John Balint appear at the next Council 
Meeting to discuss street sweeping. He requested that the special presentation be entitled 
Leaves/Basement. 

Mayor Deirdre Waterman, Councilwoman Gloria Miller, Councilwoman Mary Pietila, Councilwoman 
Doris Taylor-Burks, Councilman Don Woodward, Pro-Tem Randy Caiter and President Kermit Williams 
made closing comments. Interim Clerk Garland Doyle had no closing comments. 

Council President Kermit Williams adjourned the meeting at 7:54 p.m. 

4 

GARLAND S. DOYLE 
INTERIM CITY CLERK 



AGENDA 
ITEM 

4 



ro: 

rnoM: Vern Gw,t.afs5on ~~ Planning M0nagf:r 

SUBJECT: 

DATE: 

Through the Office fff Deputy i'Vl:Jyor-Jani:: B.:1is-DiSessa 

City Council Approval - Small Wine I\J13km's license 

Exferimentation Brewing Company 
7 North Saginaw I Pontiac, Michigan 

November 15, 2018 

The owners of Exfcrimentation Grewing Company has submitt(;d an application [Request No. RQ-1807-:10136] h) th1'.: 
Michigan Liquor Control Commission [MLCC] to add a Small Wine Maker's license to their current Micro-Brewery license 
at J North Saginaw, which was approved by City Council in December 2015. As part of this application, the MLCC 
requires City Council to approve the Small Wine Maker's License [see attached request]. 

Following review of the City of Pontiac records, we can verify that the above referenced property is located in the City of 
Pontiac and is currently zoned C-2 Downtown and is subject to the use restrictions applicable to this zoning district in the 

Zoning Ordinance. 

<:omply with current zoning requirements. The existing Micro Brewery is planning to rnake wine, while continuing to 
prod1JC,i beer. The existing and planned uses are a permitted use by right within th,i C-2 Downtown zoning district. 
\/\line making is in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Zoning Ordinance) Including: 

" Area, width, and depth of the land as a building site; 

o floor space area; 
o Setback from prope,ty line of the land; 
o Heigh! of the building, and; 
o Number of parking spaces. 

Mo applications pending, From the date of this letter, no application for rezoning of the properly is now pending. No 

challenge to the zoning of the site is pending. 

Permitting and licensing. 1\ny interior/e:,terior building impmvement plans should be submitted to Pontiac's 
Department of Building Safety for review, permits and inspections. Once the Small Wine Maker's License is approwd by 
the MLCC the license should be submitted to the City of Pontiac. 

Recommendation. We suggest the City Council consider apprnving to add a Small Wine Maker's License to the ctirrent 
Micro~Brewery License at Exferimentation Brewing Company located at 7 North Saginaw1 Pontiac, Michiga11, 

City Council Motion. A motion to approve the addition of a Small Wine Maker's license {MLCC Request Mo. RQ·-1807 .. 
10136] to the existing Micrn-B1·0wing license, Exferimeni:ai:ion Brewing Cornpany at 7 North Saginaw1 Pontiac, 

Michigan. 



Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs 
Liquor Control Commission (MLCC) 

Toll Free: 866-813-0011 • www.michigan.gov/lcc 

Local Government Approval 
(Authorized by MCL 436.1501) 

Business ID: 
-------

Request ID: 
-------

(For MLCC use only) 

• You must obtain a recommendation from the local legislative body for a new on-premises license application, certain types of license 
classification transfers, and/or a new banquet facility permit. 

Instructions for Local Legislative Body: 

• Complete this resolution or provide a resolution, along with certification from the clerk or adopted minutes from the meeting at 
which this request was considered. 

Ata meeting of the council/board 
---------------------

(regular or special) 

called to order by 
------------------

the following resolution was offered: 

on 
(township, city, village) 

--------
(date) 

Moved by and supported by 

at 
---------

(time} 

--------------------- ---------------
that the application from 

--------------------------------------
(name of applicant-if a corporation or lfmited liability company, please state the company name)· 

for the following license(s): Micro Brewer, Small Wine Maker 

to be located at: 7 N Saginaw St, Pontiac, Ml 48342 

and the following permit, if applied for: 

D Banquet Facility Permit Address of Banquet Facility: 

(fist specific licenses requested) 

It is the consensus of this body that it this application be considered for 
-------------------

(recommends/does not recommend) 

approval by the Michigan Liquor Control Commission. 

If disapproved, the reasons for disapproval are 

Vote 

Yeas: 
----

Nays: 
----

Absent: 
----

1 hereby certify that the foregoing is true and is a complete copy of the resolution offered and adopted by the 

council/board at a meeting held on 
----------

(regular or special) (date) 

Print Name of Clerk Signature of Clerk 

(township, city, village) 

Date 

Under Article IV, Section 40, of the Constitution of Michigan (1963), the Commission shall exercise complete control of the alcoholic beverage traffic 
within this state, Including the retail sales thereof, subject to statutory limitations. Further, the Commission shall have the sole right, power, and duty to 
control the alcoholic beverage traffic and traffic in other alcoholic liquor within this state, Including the !!censure of businesses and individuals. 

tCC-106(10115) 

Please return this completed form along with any corresponding documents to: 
Michigan Liquor Control Commission 

Mailing address: P.O. Box 30005, Lansing, Ml 48909 
Hand deliveries or overnight packages: Constitution Hall - 525 W. Allegan, Lansing, Ml 48933 

Fax to: 517-763-0059 
LARA ls an equal opportunity emp!oyer/piogram.Auxlllaiy akh, seMces and other reasonable accommodations a1e avallab!e \Jpon req\Jest !o fndMdua!s with dtsabilltles, 



AGENDA 
ITEM 

5 



MEMORANDUM 

To: 

From: 

Through: 

Meeting: 

Regarding: 

Honorable City Council 

Rachel Loughrin 
Economic Development Director 

Jane Bais-DiSessa 
Deputy Mayor 

November 8, 2018 

Request for Brownfield Plan Approval and the approval of two concurring resolutions 
140 South Saginaw Street (Former IRS Building)-Parcel Number 64-14-32-235-001 
Mixed-Use Development 

140 South Saginaw Pattners, LLC respectfully requests the approval of a brownfield plan for the remediation 
and renovation of a property located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac. The property is part of the interior 
of the Woodward Loop and is comprised of 1.3 acres. It is a predominant architectural feature in the 
downtown, has been vacant for 10 years and is tax reverted, meaning, it cunently does not produce any tax 
dollars for the City of Pontiac. 

The historic record shows that the property originally consisted of multiple parcels and that the notthern and 
eastern areas were used for gasoline and service station purposes from the mid-1920's to the 1950's. In 1972 
the multiple parcels were combined and the seven-story 145,000 square foot building was constrncted. 

The cun-ent very poor condition of the property is an impediment to its redevelopment. The property is 
contaminated at concentrations exceeding the MDEQ Generic Residential Clean-up Criteria which qualifies it 
for 'facility' status. This means that this brownfield request for foe remediation of this property falls within the 
requirements of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, PA 381 of 1996. Exceeding the GRCC 
requirements means that the site is contaminated and requires the mitigation of numerous environmental 
conditions such as petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination, asbestos containing materials, lead-

. based paint, several types of hazardous mold, and electrical equipment that may contain polychlorinated 
biphenyl (PCB's). 

The proposed renovations will include not only the mitigation of the environmental concerns within the 
building, but also those that affect the parcel itself. The building and improvements will be used to encapsulate 
the known existing petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination and act as engineering controls to 
prevent contact with the soil, soil vapor and groundwater contamination. Appropriate environmental measures 
will be implemented to prevent exposure of hazardous materials to human health, safety and the environment. 
The developer is in the process of undertaking additional Due Care Phase II Environmental Site Assessment 
activities to assess soil, groundwater and vapor phase contamination as part of the redevelopment process. 



The estimated amount of investment for environmental due diligence, soil mitigation and infrastructure 
improvements, site remediation/engineering controls, site development, building renovation, and addition of 
fixtures will exceed $16,047,100.00. This large amount of capital investment will be necessary to completely 
renovate the seven-story commercial building, provide maintenance for the adjacent parking lot, and provide 
continuous and on-going maintenance for the engineering controls. In addition, vhiually all interior mechanical 
components of the building will need to be replaced. 

In light of the recently approved settlement of the Ottawa Towers Phoenix Center lawsuit, the clean-up and 
renovation of this building will not only help add value to the area that surrounds the Phoenix Center but will 
also provide revenue to the city in the fo1m of paid parking for the 400 jobs that will be created or moved into 
the city as an element of this mixed-use/office development. 

These permeant jobs will have a typical annual salary of $62,400.0,0 creating a new project related payroll of 
$24,960,000 that will be taxed by the city at a rate of either .05 percent or 1 percent, depending on the residency 
status of the employee. In addition, this project will create 90 temporary construction jobs for a total project 
related temporary payroll of$13,384,800.00. This amount will also be taxed at the city's income tax rate as 
appropriate. 

This brownfield request is for an estimated total of 18 years and will collect $16,047,100. Following the 
completion of the project, the tax revenue will increase from zero to $245,081 per year. 

The Administration recommends the approval of this request as it will rid the city of another contaminated and 
blighted property, will provide 400 new tax paying jobs and will help to provide parking revenue for the 
Phoenix Center garage. 



Proposed Mixed-use Office Development 
Brownfield Plan 

For the 

Southwest Corner of W. Judson Street and S. Saginaw Street 
140 S. Saginaw Street 

Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan 48342 

f OAKlAND~ .; 
~ 0 U N r 'f M ICII I ~N 

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 

Pre ared for 

140 South Saginaw Pa1tners, LLC 
c/o Walbridge 
777 Woodward Avenue, Suite 300 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
Attn: Mr. Adorno Piccinini, Asst. V.P./Associate 
Broker, Real Estate Development/ Asset 
Management 
T (313) 442-1298 
F (313) 234-0614 
M (313) 466-9117 
E apiccinini@walbridge.com 
W www.walbrid•e.com 

Pre ared B 

Mr. Nicholas G. Maloof, RPG 
President and General Counsel 
Associated Environmental Services, LLC 
600 I North Adams Road, Suite 205 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 
T (248) 203-9898 
F (248) 647-0526 
M (248) 250-2525 
E ngm@associatcdenvironmental.net 
W www.associatedenvironmental.net 

Plan Preparation Date: April 20, 2018 (Revised on June 6, 2018 per Authority Approval 011 May 7, 20/8) 

Approved by the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority on: May 7, 2018, Final August 2 1, 2018 

Approved by the County Commission on: 



Environmental Services 

Land Development 

Real Estate Consulting 

6001 North Adams Road, Suite 205 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 

June 6, 20 18 

Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
2100 Pontiac Lake Road 
Building 41 W 
Waterford, MT 48328 
Attn: Mr. Brad Hansen 

Associated Environmental Services, LLC Project No.2017011601.01 

RE: Proposed Mixed-use Office Development Brownfield Plan for the property located at the southwest corner of W. 
Judson Street and S. Saginaw Street. Commonly known as 140 S. Saginaw Street in Pontiac, Oakland County, 
Michigan 48342 

Dear Mr. Hansen: 

Pursuant to the revisions and clarifications requested by the OCBRA Board when approving this Plan on May 7, 20 18, 
enclosed is the revised and updated Brownfield Plan for the above referenced redevelopment. Note that, as requested by 
OCBRA, this version of the Brownfield Plan: (1) does not include the Simple Interest calculation included in the 
original version; mul (2) includes a flat $5,000.00 m1111,al Administrative Fee. The property is tax rever1ed and have 
been unoccupied for an estimated ten years or more. The property has been identified as containing soil contamination 
exceeding the MDEQ Generic Residential Criteria (GRCC) and therefore qualifies a "facility" in accordance with Part 20 I 
of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended. Therefore, this 
Brownfield Plan is based on a "facility" status determination. 

As we discussed, please review the attached Brownfield Plan, Tables and Attachments and provide your feedback regarding 
the proposed project and capture of Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) to reimburse both the Oakland County Local Site 
Remediation Revolving Fund (LBRF) and 140 South Saginaw Partners, LLC for eligible activities. The Plan incorporates: 
(I) the estimated cost and expenses of the eligible activities; (2) the estimated value of new construction investment into 
the City of Pontiac; and (3) the estimated capture of Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) from the both Local and State taxing 
jurisdictions, 

The intent oftbfa Brownfield Plan is to present the proposed project, outline the substantial new investment in the City of 
Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan and describe the eligible activities on behalf of the developer, 140 South Saginaw 
Partners, LLC, which has the property under contract via a Purchase Agreement with Oakland County. 

Should you have any questions or comments, please contact the undersigned at (248) 203-9898. 

Sincerely, 
ASSOCIATED ENVIRONMENTAL SERVlCES, LLC 

Nicholas G. Maloof, RPG 
Project Manager 

NGM/bd 

Tel: 248-203-9898 / Fax: 248-647-0526 
email: associatedenv@comcast.net 
web: \w,w.associatedenvironmenlal.net 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. TNTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE .... ................................ .. ........ ............. .......... .... .... .. ..... I 

IL GENERAL DEFINITIONS AS USED IN THIS PLAN .... ..... .... ....................................... .. 2 

Ill. DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT ............. .......... .... ...................... ............. ......... .......... ... ......... 2 

IV. THE PROPERTY ADDRESSED IN TI-TIS PLAN IS ELIGIBLE PROPERTY ..... .......... .. 7 

V. BROWNFIELD PLAN REQUIREMENTS OF M.C.L. § 125.2663(1) ..... .... .... ................ 11 
A. Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax Increment Revenues ................. .... .... .. . 11 

B. Brief Summary of the Eligible Activities ..... ..... .............. .......... ............ .............. .... .. ... 14 

C. Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues ..... ..... .... .............. 15 

D. Method of Financing and Description of Advances by the Municipality .. ................... 15 

E. Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness .................. ... .......... ...... .......... .... 16 

F. Duration of Brownfield Plan ................ .... .. ................. .. ........... .. .. .... ............... .... ....... ... 16 

G. Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing Jurisdictions. 17 

H. Legal Description, Property Map and Personal Property .................... ........................ . 17 

I. Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Families ......................... ..................... ... 17 

J. Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons .... .............................. ..... ...... ........................ 17 

K. Provisions for Relocation Costs .......... ................ .. ........ ..... ........................................... 17 

L. Strategy for Compliance with Michigan's Relocation Assistance Law ............ ........... 18 

M. Description of Proposed Use of Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund .................. 18 

N. Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent.. ............... 18 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A 
Attachment B 
Attachment C 
Attachment D 

Legal Description of Eligible Property 
Site Plan/General Concept Plan 
Estimated Eligible Activities and Tax Increment Revenues 
Executive Summary of Phase l ESA Report and Phase Tl ESA 
Report Data Tables with BEA Description of Site Conditions and 
Determination of"facility" Status 

Page i ofi 



PROJECT SUMMARY* 

Project Name: Proposed 140 S. Saginaw Street project being 
developed by 140 South Saginaw Partners, LLC 
("Developer") c/o Walbridge LLC 

Estimated Eligible Developer Reimbursable Costs: $3,064,660.00 

Estimated Years to Complete LBRF/Developer Principal Payback: 15 Years 

Estimated Years to Complete LBRF/Devcloper Interest Payback: 0 Years1 

Estimated Years to Complete LBRF Capture: 1 Partial and 3 Full Years 

Estimated Total Years to Complete All Capture: 18 Years 

Estimated Investment (Construction Costs plus Eligible Activities) by Developer: 
$16,047,100.00 

Annual Tax Revenue Before Project: Taxes - Local and School Tax ID# 64- 14-32-235-001 

Estimated 2018 Tax $245,081 
Estimated Current Tax Revenue $0.00 
Estimated Tax Revenue Increase $245,081 

Estimated Total Annual Local Tax Revenue Eligible for Capture After Project: $211,141.00 in 
Year 1 (the I" year of Ii.illy completed project. Sec Table 3 
of the TIR Tables in Appendix C for a complete breakdown 
between the districts) 

Estimated TIR Capture for Developer Principal: 
Estimated Developer Interest Capture: 
Estimated BRA Administrative Capture: 
Estimated State BRF Capture: 
Estimated Capture for BRA LBRF: 

Estimated Total TIR Capture: 

1 Interest is not being supported by OCBRA or City of Pontiac 

$3,064,660.00 
$ 0.001 

$ 90,000.00 
$ 229,184.00 
$ 869,476.00 

$4,253,319.00* 

* Due to the calculation decimal point rounding operations of the TIR Tables, the totals of some estimated values may not 
match exactly 

Page i ofi 



Project Overview 

The property is located at 140 South Saginaw Street (the "Property"), which is part of the interior of the 
Woodward Loop thoroughfare, the area that makes up the downtown district of the City of Pontiac. The 
Property is comprised of one legal parcel that is approximately 1.3 acres in size and its predominant 
architectural feature is a tax reverted and unoccupied seven-story building formerly used for commercial 
purposes. The Property is a prominent feature and southern gateway into downtown Pontiac. 

The proposed project being developed by 140 South Saginaw Partners, LLC (the "Developer") would 
completely transform the Property by mitigating known environmental issues, rehabilitating 
infrastructural elements, and completing renovating the seven-story commercial building into a state-of
the-art mixed-use office development (the "Project"). Once completed, the proposed Project would 
return one of Pontiac's key architectural assets to the tax rolls, create jobs and activate a largely vacant 
part of downtown Pontiac serving as a catalyst for additional development. These goals also are 
supported by "Congress for New Urbanism (CNU) - Legacy Charrette "Vision for Revitalized and 
Transit Ready Downtown Pontiac" Published Spring 2016 ("CNU Report"), as that report specifical(y 
includes the Property in District 4, the southern gateway to downtown Pontiac. 

The proposed Project would requires mitigation of numerous environmental conditions on the Property, 
including: petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination, asbestos containing materials, lead
based paint, several types of hazardous mold, and electrical equipment that may contain polychlorinated 
biphenyl (PCBs). 

The historic record shows that the Property initially consisted of multiple parcels, and that the northern 
and eastern areas were used for gasoline and service station purposes from the mid- I 920s through the 
1950s. The scope of the environmental impact due to this past use is not clear-more investigation will 
be necessary to determine the full scope of impact. In 1972, the multiple parcels were combined, and 
the seven-story 145,000 square foot building currently on the Property was constructed. The Property 
has been vacant for over a decade and is currently tax reverted property owned by Oakland County. 

A Phase I ESA conducted in accordance with ASTM El527- l3 and All Appropriate Inquiry (AAI) 
requirements was conducted by Atwell, LLC on behalf of the Developer. As prospective owner of the 
Property, the Developer intended to explore the possibility of redeveloping the Property for mixed-use. 
Atwell 's Phase I ESA identified several previous environmental assessments filings with the both the 
applicable state (MDEQ) and federal (EPA) environmental agencies. 

The MDEQ records showed two past Baseline Environmental Assessments (BEAs): Filed by LFR 
Levine Frank (LFR) dated November 11, 2005 and McDowell and Associates (McDowell) dated April 
22, 2008. Also, the Property held an EPA RCRA Non-Generator Facility classification between 1991-
2005. 

Taken together, these records indicate that: (I) USTs were historically present on the Property; (2) 
historic uses of the Property warranted subsurface investigation (which revealed soil/groundwater 
contamination; further testing was recommended); and (3) the Property was a listed RCRA Facility 
between 1991 and 2005. 

Page i ofiv 



In addition, a Phase JI ESA Subsurface Investigation conducted by Hillman Environmental Group dated 
October 6, 2004 indicates that the subsurface soil and groundwater at the Property are impacted by 
elevated concentrations of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) and metals exceeding the MDEQ 
Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) and therefore the site qualifies as a "facility" under Part 
20 I of the NREPA, P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended. 

Developer has undertaken, and is in the process of undertaking, Additional Due Care Phase II 
Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) activities to assess soil, groundwater and vapor phase 
contamination as part of the redevelopment process. 

The Property also would qualify as "functionally obsolete1" as well as "blighted2" under the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Financing Act. P.A. 381 of 1996, as amended, due to the generally poor condition of the 
Property, aspects of the infrastructure, as well as mechanical aspects of the building itself, as stated in a 
Property Condition Assessment Report prepared for the Developer by Atwell, LLC under date of 
November 30, 2015. 

The Project will serve to revitalize the City of Pontiac's downtown district by reducing vacancy in the 
heart of the City. The seven-story commercial building on the Property is a key architectural feature of 
Pontiac's downtown district and is generally one of the first images visitors see as they approach Pontiac 
via northbound Woodward Avenue. The project will also significantly increase the tax base of the City 
of Pontiac by placing a blighted and vacant piece of prime real estate back on the tax rolls, as well as 
providing employment opportunities for many of the local residents. 

The eligible activities described in this Brownfield Plan are related to the specific activities necessary to 
complete the proposed re-development. The Developer is seeking reimbursement through Tax 
Increment Financing (TJF) for specific Brownfield activities that pose a substantial impediment to the 
redevelopment of the Property and the development of the Project. 

The Project will involve a complete renovation of the seven-story commercial building. In addition, the 
building and improvements will be used to encapsulate the known existing petroleum hydrocarbon and 
heavy metal contamination and act as engineering controls to prevent contact with the soil, soil vapor 

1 Under MCLA § 125.2652(s) ' Functionally obsolete· means, 'Uiat the property is unable to be used to adequately perform the function for which it was intended due to a 
substantial loss in value resulting from factors such as overcapacity, changes in technology, deficiencies or superadequacies in design, or other similar factors that affect 
the property itself or the property's relationship with other surrounding property.' 

2 Under MCLA §125.2652(c) 'Blighted' means property that meets any of the following e<iteria as determined by the governing body: 
(i) Has been declared a public nuisance in accordance with a local housing, building, plumbing, fire, or other related code or ordinance. 
(ii) Is an attractive nuisance to children because of physical condition, use, or occupancy. 
(iii) Is a fire hazard or is otherwise dangerous to the safety of persons or property. 
(iv) Has had the utilities, plumbing, heaUng, or sewe,age pe,manenlly disconnecled, destroyed, ,emoved, or rendered ineffective so Iha/ the property is unlit 
for its in/ended use. 
(v) Is lax revelled properly owned by a qualified local governmental uni/, by a county, or by (his stale. The sale, lease, or transfer of lax revelled properly by a 
qualified local governmental unit, county, or this stale afler the property's inclusion in a brownfield plan shall not result in /he loss lo Iha properly of the status 
as blighted p1ope,ty fo, purposes of /his act. 
(vi) Is property owned by or under the control of a land bank fast track auU1ority, whether or not located within a qualified local governmental unit Property 
included within a brownfield plan prior to the date it meets the requirements of this subdivision to be eligible property shall be considered to become eligible 
property as or tho dale the property is determined to have been or becomes qualified as, or is combined with, other eligible property. The sale, lease, or 
transfer of the property by a land bank fast track authority after the property's indusion in a brownfield plan shall not result in the loss to the property of the 
status as blighted property for purposes of this act 
(vii) Has substantial buried subsurface demolition debris present so that the property is unfit for its intended use. 

Page ii ofiv 



and groundwater contamination. Appropriate environmental measures wi ll be implemented to prevent 
exposure of hazardous materials to human health, safety, and the enviromnent. 

The renovation activities will be undertaken after completion of the necessary soi l mitigation activi ties, 
infrastructure improvements and site preparation activities. 

Estimated Amount of Investment 

The Developer estimate that total investment for the environmental due diligence, soi l mitigation 
infrastructure improvements, site remediation/engineering controls, site development, building 
renovation, and addition of fixtures will exceed $16,047, 100.00 compri sed of a minimum of 
$ 12,982,500.00 of Construction Costs plus an estimated $3,064,600.00 of Eligible Activities. This 
capital investment will be necessary to completely renovate the Property's seven-story commercial 
building, provide maintenance for the adjacent parking lot, and provide continuous and on-going 
maintenance for the engineering controls, as necessary. 

The interior of the building is in such a state of disrepair that a total renovation will be necessary to make 
the Property suitable for use. According to a Property Condition Assessment prepared by Atwell , 
virtually all interior mechanical components of the building will need to be replaced. 

Full-time Jobs 

According to Developer, the proposed redevelopment will create up to an estimated 400 new Full Time 
Equivalent (FTE) jobs within the City of Pontiac described as follows: 

Phase of Job Typical Typical Typical Number of Total Annual Duration Total Project 
Operation Classification Hourly Hours Annual Direct Payroll Related of Jobs Related Payroll 

Rate Worked Salary .lobs to Project Created by (salary/wages 
(Weekly) Related to Project only) 

Project 
(Average 
11cr year) 

Project Office workers, $30.00 40 $62,400.00 400 $24,960,000.00 Permanent $24,960,000.00 
Completion building 

management, 
grounds 
keeping, 
sccmity and 
other jobs 

New 400 $24,960,000.00 $24,960,000.00 

Total Estimated Jobs and Pt"Oject Payroll 400 $24,960,000.00 $24,960,000.00 
(Annually) 

Page iii ofiv 



The proposed job creation will benefit the City of Pontiac as the cmrent reported U3 unemployment rate 
for Pontiac is 8.1 % as of September 2017 compared to 4.7% for Michigan overall, 5.1 % for the 
Detroit/Dearborn/Livonia SMSA and 4.1 % nationally as of January 2018. 

Construction Related Jobs 

According to the General Contractor for Developer, in addition to the full-time jobs created by the 
project, the proposed redevelopment will create up to 90 FTE construction jobs within the City of Pontiac 
comprised as follows: 

Phase of Job Typical Typical Typical Number Total Duration of Total Project 
Construction Classiticalion Hourly flours Annual of Jobs AnnuRlizcd ,Jobs in Years Related Payroll 

Rate Worked S11lary llchitcd Payroll Related Created by (salary/wages & 
(Wccl<ly) to Project to Project Project (in benefits only) 

(Average years based 
per year) on# months 

construction) 
Site Construction $55.00 40 $114,400.00 90 $10,296,000.00 1.3 $ l 3,384,800.00 
Preparation Tradesmen and 

al1il iatcd 
& Vertical workers 
Construction 
Construction 90 $ l 0,296,000.00 1.3 $13,384,800.00 
Phase Total 

Brownfield Incentives 

This Plan has been prepared to provide for Tax Increment Financing, from Local and State School Tax 
Capture, for reimbursement of eligible activities necessary to redevelop the Property. This Plan also 
incorporates collection of TIR by the Oakland County Local Remediation Revolving Fund (LBRF) after 
repayment to Developer for the eligible activities. The eligible activities including but not limited to 
Phase I ESA, Phase II ESA, BEA, 7a Due Care Plan, Additional Due Care Phase II ESA activities, 
remediation and engineering controls, Post-development 7a Due Care Plan, Brownfield and Act 38 l 
Work Plan preparation and development related Hazardous Materials (Asbestos, Lead Paint, Mold, 
PCBs, etc.) Abatement, Demolition, Site Preparation and Jnfrastruct11re. The Developer will advance 
the entire cost of the eligible activities being performed on the Property under this Plan. All TJR 
generated by the Property through the Plan will be used to (I) reimburse Developer for all eligible 
activities, (2) pay up to 10% of the TIR toward BRA Management Fees and up to five (5) years of Local 
Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF) TIR Capture. Developer reserves the right to apply for additional 
incentives including Oakland County and MDEQ Grants & Loans, Oakland County PACE, Community 
Revitalization Program (CRP) grants & loans and other programs/ sources that may lessen the total TIR 
required to be captured. 

Page iv ofiv 



I. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 

Oakland County, Michigan has established a Brownfield Redevelopment Authority pursuant to 
the provisions of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, M.C.L. § 125.2651 el seq. Based 
upon a referral from the City of Pontiac to the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority (hereinafter the "Authority"), this Brownfield Plan ("Plan") applies to the proposed 
Mixed-use Office Redevelopment Project within the boundaries of the City of Pontiac, Oakland 
County, Michigan (the "Project"). The proposed Project is being developed by 140 South Saginaw 
Partners, LLC ("Developer"), c/o Walbridge, LLC; Attn: Mr. Adorno Piccinini. 

The Property is located at 140 South Saginaw Street in Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan 48342 
and is generally located west of S. Saginaw Street, north of Whittemore Street, east of Woodward 
A venue, and South of W. Judson Street ("Properly"). The Property is comprised of one tax parcel 
identified as Tax Parcel No.: 63- 14-32-235-00 I. 

Historic records show that the northern and eastern portions of the Property were used for gasoline 
and automotive service station purposes between the mid- l 920s through the 1950s. The parcels 
comprising the Property were combined in 1972, at which point a seven-story commercial building 
was constructed. The Property has been vacant and unoccupied for over a decade as of early-2018 
and is currently tax reverted and owned by Oakland County. Developer has entered into a Real 
Estate Purchase Agreement and a Development Agreement with Oakland County to acquire and 
redevelop the Property. 

As part of the redevelopment process, the Developer conducted preliminary environmental due 
diligence activities comprised of a Phase T Environmental Site Assessment (ESA), Asbestos, Lead 
Based Paint and Mold Assessment and Property Condition Assessment (PCA). 

Based on the results, the Property is contaminated at concentrations exceeding the MDEQ Generic 
Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC). In addition, two prior BEAs were filed with the MDEQ: 
McDowell and Associates (dated April 22, 2008) and LFR Levine Frank (dated November J l , 
2005). 

The parcel information obtained from Oakland County Records is outlined below: 

Parcel Address Parcel Number Facili er Part 201? 
140 S. Sa inaw 64- 14-32-235-00 I Yes 

Please see Attachment A for Legal Description information and Attachment B for Location Maps 
and Aerial Site Plan/General Concept Plans. 

As the parcel qualifies as a "facility", the entire development is eligible for Tax Increment 
Financing (TJF) reimbursement of eligible activities as a "Brownfield" under P.A. 381 of 1996, as 
amended. See MCLA 125.2663( 13)(1) Brownfield plan; provisions. 

It is anticipated that 2018 will be the base year of the Brownfield Plan with tax increment revenue 
("TIR") capture expected to commence in 2019. However, Developer reserves the right to delay 
capture as allowed under P.A. 381 of 1996, as amended. 

Page I of 18 



The purpose of this Plan, to be implemented by the Authority, is to satisfy the requirements for a 
Brownfield Plan as specified in the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, P.A. 381 of 1996, 
as amended, to authorize tax increment financing ("TJF") of eligible activities and the collection 
of tax increment revenue ("TTR"), and to authorize the application for Michigan Community 
Revitalization Program ("CRP") incentive and other available incentives for eligible properties, if 
available, at the option of Developer. 

II. GENERAL DEFINITIONS AS USED IN THIS PLAN 

All terms used in this Brownfield Plan are defined as provided in the following statutes, as 
appropriate: 

• The Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, 1996 Mich. Pub. Acts 381, M.C.L. 
§ 125.2651 el seq., as amended. 

• The Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 1994 Mich. Pub. Acts 451, 
M.C.L. § 324.20 IO I et seq., as amended. 

Ill. DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT 

The property is located at 140 South Saginaw Street (the "Property"), which is part of the interior 
of the Woodward Loop thoroughfare- the area that makes up the downtown district of the City of 
Pontiac. The Property is comprised of one legal parcel that is approximately 1.3 acres in size and 
its predominant architectural feature is a tax reverted and unoccupied seven-story building 
formerly used for commercial purposes. The Property is a prominent feat11re and southern gateway 
into downtown Pontiac. 

The current very poor condition of the Property is an impediment to its redevelopment. The 
Property is contaminated at concentrations exceeding the MDEQ GRCC, in addition, the building 
interior and exterior envelope are in very poor condition with severe interior damage due to water 
intrusion, vandalism, the illicit removal of interior mechanical and plumbing systems, asbestos, 
mold and other hazardous materials, making it unusable in its cunent condition. Many of the 
building's metal fixtures have been removed illegally and haphazardly by trespassers. Incentives 
are necessary to equalize the costs of re-developing the Property (versus developing a Greenfield 
site) and "level the playing field" to make redevelopment of the Property feasible. 

The proposed Project being developed by Developer includes the complete renovation of the 
building and building systems as well as the paved parking and landscaped areas. As part of the 
proposed Project, necessary remedial activities will be undertaken by Developer to install 
engineering controls to encapsulate the known existing petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal 
contamination and/or remove contaminated soi ls and groundwater to prevent contact with the soi I, 
soil vapor and/or groundwater contamination to render the site safe for its intended use. 

Facility Status of Property 
Based on the Phase I ESA Report prepared by Atwell, LLC (Atwell) under date of December 4, 
2015, Atwell identified the following: 

Page 2 of 18 



o Information gathered during the site investigation and a review of aerial photographs, fire 
insurance maps, historical address indexes and municipal records, Atwell concluded that 
the subject site has been developed with the current commercial office bui I ding since 1972. 
Prior to 1972, the subject site was developed with multiple structures (including filling 
stations, automobile repair businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at 
least 1888 (as depicted in the Sanborn Maps). 

• Several subsurface investigations (identified below) have been completed by other 
consultants to address the historical filling station operations at the subject site and north 
adjoining property. Review of previous subsurface investigation reports and extensive 
ground penetrating radar (GPR) studies indicates that the historical on-site USTs were 
likely removed as part of site redevelopment activities. 

• During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the opportunity to review 
several previous environmental reports completed for the subject site, including: (1) BEA 
completed by McDowell & Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA 
completed by LFR Levine Fricke (LFR), elated November 11, 2005; Phase n Subsurface 
Investigation report completed by Hillman Environmental Group, LLC (Hillman), dated 
October 6, 2004. RECs identified for the subject site by other consultants include: (I) 
historical gas station and automobile service/repair operations on the northern and eastern 
portions of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (2) historical battery shop, auto 
repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the eastern portion of the property from the 1920s 
through 1950s; (3) a historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 
Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the I 924 Sanborn 
Map; and (4) elevated levels of VOCs and metals identified in soil and groundwater at 
concentrations exceeding applicable criteria following the completion of several 
subsurface investigations. 

• Based on the demonstrated soil and groundwater contamination, the subject site qualifies 
as a "faci I ity" as defined in Part 20 I of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection 
Act (NREPA), 1994. 

According to the Atwell Phase I ESA, the, " ... testing completed during previous subsurface 
investigations did not include a full list of parameters typically associated with automobile 
service/repair stations ... at each soil boring location; thus did not adequately address historical uses 
of the subject site." Additional soil, groundwater and soil vapor investigative activities will be 
required as part of pre-development due diligence activities for the Project to determine the full 
extent of the contamination and determine the specific remedial measmes necessary to render the 
site safe for its intended use. 

Tn addition, appropriate environmental precautions will be implemented to prevent exposure of 
hazardous materials to human health, safety, and the environment during the renovation process. 

A. Community Impact/ Public Benefit 

The public benefit of incentivizing the project include the revitalization of the City of Pontiac's 
downtown district. The proposed project involves a minimum capital investment of 
$16,047,100.00 including construction costs and Eligible Activities and will result in a dramatic 
increase to the City's tax revenue once the project is complete. In addition, a project on the scale 

Page 3 of 18 



of the Developer's proposal will offer employment opportunities for city residents, and likely 
attract new residents, which would boost to the City's housing market. 

The Project will serve to revitalize the City of Pontiac's downtown district by reducing vacancy in 
the heart of the City. The seven-story commercial building on the Properly is a key architectural 
feature of Pontiac's downtown district and is generally one of the first images visitors see as they 
approach Pontiac via 1101thbound Woodward Avenue. The project will also significantly increase 
the tax base of the City of Pontiac by placing a blighted and vacant piece of prime real estate back 
on the tax rolls, as well as providing employment opportunities for many of the local residents. 

The Property is a key architectural piece of the heart City of Pontiac, as well as the gateway of the 
City for northbound Woodward Ave. commuters, and yet has been vacant over a decade. The 
Developer's proposed Project is designed to revitalize the south end of the downtown district of 
the City of Pontiac and contribute to the character by enhancing the community's prestige overall, 
in addition to the multiple tax benefits the project will yield to the City. The proposed project 
places a high-profile, but difficult to develop, property back on the tax rolls, which will provide 
benefits to local residents. 

The proposed project will also contribute to a significant increase in the population density of the 
downtown area. This will be a key factor in both the Developer's ability to attract tenants, as well 
as the City's ability to attract new development. The proposed project, coupled with other 
redevelopment projects currently underway in downtown Pontiac, will not only provide 
revitali zation to the individual properties, but to the downtown area as a whole. 

The proposed redevelopment project will be an integral component in the overall effort to build a 
more vibrant and developed downtown Pontiac- a goal that every resident can get behind. In fact, 
the Property is referenced in the "Congress for New Urbanism (CNU) - Legacy Charrelle "Vision 
for Revitalized and Transit Ready Downtown Pontiac" Published Spring 2016 ("CNU Report"). 

According to the CNU Report, the Property is located in the area designated as "District 4: South 
District" by the CNU study, which describes the area as follows: 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

This District is comprised of two office towers, community buildings and vacant lots, cut
off from Downtown. 
Development Proposals included infill business and residential development, new node 
and improved connections to Saginaw and Transportation Center. 
The recommended development approach: Principally a private venture (private developer 
and private users). 
The area has the potential to be a southern gateway into Downtown . 
A mix of uses would be appropriate, including retail, offices, light industrial and some 
residential. 

Short-term goals are described as: 
• Improve pedestrian connections west to the Transpottation Center and north to Saginaw; 
• Facilitate easy vehicular access from Woodward Avenue into the District; and 
• Create a new node at the intersection of S. Saginaw and Whittemore St. 

Long-term goals are described as: 

Page 4 of 18 



o In conjunction with the reestabli shment of Saginaw and downgrading of the Woodward 
Loop redirect traffic through the South District; and 

o Infill blocks with a mix of uses and building types, and retrofit existing buildings 

The proposed Project fulfill s several of these short and long term goals simultaneously by 
revitalizing one of the two existing office towers in the District, using a private developer with 
both private capital and public funding (Brownfield TlF, etc.), improving the pedestrian 
connections to Saginaw Street and across Woodward Avenue to the west to the existing 
Transportation Center and stimulating demand in the zoned Downtown District. 

Estimated Amount oflnvcstment 

Developer estimates that total investment for environmental due diligence, soil mitigation 
infrastructure improvements, site remediation/engineering controls, site development, and 
building renovations will exceed $16,047,100.00. The total of$16,047,l00.00 is based upon 
Developer' preliminary construction budget, given the projected scope of the project (not including 
land cost). 

As projected by Developer, it is anticipated that the proposed new development will be 
constructed at an estimated cost that will exceed $16,047, I 00.00, comprised of a minimum of 
$12,982,500.00 of Construction Costs plus an estimated $3,064,600.00 of Eligible Activities. 
Allocated on a per square foot basis for the estimated 160,000 square foot building, the cost 
exceeds $97.62 per square foot, not including soft costs and currently unknown additional 
estimated environmental and site preparation costs. The estimated total investment of 
approximately$ I 5,107,316.00 to re-develop the Property will result in an increase in the existing 
assessed and taxable values, as presented in the table below, as calculated by the millage rates 
provided by the Oakland County Equalization Office. 

Parcel Address Parcel Number 2018 Assessed 2018 Taxable 2020 Assessed 2020 Taxable 
Value1 Value1 Value (Developed as Value (Developed as 

Anficipnled) 1 Anticipated) 1 

140 S. Saginaw 63-14-32-235-00 I $0 $0 $12,982,500 $3,894,750 
TOTAi $0 $0 $ 12,982 500 $3,894,750 

1Values provided by fhe Oaldaud Couufy Equalization on January 30, 2018 based on a December 31, 2018 re-valuation aud are subject 
lo further verification. 

Assessed Value: The A$$6ssed Vam Is de!«mined by a r,cpo,ty's mil'ket valJe. The A"8ssed ValJO rep:esents 50%of the Man.et ValJe or TM Cash Valuo. Set by Iha==• Iha Assessed Va.I.Jo v,llen 
mu~ ed by 1..., v.i'I g:va a, "llllfOICimale ma-let valJe of the r,op,,ty. The a......, Is oor,5"Jlion,,;y reqo,ed to .. 1 lhe assessed valJe al 50%of the usual .. r ng poo, or lruo cash value of the r,operty. 
Assessed Valle Is g"'"'ai'f !he....,,. as Sia'.!> Equalzed ValJe unless an equail.alion fact>, has bean appled by the county h "'11ch the f'OP'(tf Is locale<! or !he Sla''9. 

Slate EquaU1ed Value (SEV): SEV Is the assessed valie lhat has been adi,Jsloo lolow.ng ooonty and sta:e equalza'.lln. The Coontf Board ol Coomssloners and the IF.idilJ;ri Sta!a Tax~ must review 
local ass&SMlOOts and adjust (equal.t•) lhen1 ~ !hey il'e :lxm or below the c:oos~lJtional 50% level of aS$&$"1le!ll Slate Equalled V.we Is gene,at, ono haM (112) of the property's True Ca!ll Valle. 

True Cu h Value: The far m.rl.etva\Je or lhe usual sel ng poo, of r,operty. 

Tuable Value: A property's latable vilil Is !he valie used I« dolormining the r,ope,tyoM><(s la> lal,;ity, M.11tip.','.ng !ho Ta,able Vallo by the local rril!ago rate v.il de:em-ine )wr ta, la!lilt/. Ta.xabll Valle 
lnaeasu tom yeN bye" by the ra:. of hfla"..on or5%, v.fll;/)effl Is lo•"'· Transfer, of O'MlE<shi> and mprO",ements lo lhe p-opertyv.i! Increase lhe la>.able value IOO(e lhan Iha rala of n f-'lior, but r.evet mora 
lhan the assessed valJe. T8labil vau, ""'I nol be lhe....,,. as the r,ope,ty's Truo Ca'11 Val.le, Assessed Vwe, « Stale Equalled Valle, bul may not be {Yea!er lhan Iha r,operly'sAssess.d Va\>:J or Sl i!'.o 
Equalled Va'ue. 

Note that in order to be conservative when calculating the estimated Tax Increment Revenue 
(TIR) payback period, AES further revised this value. The estimated 16 year Plan duration 
is based on the estimated investment being $12,982,500.00 and calculating a Taxable Value 
by taking fifty percent (50%) of the estimated investment and using a sixty percent (60%) 
valuation reduction factor to adjust for the Pontiac market. Based on that formula, 
($12,982,500.00/2)*0.6 = $3,894,750.00 was used to calculate the real property taxes using 

Page 5 of 18 



City of Pontiac millage rates obtained from Oakland County Equalization. Based on the 
estimated new Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) and the total value of Eligible Activities, fixed 
BRA Management Fee of $5,000.00 annually and estimated Local Brownfield Revolving 
Fuud (LBRF) capture, 16 years are needed to fully reimburse the Developer and allow 1 
partial and 3 years of LBRF capture. 

Full-time Jobs 

According to Developer, the proposed redevelopment will create up to an estimated 400 new Full 
Time Equivalent (FTE) jobs within the City of Pontiac described as follows: 

Phase of ,Job Typical Typical Typical Number of Total Annual Duration Total Project 
Operation Classification Dourly Hours Annual Direct Payroll Related of Jobs Related Pa}1roll 

Rate Worl<cd Salary ,Jobs to Project Created by (salary/wages 
(Wccl<ly) Related to Project only) 

Project 
(Average 
per year) 

Project Office workers, $30.00 40 $62,400.00 400 $24,960,000.00 Permanent $24,960,000.00 
Completion building 

managcmcntJ 
grounds 
keeping, 
security and 
oth~r jobs 

New 400 $24,960,000.00 $24,960,000.00 

Total Estimated Jobs and Project Payrnll 400 $24,960,000.00 $24,960,000.00 
(Annuallv) 

The pt'oposed job creation will benefit the City of Pontiac as the current reported U3 
unemployment rate for Pontiac is 8. 1 % as of September 2017 compared to 4. 7% for Michigan 
overall, 5.1 % for the Detroit/Dearborn/Livonia SMSA and 4.1 % nationally as of January 2018. 

Construction Related Jobs 

According to the General Contractor for Developer, in addition to the full-time jobs created by the 
project, the proposed redevelopment will create up to 90 FTE construction jobs within the City of 
Pontiac comprised as follows: 

Phase of Job Typical Typical Typical Number Total Duration of Total Project 
Construction Classification Hourly Hours Annual of Jobs Annualized Jobs in Years Related Payroll 

Rate Worl<cd Salary Related Payroll Related Created by (salary/wages & 
(Wccl<ly) to Project to Project Project (in benefits only) 

(Avcrnge years based 
per year) on fl months 

construction) 
Site Constmclion $55.00 40 $ 114,400.00 90 $ I0,296,000.00 1.3 $13,384,800.00 
Preparation Tradesmen and 

affiliated 
& Vertical workers 
Construction 
Constrnctiou 90 $ I 0,296,000.00 1.3 $13,384,800.00 
Phase Total 

Page 6 of 18 



IV. THE PROPERTY ADDRESSED IN THIS PLAN IS ELIGIBLE PROPERTY 

The Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, Public Act 38 1 of 1996, as amended, is: 

"AN ACT to authorize municipalities to create a browr1field redevelopment authority to facilitate 
the implementation of brownfield plans; to create brown.field redevelopment zones; to promote the 
revitalization, redevelopment, and reuse of certain property, including, but not limited to, tax 
reverted, blighted, or f unctionally obsolete property; to prescribe the powers and duties of 
brownfield redevelopment authorities; to permit the issuance of bonds and other evidences of 
indebtedness by an authority; lo authorize the acquisition and dh,7Josal of certain property; to 
authorize certain Jimds; lo prescribe certain powers and duties of certain stale officers and 
agencies; and to authorize and permit the use of certain tax increment financing. " 

M.C.L. § 125.2652(p) of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act defines "eligible property" 
to include "property for which eligible activities are identified under a brownfield plan that was 
used or is currently used for commercial, industrial, public, or residential purposes, including 
personal property located on the property, to the extent included in the brownfield plan, and that 
is J or more of the following: 

(i) Is in a qualified local governmental unit and is a facility or a site or property as those 
terms are defined in part 2 13, historic resource, functionally obsolete, or blighted and 
includes parcels that are adjacent or contiguous to that property if the development of the 
adjacent and contiguous parcels is estimated to increase the captured taxable value of that 
property. 

(ii) Ts not in a qualified local governmental unit and is a facility or a site or property as 
those terms are defined in part 213, and includes parcels that are adjacent or contiguous to 
that property if the development of the adjacent and contiguous parcels is estimated to 
increase the captured taxable value of that property." M.C.L. § 125.2652(0). Eligible 
property includes "personal property located on the property." Id. 

(iii) ls tax reverted property owned or under the control of a land bank fast track authority. 

(iv) Ts a transit-oriented development or transit-oriented property. 

(v) Is located in a qualified local governmental unit and contains a targeted redevelopment 
area. 

(vi) Is undeveloped properly that was eligible property in a previously approved brownfield 
plan abolished under section 14(8). 

(vii) Eligible properly does not include qualified agricultural property exempt under section 
7ee of the general property tax act, J 893 PA 206, MCL 21 l. 7ee, from the tax levied by a 
local school district for school operating purposes to the extent provided under section 
1211 of the revised school code, 1976 PA 451, MCL 380.1211. 

Page 7 of 18 



M.C.L. § I 25.2652(r) "Facility" means that term as defined in section 20 IO I of the natural 
resources and environmental protection act, 1994 PA 451, MCL 324.20 IO I. 

M.C.L § 324.20 IO I (s) "Facility" means any area, place, parcel or parcels ofproperty, or 
portion ofa parcel ofjJroperty where a hazardous substance in excess oft he concentrations 
that satisfy the cleanup criteria.for unrestricted residential use (emphasis added) has been 
released, deposited, disposed of, or otherwise comes to be located. Facility does not include 
any area, place, parcel or parcels of property, or portion of a parcel of property where any 
of the following conditions are satisfied: 

(i) Response activities have been completed under this part or the comprehensive 
environmental response, compensation, and liability act, 42 USC 960 I to 9675, that 
satisfy the cleanup criteria for unrestricted residential use. 

(ii) Corrective action has been completed under the resource conservation and 
recovery act, 42 USC 690 I to 6992k, part I I I , or part 213 that satisfies the cleanup 
criteria for unrestricted residential use. 

(iii) Site-specific criteria that have been approved by the department for application 
at the area, place, parcel of property, or portion of a parcel of property are met or 
satisfied and hazardous substances at the area, place, or property that are not 
addressed by site-specific criteria satisfy the cleanup criteria for unrestricted 
residential use. 

(iv) Hazardous substances in concentrations above unrestricted residential cleanup 
criteria are present due only to the placement, storage, or use of beneficial use by
products or inert materials at the area, place, or property in compliance with part 
115. 

(v) The property has been lawfully split, subdivided, or divided from a facility and 
does not contain hazardous substances in excess of concentrations that satisfy the 
cleanup criteria for unrestricted residential use. 

(vi) Natural attenuation or other natural processes have reduced concentrations of 
hazardous substances to levels at or below the cleanup criteria for unrestricted 
residential use. 

M.C.L. § 125.2652( o) "Eligible activities" or "eligible activity" means I or more of the following: 
(i) For all eligible properties, eligible activities include all of the following: 

(A) Department specific activities. 
(B) Relocation of public buildings or operations for economic development purposes. 
(C) Reasonable costs of environmental insurance. 
(D) Reasonable costs incurred to develop and prepare brownfield plans, combined 
brownfield plans, or work plans for the eligible property, including legal and consulting 
fees that are not in the ordinary course of acquiring and developing real estate. 
(E) Reasonable costs of brownfield plan and work plan implementation, including, but not 
limited to, tracking and reporting of data and plan compliance and the reasonable costs 

Page 8 of 18 



incurred to estimate and determine actual costs incurred, whether those costs are incurred 
by a municipality, authority, or private developer. 
(F) Demolition of structures that is not a response activity. 
(G) Lead, asbestos, or mold abatement. 
(H) The repayment of principal of and interest on any obligation issued by an authority to 
pay the costs of eligible activities attributable to an eligible property. 

(i i) For eligible properties located in a qualified local unit of government, or an economic 
opportunity zone, or that is a former mill, eligible activities include: 

(A) The activities described in subparagraph (i). 
(B) Infrastructure improvements that directly benefit eUgible property. 
(C) Site preparation that is not a response activity. 

(iii) For eligible properties that are owned by or under the control of a land bank fast track 
authority, or a qualified local unit of govenunent or authority, eligible activities include: 

(A) The eligible activities described in subparagraphs (i) and (ii). 
(B) Assistance to a land bank fast track authority in clearing or quieting title to, or selling 
or otherwise conveying, property owned by or under the control of a land bank fast track 
authority or the acquisition of property by the land bank fast track authority if the 
acquisition of the property is for economic development purposes. 
(C) Assistance to a qualified local governmental unit or authority in clearing or quieting 
title to, or sell ing or otherwise conveying, property owned by or under the control of a 
qualified local govermnental unit or authority or the acquisition of property by a qualified 
local goverrunental unit or authority if the acquisition of the property is for economic 
development purposes. 

(iv) For eligible activities on eligible property that is included in a transformational brownfield 
plan, any demolition, construction, restoration, alteration, renovation, or improvement of buildings 
or site improvements on eligible property, including infrastructure improvements that directly 
benefit eligible property. 

Under MCL § 125.2652(1), "Department speci fie activities" means baseline environmental 
assessments, due care activities, response activities, and other environmentally related actions that 
are eligible activities and are identified as a part of a brownfield plan that are in addition to the 
minimum due care activities required by part 201, including, but not limited to: 

(i) Response activities that are more protective of the public health, safety, and welfare and 
the environment than required by section 20 I 07a, 20 I 14, or 21304c of the natural resources 
and environmental protection act, l 994 PA 451, MCL 324.20 I 07a, 324.201 14, and 
324.21304c. 
(ii) Removal and closure of underground storage tanks pursuant to part 211 or 213. 
(iii) Disposal of solid waste, as defined in part 115 of the natural resources and 
environmental protection act, 1994 PA 451, MCL 324.11501 to 324.11554, from the 
eligible property, provided it was not generated or accumulated by the authority or the 
developer. 
(iv) Dust control related to construction activities. 
(v) Removal and disposal of lake or river sediments exceeding part 20 I criteria from, at, 
or related to an economic development project where the upland property is either a facility 
or would become a facil ity as a result of the deposition of dredged spoils. 
(vi) Iudustrial cleaning. 

Page 9 of 18 



(vii) Sheeting and shoring necessary for the removal of materials exceeding part 20 l 
criteria at projects requiring a permit pursuant to part 301, 303, or 325 of the natural 
resources and environmental protection act, 
1994 PA 451, MCL 324.30 IO I to 324.30 I 13, MCL 324.3030 I to 324.30328, or MCL 
324.3250 I to 324.325 J 5a. 
(viii) Lead, mold, or asbestos abatement when lead, mold, or asbestos pose an imminent 
and significant threat to human health. 

The Activities Ident{fied In the Plan Are Eligible Activities. The eligible activities are identified in 
Section V(B) of this Plan. 

The Property Was Used/or Commercial Pwposes. Based on information gathered during the site 
investigation, interviews with appropriate parties, review of aerial photographs, review of Sanborn 
maps, review of historical address listings, and review of municipal records, the subject property 
was developed for commercial use sometime around 1926. Historical use includes gas 
station/service stations on the eastern and northern parts of the parcel. There is the known use, 
storage and handling of petroleum products and other hazardous materials at the eastern portion of 
the site including fuel oil ASTs, petroleum USTs and dispenser islands, and in-ground hydraulic 
hoists. Previous site assessment conducted at the site confirmed subsurface contamination at 
concentrations greater than the MDEQ Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) qualifying 
the subject site as a "facility" as that term is defined under Part 201. 

Information obtained from the historical records review shows that the Property initially consisted 
of multiple parcels, and that the northern and eastern areas were used for gasoline and service 
station purposes from the m id-l 920s through the 1950s. Uses identi tied for the subject site 
include: ( l) historical gas station and automobile service/repair operations on the northern and 
eastern portions of the property from the I 920s through 1950s; (2) historical battery shop, auto 
repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the eastern portion of the property from the 1920s through 
1950s; and (3) a historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map; 
historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the l 924 Sanborn Map. In 1972, the 
multiple parcels were combined, and the seven-story l 45,000 square foot building currently on the 
Property was constructed. The Property has been vacant for over a decade and is currently tax 
reverted property owned by Oakland County. 

The Properly has been deemed to qualify as a "facility" due lo the presence of petroleum 
hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination exceeding the MDEQ GRCC. A copy of the Phase 
TT ESA Report is attached as Attachment D. 

Based upon the foregoing, the Property identi tied by this Plan is therefore eligible under P.A. 381, 
as amended, for reimbursement of the planned activities. 

Page 10 of 18 



V. BROWNFIELD PLAN REQUIREMENTS OF M.C.L. § 125.2663 

M.C.L. § 125.2663 requires several items to be included in a Brownfield Plan. These items are 
addressed below. 

A. Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax [ncrement Revenues 

A description of the costs of the plan intended to be paid for with the tax increment revenues ... " M.C.L. 
§ I 25.2663(2)(a). 

Cost Swnma,y. The following summary lists potential costs based on initial preliminary due 
diligence and site investigation results. This plan seeks approval of the following activities, which 
include, but not limited to: (a) Phase I ESA, BEA and Due Care Plan; (b) Additional Due Care 
Phase Ir ESA activities; (c) Remediation/Soil Vapor Mitigation; (d) Asbestos, Lead and Mold 
Abatement; (e) Demolition; (f) Site Preparation and Infrastructure Related activities; (g) 
Brownfield Plan Preparation; (h) Health and Safety Plan Preparation; and (i) Response Activities. 
Please see Tables I and 2 for a detailed listing of eligible activities. All reimbursements are 
proposed to be obtained from tax increment revenues derived from Local and State School Taxes. 

Tax increment revenues will be used to reimburse the Developer for the eligible activities 
generally described in (a) through (i), above, all eligible activities permitted under the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Financing Act. The activities would generally be implemented in a phased 
approach, in the following order: 

a. As much as $34,800.00 may be spent conducting Baseline Environmental 
Assessment (BEA) activities conducting due diligence for the project (Phase I ESA, Phase 1T ESA 
Consulting, BEA, Preliminary Section 7a Due Care Plan, and other enviromnental due diligence 
activities). 

b. As much as $2,800.00 may be spent preparing a Revised Section 7a Due Care Plan 
for the project; 

c. As much as $30,000.00 may be spent preparing the Brownfield Plan, Act 381 Work 
Plan and Supporting Documents plus Related Consulting, and integral documents, including 
applications, for the project. 

d. As much as $33,500.00 may be spent for completion of the Additional Due Care 
Phase II ESA Activities/Additional Due Care Phase IT ESA Reporting Activities for the project; 

e. As much as $50,000.00 may be spent for Pump & Treat of Contaminated 
Groundwater During Construction for the project; 

f. As much as $25,000.00 may be spent for Soil Verification Sampling for the project; 

g. As much as $2,500.00 may be spent for Health & Safety Plan for the project; 

Page 11 of 18 



h. As much as $15,000.00 may be spent on Project Management activities managing the 
eligible activities; 

i. As much as $3,000.00 may be spent for Remediation related Soil Erosion Measures 
for the project; 

j. As much as $30,00.00 may be spent for Remediation - Greenspace Encapsulation 
Incremental Costs and related Engineering/Deed Restrictions/institutional Controls for the project; 

k. As much as $50,000.00 may be spent for Remediation - Encapsulation of Bui ldLng 
and Parking Lot Areas Incremental Costs and related Engineering/Deed Restrictions/Institutional 
Controls for the project; 

I. As much as $35,000.00 may be spent for Soil Vapor Assessment and Pilot Test 
activities for the project; 

m. As much as $250,000.00 may be spent for Soil Vapor Barriers/Sub-slab 
Depressurization System and related engineering for the project; 

n. As much as $5,000.00 may be spent for Due Care related Engineering Control 
Work Plans, Engineering Specifications and Reports; 

o. As much as $15,000.00 may be spent for Hoist, Trench, and former equipment 
Removal Related Activities for the project; 

p. As much as $25,000.00 may be spent for UST Removal and Closure Related 
Activities for the project; 

q. As much as $12,000.00 may be spent for UST Removal and Closure Observation 
Related Activities for the project; 

r. As much as $4,500.00 may be spent for Additional Response related Work Plans, 
Engineering, Specifications and Reports for the project; 

s. A contingency of $88,965.00 for MDEQ eligible activities approximating 15% of 
estimated project costs is established to address unanticipated conditions that may be discovered 
during the implementation of site activities as required under P.A. 381 of 1996, as amended. 

t. As much as $250,000.00 may be spent for Engineering, Design and Planning 
related to the HMEA, Hazardous Materials Abatement (ACM, LBP, Mold, PCBs, etc.), Air 
Monitoring, and Demolition activities and management; 

u. 
project; 

As much as $ I 0,000.00 may be spent for Bid Specs and Bid Evaluation for the 

v. As much as $35,000.00 may be spent for Pre Demolition Hazardous Materials 
Environmental Assessment (HMEA) for the project; 

Page 12 of 18 



w. As much as $ 15,000.00 may be spent on site security that may include fencing, 
security guards or other necessary measures to help prevent site access during the Hazardous 
Materials Abatement activities; 

x. As much as $6 17,490.00 may be spent for Pre Demolition Asbestos, Lead and Mold 
(Hazardous Materials) Abatement for the project; 

y. As much as $977,245.00 may be spent for Demolition of Building (lnterior and 
Exterior including demolition and disposal, utility disconnect and removal) for the project; 

z. As much as $61,000.00 may be spent for Demolition Engineering, Design and 
Management, Project Management, Bid Specs, Bidding and Bid Evaluation, and Health Safety 
Plan for the project; 

aa. 
project; 

bb. 
project; 

As much as $50,000.00 may be spent for Utility Connection and Installation for the 

As much as $5,000.00 may be spent for Geoteclmical Testing & Evaluation for the 

cc. As much as $25,000.00 may be spent for Soil Mitigation Infrastructure related 
activities (testing) for the project; 

dd. A contingency of $306,860.00 for MEDC eligible activities approximating 15% of 
estimated project costs is established to address unanticipated conditions that may be discovered 
during the implementation of site activities as required under P.A. 381 of 1996, as amended. 

ee. Certain expenses incurred before approval of the Plan may be reimbursed, at the 
discretion of the Authority, including BEA and other due diligence related activities. Based on 
conversations, emails and meetings with Mr. Brad Hansen of the Authority, pre-plan approval 
expenses have already been incurred. The Authority has agreed that all eligible activities incurred 
prior to Plan approval shall be included in the Plan and for those eligible activities to be reimbursed 
by the Authority. 

ff. Reasonable and actual administrative and operating expenses of the Authority 
permitted to be reimbursed pursuant to Section 136(7) of the Brownfield Redevelopment 
Financing Act or otherwise. For purposes of this Plan, the Authority has elected to collect an 
annual fixed Administrative Fee of Five Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($5,000.00) of the local 
TTR for the life of the Plan. 

Activities related to Geotechnically Non-viable Soil Removal, Parking Structure, and Site 
Preparation (excavation, rough and finished grading, etc.) were removed from this Plan at the 
request of the Authority and, if such activities and costs are necessary for the Project, the 
Authority has requested Developer to prepare an amended Plan retlecting any such activities and 
costs for review and possible approval. 

Page 13 of 18 



All activities are eligible activities necessary to render the Property safe for its intended use as a 
Mixed-use Office Building are intended to be "eligible activities" under the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Financing Act. 

The estimated costs outlined in a-ff, above, may increase or decrease depending on the nature and 
extent of any unknown or unanticipated conditions on the Property. As long as the total costs, 
including being adjusted by the 15% contingency factor, have not exceeded the total estimated 
eligible activities amount of $3,064,660.00, the line item costs of the Eligible Activities outlined 
above may be adjusted between the Eligible Activities after the date this Plan is approved without 
the need for any additional approval from the City of Pontiac, Oakland County or the Authority, 
to the extent those adjustments do not violate the terms of any MDEQ or MEDC/MSF approved 
,vork plan, if any. If necessary, this Plan may also be amended to add eligible activities and their 
respective costs. 

The actual cost of eligible activities in this Plan that will qualify for reimbursement from tax 
increment revenues (TIR) generated from the Property and shall be governed by the terms of the 
Reimbursement Agreement between the Developer and the Authority (the "Reimbursement 
Agreement"). No costs of eligible activities will be qualified for reimbursement except to the 
extent permitted by the Brownfield Plan in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Reimbursement Agreement. The Reimbmsement Agreement and this Plan will dictate the total 
cost of eligible activities subject to payment, provided that the total cost of eligible activities 
subject to payment or reimbursement under the Reimbursement Agreement shall not exceed the 
estimated costs set forth above by more than 15% without requiring an amendment to this Plan. 
Developer estimates that it will incur up to $712,065.00 for MDEQ eligible activities and 
$2,352,595.00 for MEDC/MSF eligible activities, including the 15% contingency required under 
the statute. 

Capture of School Taxes. This Plan provides for the capture of taxes levied for school operating 
purposes (State Education Tax (SET) and School Operating Tax) from the Property. However, as 
the approval of School Tax Capture is at the discretion of the MDEQ and MEDC/MSF, all eligible 
activities shall be reimbursable from Local Taxes unless School Tax Capture is approved by the 
agency responsible for the eligible activity(ies), then reimbursement will be from a combination 
of both Local and School Taxes. 

B. Brief Summaty of the Eligible Activities 

A brief summary of the eligible activities that are proposed for each eligible property .. . " M.C.L. § I 25.2663(2)(b ). 

The eligible activities will include the activities identified in a-ff, above, and are generally 
summarized as: (a) Phaser ESA, BEA and Due Care Plan; (b) Additional Due Care Phase II ESA 
activities; (c) Remediation/Soil Vapor Mitigation; (d) Site Preparation and Infrastructure Related 
activities; (e) Brownfield Plan Preparation; (t) Health and Safety Plan Preparation; and (g) 
Additional Response activities. All reimbursements are proposed to be obtained from tax 
increment revenues derived from Local and State School Taxes 

Page 14 of 18 



C. Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues 

An estimate of the captured taxable value and tax increment revenues for each year of the plan from the eligible 
property. The plan may provide for the use of part or all of the captured taxable value, including deposits in the local 
brownfield revolvi11g fund, but the portion intended to be used shall be clearly stated in the plan. The plan shall not 
provide either for an exclusion from captured taxable value of a portion of the captured taxable value or for an 
exclusion of the tax levy of I or more taxing jurisdictions unless the tax levy is excluded from tax increment revenues 
in section 2(ss), or unless the tax levy is excluded from capture under section 15. tvl.C.L. § l 25.2663(2)(c). 

See Attachment C for spreadsheets depicting estimated tax increment revenues for each year of 
the plan. Please note that these summaries are based on the renovation of one 145,000 square foot 
building and site improvements and the final projected value for tax purposes will depend upon 
the determination of the City of Pontiac and Oakland County Equalization Office. 

The final site plans, engineering drawings and permits are subject to approval by the City of 
Pontiac. This Plan will be interpreted to incorporate any required or requested changes to the final 
site plan, costs and expenses, etc. without necess itating any other approval or amendment to this 
Plan. 

The initial taxable value of the eligible property shall be based on the 20 J 8 taxable value as 
base year for initial value, currently identified as follows: 

P11rccl Address I Parcel Number 2018 Assessed Value' 
140 S. Sa~inaw I 64-14-32-235-00 I $0 

TOTAl $0 
1Values provldttl by lbe Oakland Couuly Equalization 011 January 30, 2018. 

D. Method of Financing and Description of Advances by the Municipality 

The method by which the costs of the plan will be financed, including a description of any advances made or 
anticipated to be made for the costs of the plan from the municipality. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(d). 

Tt is anticipated that the Authority will authorize the Plan to capture TIR from the project to 
reimburse the Developer for the actual costs of the eligible activities, as well as up to 5 years of 
TIR Captme for deposit into the LBRF. ln addition, it is anticipated that the Authority will also 
collect a $5,000.00 annual fixed fee for Administrative Costs. 

The Developer, Authority and LBRF will be reimbursed for the eligible costs solely from tax 
increment revenues from the eligible property pursuant to the terms of the Reimbursement 
Agreement(s) and/or Loan Agreement(s) between the Developer, LBRF and Authority. The 
Authority will reimburse for the actual costs only. Although allowed under M.C.L. § 
125.2663(13b)(l l)-(14) Brownfield plan; provisions, payment of interest is not being supported 
by the Authority or City of Pontiac. 

The Authority's obligation to reimburse the eligible costs is subject to receipt of tax increment 
revenues. If there are insufficient tax increment revenues generated on the eligible property to 
reimburse for the cost of all of the eligible activities dming the life of the Plan, the Authority shall 
not be obligated to reimburse the eligible costs beyond the amount of tax increment revenues which 
have been received. To the extent that TIR is not sufficient to pay for the eligible activities in any 

Page 15 of 18 



given year, the balance owing the Developer will be paid from TIR collected in subsequent years 
until the balance is paid in full with no time limit placed on the collection and payment of eligible 
activities, other than the statutory maximum. Should it be necessary, tbe Developer, LBRF or 
Authority may apply to amend the Plan at a later date to include additional eligible activities or to 
extend the TTR collection period or to amend the collection and deposit of TIR into the Local 
Brownfield Revolving Fund ("LBRF") pmsuant to Section 8 of the Brownfield Redevelopment 
Financing Act (M.C.L. § l 25.2658). The approval of any such Plan amendment is at the 
reasonable discretion of the Authority. 

E. Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness 

The maximum amount of note or bonded indebtedness to be incurred, if any. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(e). 

No bonded indebtedness will be incurred by the City of Pontiac, Oakland County or the Authority 
in connection with this project. The repayment of eligible activities will be governed by the 
Reimbursement Agreement by and between the Developer and the Authority. 

F. Duration of Brownfield Plan 

A brownfield plan shall not authorize the capture of tax increment revenue from eligible property after the year in 
which the total amount of tax increment revenues captured is equal to the sum of the costs permitted to be funded with 
tax increment revenues under this act or 30 years from the beginning date of the capture of the tax increment revenues 
for that eligible property, whichever occurs first, except that a brownfield plan may authorize the capture of additional 
local and school operating tax increment revenue from an eligible property if I or more of the following apply: 

(a) During the time of capture described in this subsection for the purpose of paying the costs permitted 
under subsection (4) or section 13b(4). 
(b) For not more than 5 years after the date specified in subdivision (a), for payment to the local brownfield 
revolving fund created under section 8. M.C.L. § 125.2663(5). 

The brownfield plan shall include a proposed beginning date of capture. The beginning date of capture of tax increment 
revenues shall not be later than 5 years following the date of the resolution including the eligible properly in the 
brownfield plan. The authority may amend the beginning date of capture of tax increment revenues for a particular 
eligible property to a elate not later than 5 years following the date of the resolution including the eligible property in 
the brownfield plan. The authority may not amend the beginning date of capture of tax increment revenues for a 
particular eligible property if the authority has begun to reimburse eligible activities from the capture of tax increment 
revenues from that eligible property. Any tax increment revenues captured from an eligible properly before the 
beginning date of capture of tax increment revenues for that eligible property shall rever1 proportionately to the 
respective tax bodies. If an authority amends the beginning date for capture of tax increment revenues that includes 
the capture of tax increment revenues for school operating purposes, then the authority shall notify the department or 
the Michigan strategic fund , as applicable, within 30 days aficr amending the beginning date. M.C.L. § I 25.2663b{l 6). 

The duration of the PJan as proposed is estimated to be eighteen (18) years, with 2019 being 
the proposed start of capture. This duration is based on the estimated investment being 
$12,982,500.00 and calculating a Taxable Value by taking fifty percent (50%) of the estimated 
investment and using a sixty percent (60%) valuation reduction factor to adjust for the Pontiac 
market. Based on that formula,($ 12,982,500.00/2)*0.6 = $3,894,750.00 was used to calculate the 
real property taxes using City of Pontiac millage rates obtained from Oakland County 
Equalization. Based on the estimated new Tax Increment Revenue (TTR) and the total value of 
Eligible Activities, estimated BRA Management Fee of $5,000.00 annually and estimated Local 
Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF) capture, 18 years are needed to fully reimbmse the 
Developer and allow I partial and 3 full years of LBRF capture. The Plan duration may exceed 
18 years if necessary to fully reimbmse the approved eligible activities and LBRF capture. 

Page 16 of 18 



G. Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing Jurisdictions 

An estimate of the impact of the future tax revenues of all taxing jurisdictions in which the eligible property is located. 
M.C.L. § I 25.26632)(g). 

See Attachment C for an estimate of the impact on all relevant taxing jurisdictions. 

H. Legal Description, ProperD' Map and Personal Property 

A legal description of the eligible properly to which the plan applies, a map showing the location and dimensions of 
each eligible properly, a statement of the characteristics that qualify the property as eligible property, and a statement 
of whether personal properly is included as part of the eligible property. lfthe project is on property that is functionally 
obsolete, the taxpayer shall include, with the application, an affidavit signed by a level 3 or level 4 assessor, that states 
that it is the assessor's expert opinion that the property is functionally obsolete and the underlying basis for that 
opinion. M.C.L. § I 25.2663(2)(h). 

A legal description of the eligible property is included in Attachment A. Site maps are shown in 
Attachment B. 

The characteristics that qualify the property as eligible property are set forth in Section IV of this 
Plan. 

The eligible property will include personal property to be located within the new facility. 

I. Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Families 

Estimates of the number of persons residing on each eligible property to which the plan applies and the number of 
families and individuals to be displaced. If occupied residences are designated for acquisition and clearance by the 
authority, the plan shall include a demographic survey of the persons to be displaced, a statistical description of the 
housing supply in the community, including the number of private and public units in existence or under construction, 
the condition of those in existence, the number of owner-occupied and renter-occupied units, the annual rate of 
turnover of the various types of housing and the range of rents and sale prices, an estimate of the total demand for 
housing in the community, and the estimated capacity of private and public housing available to displaced families 
and individuals. M.C.L. § I 25.2663(2)(i). 

There are no persons residing at the property that would be redeveloped under the Plan and there 
will be no families or individuals displaced as result of development under the Plan. No occupied 
residences are involved in the development. 

J. Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons 

A plan for establishing priority for the relocation of persons displaced by implementation of the plan. M.C.L. § 
125.2663(2)0). 

No persons will be displaced as a result of implementation of the Plan. 

K. Provisions for Relocation Costs 

Provision for the costs of relocating persons displaced by implementation of the plan, and financial assistance and 
reimbursement of expenses, including litigation expenses and expenses incident to the transfer of title, in accordance 

Page 17 of 18 



with the standards and provisions of the federal uniform relocation assistance and real prope1ty acquisition policies 
act of 1970, Public Law 91 -646. M.C.L. § I 25.2663(2)(k). 

No persons will be displaced as result of this development, and therefore, no relocation costs will 
be incurred. 

L. Strategy for Compliance with Michigan's Relocation Assistance Law 

A strategy for compliance with 1972 PA 227, MCL 2 13.32 1 lo 2 13.332. M.C.L. § l 25.2663(2)(1). 

No persons will be displaced as result of this development. 

M. Description of Proposed Use of Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund 

For not more than 5 )'ears after the elate specified ... for payment to the local brownfield revolving fund created under 
section 8. M .C.L. § I 25.2663(5)(b ). 

As discussed above, as allowed pursuant to Section 8 of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing 
Act (M.C.L. § 125.2658), the Authority has elected to capture up to four (4) years of TIR for 
deposit into the LBRF. 

N. Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent 

Other material that the authority or governing body considers pertinent to the brownfield plan. M.C.L. § 
125.2663(2)(111). 

At this time, other than the above, there are no other materials that the Authority or governing 
body considers pertinent. 

rt is the intention of the Michigan Legislature to encourage redevelopment of Brownfields using 
the Michigan Community Revitalization Program ("CRP") and MDEQ Grant & Loan Program 
incentives for eligible properties. Both the CRP and MDEQ Grant & Loan Program can be 
approved as a Grant or a Loan to pay for eligible investment or part thereof. Tt is the specific 
intention of the OCBRA to authorize and support the application for a CRP and/or MDEQ Grant 
and/or Loan and other available incentives, including PACE, related to the Eligible Investments 
made by Developer as part of this Project. 

Page 18 of 18 



Attachment A 

Legal Description of the Eligible Property 



Legal Description: 

T3N, R10E, SEC 32 ASSESSOR'S PLAT NO 65 ALL THAT PART OF LOTS 9 & 10 
LYING SLY OF RELOCATED JUDSON ST, ALSO LOTS 13 TO 17 INCL EXC THAT 
PART TAKEN FOR WIDE TRACK DR, ALSO LOTS 76, 77, 127 & 128 OF 
'ASSESSOR'S PLAT NO 116' EXC THAT PART TAKEN FOR WIDE TRACK DR, ALSO 
VAC PART OF SAGINAW ST ADJ TO SAME, ALSO ALL OF VAC CHASE ST LYING 
SLY OF RELOCATED JUDSON ST & ELY OF WIDE TRACK DR 

Property Address: 140 S Saginaw, Pontiac, Ml 48342 

Tax Parcel No.: 14-32-235-001 



Attachment B 

Site Maps, Photographs and Site Plan/General Concept Plan 



llEFEUENCE 
USGS 7.5 MIN TOPOGRAPHIC QUADRANGLE 

PONTIAC, MlCHIGAN QUADRANGLE 
DATED: 1997 

t 
SCALE: I: 24000 

FIGURE 1: SITE LOCATION MAP 
PROJECT: 2017011601.0 I 

Mixed-use Commercial Building DATE: 311118 

140 South Saginaw Street PREPARED BY: JAP 

Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan 

N 
Environmental Services• 
Land Development • Real 
Estate Consulting 

600 I North Adams Road, Suite 205 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
Tel (248) 203-9898 Fax (248) 647-0526 
Email assoc1atedenv@comcast ncl 
Web: W\\ w ,1<sm;iatcdrnviro11mcn1al ncl 



Proposed Office/Mixed-use Development 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac. Oakland County, Michigan 

PROJECT: 2017011601.01 

DATE: 3/1/18 

PREPAREDBY: NGM Environmenta.l Services • 
Land Development• Rc.:ll 
Estate Consulting 

6001 North Adoms Rood, Suite 205 
Bloomfield Hills, Miehig,n 48304 
Tel: (248) 203-9898 
fax: (248) 647-0526 
Em.oil: M~(){'i:"ltc;drnv"a·comc!'lc:t M!:;t 

WWW ,s.,oc:1~tede;nvir9nmemnl n£I 

NOTES: Property is currently ta, reverted and 
unoccupied. Mold. Asbestos and Water Damaged 
interior. Scrappers have damaged most building 
systems. Site is contaminated and qualifies as a 
"facility"' as that term is defined in part 201 ofNREPA, 
as amended. 



CONTEXT 

- AREA OF FOCUS 

• • 00'<\'NTOWN PONTIAC 

PHOENIX CENTER 

LOT 9 SITE 

CIVIC QUARTER 

SOUTH OISTRICT 

LAFAYETTE SQUARE 

A THE REGIONAL 
V TRANSIT CENTER 

0 HOSPITAL 

(l) CENTRAL SCHOOL 

8 LAFAYETTE MARKET 

@ LOCAL BUS STATION 

G) OAKLAND PRESS NEWSPAPER 

e POLICE STATION 

a> CITY HALL 

~ SCHOOL DISTRICT ADMIN. BLDG 

~ DISTRICT COURT 

(D OTTAWA TOWERS 1 & 2 

a, GREAT LAKES ACADEMY 

(D PHOENIX PLACE APARTMENTS 

~ VACANT BUILDING 

~ BUILDING OF HISTORICAL 
IMPORTANCE 

fl) MEDIA ART t. TECHNOLOGY 
ACADEMY OF PONTIAC e LIBRARY 

Aerial Image of Existing Conditions 

CNU Legacy Charretle I Downtown Pontiac 17 



1 : 6th Floor - Water Damage (1) 2 : 6th Floor - Water Damage (2) 

3 : 6th Floor - Water Damage (3) 4 : 7th Floor Water Damage ( 1) 

5 : 7th Floor Water Damage (2) 6: Basement- HVAC (1) 



7: Basement - HVAC (2) 8: Basement- HVAC (3) 

9: Basement - HVAC (4) 10 : Basement - Block Wall Cracking (1) 

11 : Basement - Electrical (1) 12 : Basement - Electrical (2) 

2 



13 : Basement - Electrical (3) 14: Basement - Electrical (4) 

15 : Basement - Electrical (5) 16 : Basement - Gas Meter (1) 

17 : Basement - Gas Meter (2) 18 : Basement - Hot Water Supply (1) 

3 



19 : Basement - Hot Water Supply (2) 20 : Basement - Hot Water Supply (3) 

21 : Basement - Life & Safety (1) 22 : Basement - Life & Safety (2) 

23 : Basement - Misc (1) 24 : Basement - Misc (2) 

4 



25 : Basement - Misc (3) 26: Basement - Misc (4) 

27 : Basement - Misc (5) 28 : Basement - Water Supply (1) 

29 : Basement - Water Supply (2) 30 : Basement - Water Supply (3) 

5 



31 : Basement Access Well (1) 32 : Building Entrance - East (1) 

33 : Building Entrance - East (2) 34 : Building Entrance - North (1) 

35 : Building Entrance - North (2) 36 : Building Facade (1) 

6 



37 : Building Facade (2) 38 : Canopy Water Damage ( 1) 

,, 

39 : Canopy Water Damage (2) 40 : Elevator Equipment (2) 

41 : Elevator Equipment (3) 42 : Elevator Equipment (1) 

7 



43 : Exterior Cracking & Patching (1) 44 : Exterior Cracking & Patching (2) 

45 : Exterior Cracking & Patching (3) 46 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (1) 

47 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (2) 48 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (3) 

8 



49 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (4) 50 : Exterior Signage (1) 

51 : Exterior Signage (2) 52 : Exterior Signage (3) 

53 : Exterior Utilities - Electrical (1) 54 : Exterior Utilities - Electrical (2) 

9 



55 : Exterior Utilities (1) 56 : Exterior Utilities (2) 

57 : Flatwork - Misc 58 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (1) 

59 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (2) 60 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (3) 

10 



61 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (4) 62 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (5) 

63 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (1) 64 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (2) 

65 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (3) 66: Flatwork - Sidewalks (4) 

11 



67 : Flalwork - Sidewalks (5) 68 : Interior - Electrical (1) 

69 : Interior - Electrical (2) 70 : Interior - Electrical (3) 

71 : Interior - Elevators (1) 72 : Interior - Elevators (2) 

12 



73 : Interior - Elevators (4) 74 : Interior - Elevators (5) 

75 : Interior - Elevators (6) 76 : Interior - Elevators (7) 

77 : Interior - Elevators (3) 78 : Interior - Emergency Systems (1) 

13 



11 

79 : Interior - Emergency Systems (2) 80 : Interior - Emergency Systems (3) 

81 : Interior - Light Fixtures (1) 82 : Interior - Light Fixtures (2) 

83 : Interior - Main Entrance (1) 84 : Interior - Main Entrance (2) 

14 



85 : Interior - Misc (1) 86 : Interior - Misc (2) 

87 : Interior - Misc (3) 88 : Interior - Misc (4) 

89 : Interior - Misc (5) 90 : Interior - Misc (6) 

15 



91 : Interior - Misc (7) 92 : Interior - Restrooms - ADA Issue (1) 

93: Interior - Restrooms - ADA Issue (2) 94 : Interior - Restrooms (3) 

95: Interior - Restrooms (4) 96 : Interior - Restrooms (5) 

16 



97 : Interior - Restrooms (6) 98 : Interior - Restrooms (7) 

99 : Interior - Restrooms (8) 100 : Interior - Secondary Entrance 

101 : Interior - Stairwell - ADA Issue (1) 102 : Interior - Stairwell (2) 

17 



103 : Interior - Stairwell (3) 104 : Interior - Structure (1) 

105 : Interior - Structure (2) 106 : Interior - Windows (1) 

107: Interior - Windows (2) 108 : Landscape - Broken Limbs 

18 



109 : Landscape - Typical 110 : Paving - Approach ( 1) 

L, • 

l,1•~ ·- 4 

111 : Paving - Approach (2) 112: Paving - Approach (3) 

113: Paving - Approach (4) 114: Paving (1) 

19 



115 : Paving (2) 116 : Paving (3) 

117: Paving (4) 118 : Paving (5) 

119 : Paving (6) 120 : Paving (7) 

20 



121 : Paving (8) 122 : Paving (9) 

123 : Plexi Secured Window 124: Roof- Damage (1) 

125 : Roof - Damage (2) 126 : Roof - Drains & Vents (1) 

21 



127 : Roof - Drains & Vents (2) 128 : Roof - Drains & Vents (3) 

, 
129: Roof - HVAC (1) 130: Roof - HVAC (2) 

131 : Roof - HVAC (3) 132: Roof - HVAC (4) 

22 



I . 

133: Roof - HVAC (5) 134 : Roof - Penthouse (1) 

135 : Roof - Penthouse (2) 136 : Roof - Penthouse Damage ( 1) 

137 : Roof - Penthouse Damage (2) 138: Roof (1) 

23 



139 : Roof (2) 140 : Roof (3) 

,, 

141 : Roof ( 4) 142 : Roof (5) 

143: Roof (6) 

24 



Attachment C 

Estimated Tax Increment Revenues 

(These estimates are based on the attached cost estimates to rehabilitate and 
redevelop a seven-story commercial building (totaling 145,000 square feet) into a 

state-of-the-art mixed-use office development with an estimated new investment of 
$16,047,160.00 or more. This also assumes that the all final City, County and State 

of Michigan approvals, if any, will not substantially change the project and the 
project will be developed with substantially the same characteristics as 

contemplated by Developer. 



TADLE J -TOTAL PROPOSED MDEQ ELIGIULE ACTIVITY COSTS 
DllOWNFIELD PLAN 

l'ltOPOSED 140 s. SAGINAW STREET rumEVELOPMENT 
CITY OF PONTIAC, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICBIGAN 

July 31, 201 8 

I Eliltihh- .\rth·ily lh"Tipliun Oro\\ nlil>ld l'rnprrty ( 0,1 

DEPARTMENT SPECIFIC ACTIVITIES (I\ICL §125.2652(2)(1)) ELIGIOLE AC rlVITY COSTS J 

BHsclinc Environmcnlnl Assessments (MCL § 125.2652(2)(1) Local TIF Slate not.I Local 
TOTAL Capture Only TrF Capture 

Phase I Environmental Sile Assessment $0 $3,500 $3,500 

Phase II Environmental Site Assessment $0 $25,000 $25,000 

Baseline Environmental Assessment $0 $4,500 $4,500 

7a Due Care Plan $0 $1,800 $ 1,800 

Due Care Aclivilirs (MCL §12S.26S2(2)(1) and (m)) 

Section 7aCA Due Care Plan - Revisions $0 $2,800 $2,800 

Additional Due Care Phase II ESA Environmental Due Diligence Activities $0 $30,000 $30,000 

Additional Due Care Phase II ESA Environmental Due Diligence Reporting Activities $0 $3,500 $3,500 

Pump & Trcalrncnt/Disposal orConlaminaled Groundwater During Construction (if necessary) $0 $50,000 $50,000 

Soil Verification Sampling (if necessary) $0 $25,000 $25,000 

Health & Safely Plan $0 $2,500 $2,500 

Project Management $0 $15,000 $ 15,000 

Soil Erosion Measures $0 $3,000 $3,000 

lncrcrnenlal Costs for Grcenspacc Encapsulation (as necessary) $0 $30,000 $30,000 

Incremental Cosls for Encapsulation (Engineering controls for Building and Parking) $0 $50,000 $50,000 

Soil Vapor Assessment and Pilot Test $0 $35,000 $35,000 

Soil Vapor Barrier/ Sub-slab Dcprcssurization System $0 $250,000 $250,000 

Work Plans, Engineering, Specifications and Reports $0 $5,000 $5,000 

Response Activities (I\ICL §1 2S,26S2(2)(1) and (oo)(i) and (ii)) 

Hoist, Trench and Other fom1er Equipment Removal Relnted Activities (irprescnt) $0 $ 15,000 $15,000 

UST Removal and Closure (if identified during excavation) $0 $25,000 $25,000 

UST Removal Observation, Sampling and Report (iridcnlificd during excavation) $0 $12,000 $12,000 

Work Plans, Engineering, Specifications and Reports $0 $4,500 $4,500 

ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS SUBTOTAL $0 $593,100 $593,100 

TOTAL ELIGJOLE ACTIVITY COSTS PLUS CONTINGENCY AND ADI\IINISTRATIVE COSTS 

Contingency 

Contingency ( 15% of Subtotal NOT including completed BEA Activities) $0.00 $88,965 $88,965 

Brownfield Plan, Act 381 Work Plan and Related Docwnents (l\lCL §125.2652(2)(0)(1)(0)) $30,000 $30,000 

ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS SUBTOTAL so $712,065 $712,065 

Agency Adminislrative Cosls 

State Act 381 Work Plan Review (No longer charged by State) $0 $0 $0 

OCBllA Administrnlive nnd Opcrnting Costs (fiixed Fee ofSS,000.00 Armuully) S90,000 $0 $90,000 

GRAND TOTAL S90,000 S712,06S S802,06S 



I 

TABLE 2 - TOT AL PROPOSED MSF ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS 
PROPOSED 140 S. SAGINAW STREET REDEVELOPMENT 

CITY OF PONTIAC, OAKLAND COUNTY, MJCHIGAN 

Eligible Activit) Description 

ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES (MCL 125.2652(2)(0)) MSF ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS 

Lead, Asbestos and Mold Abatement (MCL §125.2652(2)(o)(i)(G)) 

Pre Demolition Hazardous Materials Environmental Assessment (HMEA) 
Bid Soecs and Bid Evaluation (for HazMat Abatement) 
Lead, Asbestos and Mold Abatement Consulting, Management, Design and Planning, Air Monitoring 
Site Securitv (HazMat Abatement and Demolition) 

Pre Demolition Asbestos, Lead and Hazardous Materials Abatement 

Demolition Activities (MCL § 125.2652(2)(o)(i)(F)) 

Demolition Engineering, Design and Management, Bid Specs and Evaluation 
Demolition of Building (Interior and Exterior. Incl Demo & Disp, utility disconnect and removal) 

Infrastructure Improvements (MCL §125.2652(2)(o)(ii)(B)) 

Utilitv Connection & Installation 
Parking Structure <Developer will determine the necessity. and if so, quantify cost for BP Amendment) 

Site Preparation (MCL §125.2652(2)(o)(ii)(C)) 

Geotechnical Testing & Evaluation (Site Prep/Soil Mitigation/Non-viable Soils) 
Soil Mitigation activities 
Geotechnicallv Non-viable Soils Removal (Developer will identify the necessity and. if so, Quantify cost for BP Amendment) 
Site Preparation ffixc., Grading. Utility Removal/ Re-install. etc.) ffieveloper will identify and, if present ouantifv cost for BP Amendment1 

MSF ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS SUBTOTAL 
____;,_._c: 

TOT AL ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS PLUS CONTINGENCY " 
Contingencv (I 5% of Subtotal) 

GRAND TOTAL 

July 31 , 2018 

Bro'\.\llficld Property Cost 

$35,000 
$10,000 

$250,000 
$15,000 

$617,490 

$61,000 
$977,245 

$50,000 
$0 

$5,000 
$25,000 

$0 
$0 

$2.045.735 

$306,860 
$2.352,595 



Tax lncnme-nt Rcwnuc Capture Estim.lt~ 
TABLE3 140 South S-Jgln.aw Partne~, LLC 

140 South ~gln:iw Strc('t 

Pont~ Michlg.ln 

~bru.:iry 23, 2018 

fatlmilted T.u•blt" V11lut" (TV) tncrcol~ Rate: 

- ~ ~r~ ---·- ----Pl;,n Year 0 (B»eYcar) 9 10 11 12 
U lend,;arYear 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

* B.;a~ T~:iblc V.ltue S0.00 so.co so.oo so.oo so.oo S0.00 so.co so.oo so.co so.oo so.oo so.co so.oo 
E!ot:lrnatcd New TV S 3,894,750 3,933,698 3,973,034 4,012.765 s 4,052.892 4,093,421 4,134.356 4,175,G99 s 4,217,456 4,259,631 4,302,227 4,345,249 

lnacmC'T'ltJI Otffercnce {New TV- 8;:,~e 1V) 3,894,750 3,933.698 3,9n,o34 4,012,765 s 4,0Si,892 4 ,093,421 4,134,lSG 4;175;699 s 4,217,456 4,259,631 4,302,227 4,345,249 

WulbgeRatc 

1 St.itc Edue.ttion Tax (SET) 6.0000 23,369 23,502 23.ll38 24.on s 24,317 24,561 24.806 25,054 25,30S 25,SSB 2S.S13 26,071 
2 School O~cr:it1nc T.ix 18.0000 70, lOG 70,807 71.SlS 72,230 72,952 s 73,682 74,418 75,1G3 7S,914 76.673 n,...o 78,214 

School Tot.ail 24.0000 93,,414 94,409 95,353 96,306 97.,269 s 98,242 99,225 100,217 101,219 102,231 103,253 s 104,286 

M1l~tit>~t~ 

3 0ty Opcratlng 18.4935 72,028 72,748 73,475 74,210 74,952 7S,702 76,459 n .223 s n.996 1s.ns s 79,563 80,359 
4 0.lkland County Tran~lt Authonty 1.0000 3,895 3.934 3,973 4,013 4,0S3 4,093 4,134 4,176 4,217 4,260 s 4,302 4.345 
S 0.:akl:md County Oper.Jt in& 4.0400 is,ns 15,892 16,051 16,212 16.374 16,S37 16,703 16,870 17,039 17,209 17.381 17.SSS 
6 O.>kbnd County P:vlci 0.2349 915 924 933 943 s 9S2 s 962 971 981 s 991 1.001 1.,011 1.021 
7 Huron O lnton Metropolrt.ln Authority 0.2129 829 837 $46 854 s 863 s 871 S30 889 s 898 907 916 925 
a 0.lkl.:md Cou nty ISO 3,2813 s 12,780 12,908 13,037 13,167 13,299 13,432 13,S66 13,702 13,839 s 13,9n 14.117 14,258 
g Slnklnt Fund 2.8700 s 11.178 11,290 11,403 11.S17 11,632 s ll.74S 11.SGG 11,984 12,104 s 12,225 12,347 12,471 

10 0.1kbnd County Community College l.5431 s 6.010 s 6,070 6,131 6,192 6,254 s 6.317 6,380 6,"44 s 6.SOS s 6,573 s 6,639 6,?0S 

Local Total 31.67$7 123,369 s 124,603 125,549 s 127,107 128,378 s 129,662 130,959 132,268 s 133.591 s 134,927 s 136,276 137,639 

N M1llae,e R.ate 

11 Me-ss.1 Judgment 0.4000 s 1,558 s 1.573 1.589 l,GOS s 1.621 s 1.637 1.654 1.670 1.687 1.704 1.721 1.738 

12 0;:Jkland County DIA 0.194S s 7S8 s 76S n3 s 780 s 788 s 796 804 au S20 828 S37 S4S 

13 0.1kl.1nd CoontyZoo 0.0982 382 s 336 s 390 s 394 398 402 406 410 414 s 418 s 422 s 427 

Total Non---Captutablc Taxes 0.6927 2,698 2,72S 2,752 s 2,780 s 2,807 2,836 s 2,864 2,893 2,921 s 2,951 s 2,930 s 3,010 

TOTAL MIUS (Per 031dand County Equ:rllutJo 56.3684 

14 Toal T.u Increment Revenue (TIA) Avall.,btc, for Copturc 2D0,159 s 202,210 s 204,282 s 206,37S s 208,489 s 210,624 s 212,780 s 214,953 s 217,1S7 s 219,379 s 221.623 s 223,8S9 

July 31, 2018 



--
PbnYe;,r 

ClJend;uVe.ir 

•8.;)~ T.1X,i)ble V.-iluC' 

utlm.ited New N s 
lncnmc-nt.11 Odfert-nce {New N • 8.l~ TV) s 

~-----1 ~__..,,ru_ M1U.a;e~te 

St..te Education T.lX (SET) 6 .0000 s 
School Opcr.ltlnaT;uc 18.0000 s 

School Total 24 .0000 s 

---,ea-u~ M1U.1se Jbte 

Oty Ope l'.ltlng l &.4935 s 
0.lk~nd County Tr.in~lt Authority 1.0000 s 
o .. kbnd County Opcr.,tlng 4 .0400 s 
0.lkb nd County p.,rk::. 0.2349 s 
Huron Olnton Mt:tropolft:3n Authority 0 .2129 s 
0.-ikl.ind county ISO 3.2813 s 
Sl.nklnE Fund 2.8700 s 
O.,kl;ind County Community College 1.$431 s 

Local Total 31.6757 $ 

No-•-ru-t..t.. utlfl- · M M lllilge b tc 

Mc::.~ Judgment 0.4000 s 
Oakland County DIA 0.194S s 
031d;md County Zoo 0.0982 s 

Total Non-Captunible Taxei:: 0.6927 $ 

TOTAL M IUS (Pt:r O;i.kbnd County Equ.lll~ tlo $6.3684 

Tob i T:ix lnCff:mcnt Revenue (TlR) Av.,,llable for C:lpture S 

Tax lnettmC'nt Rcwnuc- Capture ~nwt~ 

140 South S.1gin.iw P3rtncr.., L.LC 

140 South SJgiN)w Stn.•et 

Pontiac, Michlg;:11\ 

Febru.;ny 23, 2018 

·- -
13 14 15 

2031 2032 20:13 

so.oo 50.00 so.co 
4 ,3,88,702 s 4,432.589 s 4,476,91.S 

4,383,702 s 4,432,..589 $ 4,.476,915 

26,332 s 26,596 s 26,861 

78,997 s 79,7S7 s 80,534 

105,329 s 106,382 s 107,446 

81,162 s 81.974 s 82.794 

4,3S9 s 4,433 s 4,4n 

17,730 s 17,908 s 18,087 

1.031 s 1.041 s 1,0S2 

934 s -s 953 

14,401 s 14,545 s 14,690 

12,596 s 12.722 s 12.849 

6,n2 s 6,840 s 6,908 

139,015 $ 140,405 $ 141,809 

1,75S s 1.773 s 1.791 

854 s 862 s 871 

431 s 43S s 440 

l,040 s 3,070 s 3,101 

s 
$ 

$ 

s 
s 

s 
s 
s 
s 
s 
s 
s 
$ 

s 

$ 

s 
s 
s 

226,178 $ 228,490 $ 230,82$ $ 

TABLE 3 

16 17 7 18 7 - TOTAL 

2034 2035 2036 

$0.00 so.oo $0.00 

4,521,684 5 4,S66,901 s 4,612,S70 

4,521,6&4 s 4,566,901 $ 4,6~70 

27,130 s 27,401 s 27,675 s 458,.367 

Sl.390 s 82,204 s 83,026 s 1.175,102 

108,S20 s 109,606 s U.0,702 s 1,,833,469 

83,622 s 84,4S8 s SS,303 s 1.41U02 

4,522 s 4,567 s 4,613 s 76,39S 

18,268 s 18,4S0 s 18.635 s 308,634 

1,062 s 1.073 s 1.083 s 17,.945 

963 s 972 s 9S2 s 16,264 

14,837 s 14,985 s 15,13S s 2!.0,673 

12.977 s 13.107 s 13.238 s 219,252 

6,9n s 7,047 s 7,118 $ 117,.aa4 

143,2.28 s 144,660 s 146,106 s 2.4 19,850 

1.809 s 1,827 s 1,84S s 30,SSS 

879 s 888 s 897 s 14,8S9 

444 s 448 s 4$3 s 7,502 

3,132 s 3.163 s 3~195 s Sl,918 

23),183 $ 235,$65 $ 237,'l70 S 3,934,UG 

July 31, 2018 



21 

22 

n 
24 

Year 

2S Tot.II S~ lncrcml.'nt:il ~nuc 

2G- $t=itr• Crownf1e-ld ~dNt"lopr--t"nt ~nd f~ of !i-r'TT 
1..7 Su~ TIR Av.>lb:ble for Rcln'lbun.emc-nt 

28 To~I Loc.,l lncrcmcnt:il il~nu~ 

~ DAA A.oMl!"ll"itr.ltNc Ft"C' (H.1t·IN) 
30 Loc.:II TIRAv.,l~cforRc-lmbl.l~ 

l1 Total Stilte & local TIR A'4ilable 

Or=vclop,erlv'iall,mim 
~l>um:meM 

Sbl< _, 
TOTAL 

MOEQ. -

~lnnln& 
DEVELOPER l\3bnce 

93,A74 

ll.W. 
11,190 

s 123,369 

S.000 ,.,.,... 
2'>0,1S9 

Propo(t!On.)h(V 
School & L.oul ,.,,., 

<O.IG" $ l.2S2.295 
~9.14" s 1)112.3G5 

23'X, s 7U.OGS> ,.,.,. s 2,35.2.595 

94,409 95.353 
s ll.,8,0.l 1l,!H9 

s 82.GOS 83.434 

s ]24,603 125,&49 

s s.cco s.~ 
$ 11!),GOJ 120 .... 

202,21D 204,212: 

loe.l-Onty 

T.axe-. 

96,306 
$ i i,Ol!! .. .,.. 

1:27,107 

S,000 
UUD7 

2DG.)7S 

T;u lna~nt ~ R&!lmbun;cment Allocation T~lc, 
140 Sooth Sag,n;,w P)~, UC 

s 
s 

> 
s 

140 South S.:,c:lr.aw SUC'C't 

Pontlx, O:,kl.:,nd County, Mtchlg.:,n 

,..., 
1,252.,29$ 

1,.8~5 

712,0(,> 

2:.J!.2.S9S 

97.2(i9 

12. 159 
85,lll 

128,378 

~.coo 
U],378 

208 .... 

Maren 31. 2013 

93,242 s 
12.280 
85,962 

129,662 

5,000 
124,GQ 

210,624 

8tim.lted Total 
Ycn~of Pl.ln: 

99.llS 100,217 

:.2...-.03 l2,S27 
M,1121 87,690 

130.SS? s 132,2~ 

S,000 :0,000 
l.25,959 s 127,260 

W,780 s 214,9S& 

TABLE 4 

Enl~te-d Diewiop,cr~ pcs,,o (OEQ, MSll $ 3.0£4.GGO 
18 AdmlnlStr.rtl-~ s 90,000 

Sotc llrownrtckS Rcd~loi,mc:n.t fund s n,.184 
Loe.al 8 rownf'lidd Revolvtn• Fund s a~.4 1b 

OTALROMaU~D/""'1Ulll!D· , ,., 
1l) 1l u u .. " " 17 

101,219 10U31 103,253 10<,286 105_3,2g lOG,382 107,446 108,$20 109,606 
12,6$2 12.77? Ut'l07 ll.OlG :),llAt U,294 ll,4)1 l),!,11) L,10l .. ..., s 8!),452 00,347 !>USO OUGl 

.,_ 
9C,01S 94,9SS ~ .90S 

133.S?l 1.34,927 llG.27G 137,6-l? U).OlS 140.~S 141,809 s 143.228 s l:.4,UO 

s.oco S.000 S.000 5.000 S,000 ,.ooo ::;,ooo 5,000 :'.,,00 

s 128.591 120,927 Ul.,27£ 132.Gl'> s l?A,015 ns.~s =- s 138,lll: s ll0.6<0 

U7,1S7 1.U,379 22Ull 22),119 U6,l71 228,490 s 230,l2S 2ll,W ZJS,s.6:S 

lZ Of!Va.OPUR~m~tOoJaricr l.~ S J.OU,660 S l:AS4.,$0l S ZNZ.n.l S Z..UC.00, S l.2SJ.6.1J S 2.01.,U<fS S 1.4JZS,l.l S 1.619,1.fl S l..404,113 $ J..W~ 961,2M j S 146,QJ S ~ 134 S 2'6,SS6 t S QLJX;7 

NETPAYMtNTTOOCVEl.O,tR ---- ---- ------- $ 200.,.1S9 S_202Jl0 s __ ~.212 $ 206,.J,S S _ .20&,,f,l9 S _ 2JO,Q4 $ n2,nt) s_ ZJ4Y.J6 s_ Zl.7,JS7 S _ :n!J..37' S 21.1.;W S_ 223.JJl!J S 22G,:i.7a s __ z::eAfO S __ 6'.067 -------- ----

33~~ 2.JS2.5'5 s 153.652 s lSS.227 s l.S6.818 s l.S8,4l5 I S lC.0.047 161.686 s 16.3.341 s 16S,0U s 166,702 s 168,407 s 170,129 s 171 ..... s 173.626 s 175,401 s SUS2 
34 Seate- T.u Re-lmbul"'~ment s 62,756 I s 63,430 j S ... oao I s G4.736 I s 65..J.!)? .. .oGO I S 6€,,745 I s 67.428 I S G8.ll8 s 68.815 1 S 69.51'9 t S 70,i30 I s 70.'Y.S I S 11.673 Is 21,35] ( 
3S l.oc.ll T.u Rclmbul"'~e,ti I s 90.8 .. I s 91.798 s 92.7l0 I S 93,688 I s 94.li4S 9S,6l 7 I S %.5% s 97.SSS s 98.583 s 99.592 I S 100.tilO I S 10l..6J.9 I S 102.678 I S 101.1is I s 30,900 I ,. Tot.JI MSf RctmbursNnent &Alancc I S 2.198.943 l s 2,043,715 I s 1.886..897 Is 1.128.473 I s l.S68.4.25 l.406.740 s l,24J.399 I S 1,078.385 s 911,634 1 S 7~3.277 s 573.14! $ 401,279 s 227.6$2 s s 2 • .:s2 I s . ( 

AVAJtAl!JJ.L 1lR (AFTER fkW.olrn,cr ~mburs.ttnfflt) 

l7~ •,wlf(I ' Is 712,0GS s 46,506 s 46,98.3 I S 47,464 \ S o.9s1 I s 48.442 ! S ..-.S,93' ' S 49,09 / S 49,945 s 50,456 r S 50.972 s Sl,'1'll s 52.020 s 52,552 s Sl,039 i S 1S,8.1S ! .. SUtl! T.u RNml>ul"'..('ffl['t\t I s 19,004 l S l'l.198 1 S 19,.3!)~ s 19.594 I s 19,795 s 19.?97 s 20.20:2 j S 20,40? I S 20.Gl.8 s 20.&28 I s 21.~1 s 21.257 ( S 21,474 I S 2l,G9l I S 6,462 I ,. LoQ;I T:ix Rc'lmbUl"'--"'mtnt s 21.so1 I s 27,785 I s 28,069 s 28..J.57 I S 28.G47 I S zs,941 I s 29.237 I s 29.536 I s 29,838 1 S 30.144 j s 30.452 I S 30.763 l s 31.078 1 S 1:,395 I S 9.JSJ I ... Tobi MO[Q Relrnburwmc.mt 0..l;anc.e I s 6Ci5.SS9 s 618.576 l S 571.lll I S 523.161 $ 474,71.9 s .i2s.1S1 I s U'C.,.s-42 ) S 326.3?7 I S 275,941 1 S 22",%9 s 173,476 s Ul,45G s ... ..,,, s 15,81.5 f S - 1 
AVAltABLE T1R (AFTDf 0-.-to lfrlmmNRrrwrit) 

41 ,,.,..;,11'1 .. , I · I s · I s s s . , s s • 15 • I 5 s s s s 
42 LoQ;I T.ll Rc-lmbt.l~ml!nt I 
43 Tot:al Looi Onlv Reimbursement B;al;anc:e I S s · I S · I S · I S s . ! s s s s · I S s s s 
-44 Tout A.nn1ttl Dcwlopor !itel!Tltk.nement Is 200,lS, Is 202.210 Is , .. .,., Is >0<,37S I S 208....., Is ,,..,.,. 1 s t 

214,gsa Is ,,..,_,,..1 s m..6u Is ' m,111 Is 2.28,4!)0 I S .. -' ,,.,,,... s 217,1$7 223.Bn s 
AVAILASLC 71R (AFTE1l ~ Rrfm~) s s s 

45 

4G UUtf Drposlb • s s $ 5 s $ s s s s s s u:.r...a s :W,1.13 5 m.~s 
47 Stnc.• h l(C.lprur" 66,S07 91.184 s ,,..,...,,, .. !.()QI T;ax C.,pture s 96,15l ;;~,~ lJ9,J07 

•• Tot.11 L.Dltf ~pture s l Q,7S3 01-505 
SO • Up to flvt' yeo1n: of CJt1tvrr, for LBRF ~~ ;after C"lli;iblt' 3CtMt~ arc rclmbur..eel. M;ay be u«'n frOIT'I DEQ & t..oc.JJ TIR only. 

Per Br.id Han~n. M.ln~r,OCBAA,, ttw:!OCBR.Ah.nclc:-cte-d toorJvcpturcf01"4'ft':;an., 

l~=.:·mlnktr.ltivc:- Ftt. 1-:. a Fixed ~ of SS,000.00 Pt"r vc;,.r. 
UlRF(Yc:,r2-4) s 106,711 Developer Prl~g..:, j s 3,064,660 
LBRF(Ye:i,r 11 162,7S8 ~~Pt"r 1ntcr~t so 

Tot.JI "'·"' '""" s 
3,064,G(iO 

a.do kttffl/Toul f-(O~p 

July 31, 2018 



Ta lno'l!ment RIM!nue Rl!lmb4.,n.iiiment Alloatton T,1ble 
140 Sovth S-.Jsln.JW l>ilrtnc-n.. LLC 

lJO South S-ltr:1MW Sttcct 
Pont.IX, Q;wcbnd County, Mlehlf:;iln 

M.;ireh 3l. 2018 

T.:)TA. 

Tot.JI St:ltt' lrocrcmcnt.,I Rc\fCnUC' 110,702 1,.a33,46!) 
~t.)l('0rowf'f•("ldRcdi:-.,f'l0P"fll"t\t f und l5mo.of~LT) .J . .).~ S U:?,l!l,,; 

~T11tA-all.lblctforRclmbut'K'mcnt 9G,t&4 1,G04,za5 

Toul LoQI lni:re~c.11 Revenue 146,106 2.419,ISO 
llAA AdM,,.. •.:m1\/C' f'-""' ttt.l: fe-e") S..000 90,000 
Loe.ii T1R Awlbbk: ro, Rc-lmbunomc:nt $ 141.lOG 2..329,.asa 

DEVELOPER 
OEVElOPCR R~t~nt 00/ot,u 
NET,AYMCNTTOOE'IIUOPCR _____ _ _______ 

~C!:n:.E,~~D.~~to; I 
StittP T.u Relmb,ur$f'ment I 
U>c.Jl T.u Rt'lmbul"'..l'fflCn1 I 
Total MSF RelmbU~ment Ba~n~ I 

AVA.CI.ABW TIR (AFT'CR Dewloper Rclm~ment) 

="" '"' I 
Stitt' TaK RelmWl""~~n1 I 
t.oul T.u Rt'lmburR>TMnt I 
Toof MD(.Q Rc-lmbutsemt-nt Bal.mce I 

AVAlfAl1LC TIR (AFTU Ortvrlor,,tt ~(mt,t,m,rmc,r) 

.~Com I 
I.DOI f,1.X Rt'lmburst"m<'flt 

Tot:il L.oc.1,I Oni'v Reimbursement Satancc I 

loi;aJ AMu.ol Dwc)opc,, 1'r.l~l'M!tnctnt 

AVAILABLE TTfl (AFTER ~loper !k~IMltt) 

·~ , ,u~u 

LBR10ePOstt:s.• s 
Stolte T.:u: C-lpture I s 
\.oQIT.lX G>PtV/'1!' s 
T~ILBRF~ I S 

Up to five- ye-,1r: of c.iptu,c for LaRF Ocpo~ts.iftert'l 
Per Bt:,d H.lMC-n. M.;ir,agt-r, OCBRA.. tt'IC OC9RA ~.x de 

t=lnlstratlve ~ l!.3 FlxPd Ftt of ~ .000.00, 

237.,70 
97.141 

140,730 
S69.47C 

s 
s _ _:~~-

s 2.JSU!IS 
s 9Gl,l28 

s L391.267 

s · I 

s 712,D<S 

s 2903'7 
s <Zum 
s · I 

s . / 

s · / 

s 3,DG,4,'60 

s 

s as,,.i;76 

s lSS,217 

s 514,1S7 

s 169,41' 

TABLE4 

July 31, 2018 



Attachment D 

Phase II ESA Report with a Descriptio ~ · .' Conditions 
And 

BEA Determination of "facility" Status 



J'W LL 
< )Nl-- C".OMP1\N',' 
INrlf IIH S()I ll I IO f·l~. 

December 4, 2015 

Adorno Poccinini 
Walbridge 
777 Woodward Avenue, Suite 
Detroit , MI 48226 

Atwell, LLC Project Number: 15002193 

RE: Phase I ESA for the buildin~ and property located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, 
Oakland County, Michigan (subject site) 

Dear Mr. Poccinini, 

Atwell, LLC is pleased to submit its report on tbe Phase J Environmental Site Assessment 
conducted at the above referenced site. 

The project objective was to perform a specified scope of research, evaluate the data, and render 
a professional opinion on environmental conditions at the site. The information and opinions 
included in this report are exclusively for the use of Walbridge and Oakland County. 

We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you on this project. Should you have any 
quest10ns or desire further information, please contact us at (248) 447-2000. 

Sincerely, 
ATWELL, LLC 

Allan R. Longyear, PG 
Project Manager 

1"'' t( •. ,, . "> 1i,.u . · u t1• U>o. ')..-:,,u , ,t"•,i 1 u -ieo,i. lt , rn o1.a1 ,oou 1 .,, ,t tJt 114/ ,oo, 
WN ..-.a t .n !JI O,lp.(")11'\ 



(\ATWELL 

PHASE I ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT REPORT 
140 SOUTH SAGINAW STREET 

PONTIAC, Ml 48342 

Prepared for 

WALBRIDGE 
ADORNO POCCININI 

777 WOODWARD AVENUE, SUITE 
DETROIT, Ml 48226 

DECEMBER 04, 2015 



Table of Contents 

1.0 General Information ... , ... , ........................................................................................................ 1 

2.0 Executive Summary ................................................................................................................. 3 

Current Use of Property ......................... , .. ,, ......................................................... , ... , .................... 3 

Database/Records Revie,v ............................................................................................................. 3 

HistoricaJ/Docu1nent Revie,v ......................................................................................................... 4 

Site Reconnaissance Findings ....................................................................................................... 4 

Otl1er Environmental Co11side1·atio11s .......................................................................................... 5 

Findings and Opinions ................................................................................................................... 5 

Conclusions ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

Suggested Actions to Address Business Environmental Risk ..................................................... 5 

Disclaimer ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

3.0 Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 6 

3.1 Purpose .......•................................................................................•...........•..•............... , .. ,, .. , •...... 6 

3.2 Scope of Worlc ........................................................................................................................... 6 

3.3 Significant Assu1nptions .......................................................................................................... 7 

3.4 Limitations and Exceptions ..................................................................................................... 7 

3.5 Deviations From tl1e ASTM Standard ................................................................................... 7 

3.6 Special Terms and Co11ditions ................................................................................................. 8 

3.7 Reliance ..................................................................................................................................... 8 

4.0 Site Desc1·iption ........................................................................................................................ 8 

4.1 Location and Legal Description ...........................•...•.................•...........•.......•..................•..... 8 

4.2 Site and Vici11ity Description ................................................................................................... 8 

4.3 Current Use of Property .......................................................................................................... 8 

4.4 Description of Structures and Other In1provements ............................................................ 8 

4.5 Current Adjoining Property Information .............................................................................. 9 

5.0 User Provided Information ..................................................................................................... 9 

5.1 Title Records ............................................................................................................................. 9 

5.2 Environmental Liens and Activity/Use Limitations .............................................................. 9 

5.3 Specialized Knowledge ............................................................................................................ 9 

5.4 Purchase Price and Market Value Con1pal'ison .................................................................... 9 

5.5 Valuation Reduction for Environ1nental Issues ..................................................................... 9 

5.6 Owner, Property Manager, and Occupant Information ....................................................... 9 

5.7 Reason For Performing Phase 1 .............................................................................................. 9 

6.0 Records Revie,v ........................................................................................................................ 9 

6.1 Standal'd Environmental Reco1·ds Sources ............................................................................ 9 

6.2 Additional Environmental Record Sources ......................................................................... 12 

6.3 Physical Setting Sources ........................................................................................................ 13 

6.4 Historical Use Information ..............................................................................•..................... 13 

Atwell,LLC 
15002193 



Table of Contents 

6.4.l Historical Summaiy .............................................................................................................. 13 

6.4.2 City Directories ..................................................................................................................... 14 

6.4.3 Aerial Photos ......................................................................................................................... 14 

6.4.4 Sanborn/Historical Maps ...................................................................................................... 15 

6.4.5 Other Environmental Reports ............................................................................................... 15 

7.0 Site Reconnaissance ................................................. , ............................ , .. ,, ............................ 16 

7.1 Metl1odology and Limiting Co11ditions ................................................................................ 16 

7.2 General Site Setting ............................................................................................................... 16 

7.3 Site Visit Findings ........................................................................................ ,, ........................ 16 

7.3.l Hazardous Substances ........................................................................................................... 16 

7.3.2 Petroleum Products ............................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.3 USTs ..................................................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.4 ASTs ...................................................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.5 Other Suspect Containers ...................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.6 Equipment Likely to Contain PCBs ...................................................................................... 17 

7.3.7 Staining/Corrosion ................................................................................................................ 17 

7.3.8 Discharge Features ................................................................................................................ 18 

7.3.9 Pits, Ponds, And Lagoons ..................................................................................................... 18 

7.3.10 Solid Waste Dumping/Landfills .......................................................................................... 18 

7.3 .11 Stained Soil/Stressed Vegetation ......................................................................................... 18 

7.3.12 Wells .................................................................................................................................... 18 

8,0 lnterviews ................................................................................................................................ 18 

9.0 Otl1er Environrnental Consideratio11s .................................................................................. 18 

9.1 Controlled Substances ........................................................................................................... 18 

9.2 Continuing Obligations ...................... , .................................................................................. 19 

9.3 Asbestos-Containing Materials ............................................................................................. 19 

9.4 Lead--Based Paint ................................................................................................................... 19 

9.5 Radon ...................................................................................................................................... 19 

9.6 Wetlands .................................................................................................................................. 19 

9.7 Mold Evaluation ..................................................................................................................... 19 

9.8 Items of Non-Compliance ...................................................................................................... 19 

9.9 Client-Specific Items ............... , .............................................................................................. 19 

10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusions ............................................................................. 19 

10.1 Report Findings and Opinions ...................................................... , ........ , ............. , .............. 19 

10.2 Conclusions ........................................................................................................................... 21 

Atwell,LLC 

15002193 



Table of Contents 

Appendices 
Appe11dix A: References ...................................................................... ,, ...................................... 22 
Appendix B: Qualificatio11s .•• , ... , ................................................................... ,, ............................ 24 

Appendix C: Figures .................................................................................. ,,,, .............................. 27 

Appe11dix D: Photograplts ..................................... , ....... , ............................................................. 30 

Appendix E: User Provided Information ................................................................................... 41 

Appendix F: Historical Research Docuntentation .................................................................... 45 

Appendix G: Regulatory Records Documentation ................................................................... 67 

Appendix H: Records Documentation ..................................................................................... 247 

Appendix I: Interview Documentation ...................................................................................• 268 

Appendix J: Miscellaneous Infor1nation .................................................................................. 270 

Atwcll,LLC 
15002193 



1.0 General Information 

Project Information: 
Pontiac, Michigan - Phase I ESA 
15002193 

Consultant Information: 
Atwell,LLC 
Two Towne Square 
Southfield, MI 48076 
Phone: 248-447-2000 
Fax: 248-447-2001 
E-mail Add1·ess: ALongyear@atwell-group.com 
Inspection Date: 11/18/2015 
Report Date: 12/04/2015 

Site Assessor: 

Senior Reviewer: 

General Notes: 

Rebecca M. Harbison 
Environmental Consultant 

Allan R. Longyear, PG 
Project Manager 

Site Information: 
Pontiac Place 
140 South Saginaw Sh·eet 
Pontiac, MI 48342 
County: Oakland 

County 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Latitude, Longitude: 42.632800, -83 .291100 
Site Access Contact: NI A 

Client Information: 
Walbndge 
Adorno Poccinini 
777 Woodward Avenue, Suite 
Detroit , MI 48226 

Atwell conducted the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) in order to provide an 
independent, professional opinion of the possible presence of Recognized Environmental Conditions 
(RECs) or other possible environmental concerns (if any) associated with the subject site as part of 
environmental due diligence. 

An REC is defined as the presence or likely presence of any hazardous substance or petroleum 
products in, on, or at a property: (1) due to any release to the environment; (2) under conditions 
mdicative of a release to the environment; or (3) or under conditions that pose a material threat of a 
future release to the environment. 

A Controlled REC (CREC) is defined as an REC resulting from a past release of hazardous substances 
or peh·oleum products that has been addressed to the satisfaction of the applicable regulatory authority, 
with hazardous substances or petroleum products allowed to remain in place subject to the 
implementation of required controls. 

A Historical REC (HREC) is defined as a past release of any hazardous substances or petroleum 
products that has occ1med m connection with the property and has been addressed to the satisfaction of 
the applicable regulatory authority, without subjecting the property to any required controls. 

In accordance with the United States Environmental Protection Agency, 40 Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 312, "All Appropriate Inquity" (AAI), Atwell is providing the following 
Environmental Professional (EP) declarations. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page I o/797 



EP Certification: 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbl'idge 

I declare that, to the best of my professional knowledge and belief, I meet the definition of 
Environmental Professional as defined in 312.10 of this part. 

/IJ//i---
Allan R. Longyear, PG - Project Manager 

AAI Certification: 

I have the specific qualifications based on education, training, and experience to assess a property of 
the nature, history, and setting of the subject property. I have developed and performed the all 
appropriate inquines in conformance with the standards and practices set fo1ih in 40 CPR Part 312. 

/IJ//i--

Atwell. LLC 
15002193 

Allan R. Longyear, PG - Project Manager 

Page2of797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

2.0 Executive Summary 
Current Use of Property 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed the subject site to be comprised of approximately 
1.3-acres of developed land located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. The subject site 
includes one, approximately 145,000-square foot, seven sto1y commercial office building situated in 
the central _p01t10n of the prope1ty, with the remaining portions consisting of asphalt covered parking 
areas and limited maintained landscaping. The strncture consists of office space around the perimeter 
of each floor, with the core of the building housins the restrooms, stailwells, elevators, and mechanical 
rooms. The structure also has a full basement, which houses most of the mechanical equipment as well 
additional office space. Dming the site inspection, Atwell observed the subject site to be vacant of 
occupants and operations. The interior of the subject building was observed to be in poor condition, 
with significant water intrnsion and mold growth visible in the basement, sixth floor, and seventh floor. 

Database/Records Review 

Atwell retained Environmental Data Resources (EDR) of Shelton, Connecticut, to review federal, 
tribal, state and EDR proprietary records related to the subject site and nearby prope1ties within the 
American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) approximate minimal search radius. Atwell's 
evaluation of RECs includes circumstances where migration of hazardous substances or petroleum 
products in solid or liquid form at the surface or subsurface (including vapors) could reach the subject 
site. 

Atwell, llC 
15002193 

• The EDR report identified RCRA-Non Generator, Facility Index Systems (FINDS), Baseline 
Environmental Assessment (BEA), MI Invent01y, and Waste Data System (WDS) listings 
associated with the subject site. EDR identified numerous database listings associated with the 
subject site. According to the rep01t, the subject site was a registered RCRA facility from 1991 
through 2005 and no regulatory violations have been reported to date. Records indicate that two 
BEA reports were prepared for the subject site in 2005 and 2008. A BEA is completed for 
contaminated prope1ty 111 Michigan to limit liability for new owners. Atwell submitted a records 
request to the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) to review the BEA 
reports and determined that elevated levels of volatile organic compounds (VO Cs) and metals 
were identified in the subject site soils and groundwater at concentrations exceeding applicable 
MDEQ criteria. The contamination is associated with historical filling station and automobile 
service OJ?erations that occurred on the northeast p01tion of the subject site in the 1930s through 
1950s. It 1s the opinion of the EP that the documented contamination at the subject site represents 
an REC. 

• EDR also identified 22 sites of known or suspect contamination located within one-qua1ter mile 
of the subject site. Based on a review of the EDR report, Atwell determined that these sites have 
no rep01ted violations or releases, achieved MDEQ approved closure, are located hydraulically 
down or cross gradient to the subject site, or are not located within close proximity (i.e., 
one-eighth mile) of the subject site. Therefore, it is the opinion of the EP that the nearby sites do 
not represent RECs. 

• In addition, Atwell reviewed the EDR Orphan Summaiy (list of sites with inadequate address 
information) and did not identify any sites of known or suspect contamination located within 
one-quarter mile of the subject site. 

• Atwell conducted a preliminaiy vapor migration assessment of the property. The purpose of this 
assessment was to determine any potential risk related to volatile constituents associated with 
known soil or groundwater contamination in close proximity to the site buildin$ that may 
adversely impact indoor ail- quality. Based on a review of subsurface investigation reports 
completed for the subject site indicating elevated levels of VOCs in the groundwater at the 

Page3of797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, Ml 
Walbl"idge 

2.0 Executive Summary {continued) 
Database/Records Review ( continued) 

subject site, it is the opinion of the EP that there is a moderate potential for vapor migration 
concerns to be present on the subject site. 

Historical/Document Review 

Based on information gathered during the site investi!lation and a review of aerial photographs, fire 
insurance maps, historical address indexes and municipal records, Atwell concluded that the subject 
site has been developed with the cul'J'ent commercial office building since 1972. Prior to 1972, the 
subject site was developed with multiple strnctures (including filling stations, automobile repair 
businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at least 1888 (as depicted in the Sanborn 
Maps). Several subsurface investigations (identified below) have been completed by other consultants 
to address the historical filling station operations at the subject site and north adjoining property. 
Review of previous subsurface investigation reports and extensive ground penetrating radar (GPR) 
studies indicates that the historical on-site USTs were likely removed as part of site redevelopment 
activities. 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the orportunity to review several previous 
environmental reports completed for the subject site, including: 1) BEA completed by McDowell & 
Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA complete by LFR Levme Fricke (LFR), dated 
November 11, 2005; Phase II Subsurface Investigation rep01t completed by Hillman Environmental 
Group, LLC (Hillman), dated October 6, 2004. RECs identified for the subject site by other consultants 
include: (1) historical gas station and automobile service/repair operations on the n01them and eastern 
portions of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (2) historical battery shop, auto repair shop, and 
paint/linoleum store on the eastern po1tion of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (3) a 
historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted 
at the east adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map; and ( 4) elevated levels of VOCs and metals 
identified in soil and groundwater at concentrations exceedrng applicable criteria following the 
completion of several subsurface investigations. Based on the demonstrated soil and groundwater 
contamination, the subject site qualifies as a "facility" as defmed in Part 201 of the Natural Resources 
and Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), 1994. It is the opinion of the EP that the documented 
contamination at the subject site represents an REC.In Atwell's professional opinion, the testing 
completed during the previous subsurface investigations did not mclude a full list of parameters 
typically associated with automobile service/repair shop operations [i.e., solvents, polynuclear aromatic 
hydrocarbons (PNAs)] at each soil boring location; thus did not adequately address the historical uses 
of the subject site. 

Site Reconnaissance Findings 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell evaluated the subject site for the potential presence of 
Recognized Environmental Conditions as defined by ASTM Designation: E 1527-13. 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed the following REC: 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 

• Atwell inspected the subject site for the presence of oil-cooled electrical equipment that may 
contain polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed 
several electrical transfo1mers and two elevator mechanical units stored within concrete vaults in 
the subject building's basement. The vaults were filled with water and the transfo1mers were 
overturned and appeared to be in various stages of disrepair. Based on the a11e of the stmcture 
(repo1tedly constructed in 1972), the possibility exists for the electrical eqmpment to contain 
PCBs. Based on the observed condition of the equipment, it is likely that the electrical equipment 
has leaked onto the nearby concrete surfaces; thus representing an REC. 

Page 4 o/797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

2.0 Executive Summary (continued) 
Site Reconnaissance Findings ( continued) 

In addition, Atwell identified several hundred fluorescent lighting bulbs stored within a basement 
office of the subject building during the site reconnaissance. Fluorescent bulbs often contain hazardous 
levels ofmercmy or other metals. If these bulbs are not recycled, they must be tested to verify that they 
are not hazardous waste before disposal as solid waste. If the bulbs are recycled, the waste 
characterization requirements would not apply. Atwell recommends that all fluorescent bulbs and 
ballasts (if any) be properly disposed or recycled in accordance with State and Federal regulations. 

Other Environmental Considerations 

No evaluation for other environmental considerations was conducted during the course of this Phase I 
ESA. 

Findings and Opinions 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell identified and evaluated several potential environmental 
concerns and it is the opinion of the EP that the following RECs have been identified for the subject 
site: 

• The documented soil and groundwater contamination at the subject site; and 

• The potential impact to the subject site resources from leaking electrical equipment in the subject 
building basement. 

Conclusions 

Atwell has performed this Phase I ESA in general conformance with the scope and limitations of 
ASTM Practice El527-13 and AAI specifications for the building and property located at 140 South 
Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. During the course of this Phase I ESA, the EP identified RECs 
associated with the subject site as previously identified. Therefore, Atwell recommends that a Limited 
Phase II Subsurface Investigation be conducted to determine the nature, extent and materiality of the 
RECs. In addition, Atwell recommends that new owners prepare a Baseline Environmental Assessment 
within 45 days of purchase. 

Suggested Actions to Address Business Environmental Risk 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include providing suggested actions to address 
business environmental risk. 

Disclaimer 

This report was prepared solely for the benefit of Walbridge and Oakland County and no other party or 
entity shall have any claim against Atwell due to the performance or nonperformance of the services 
presented herein. Only Walbridge and Oakland County may rely upon this report for the sole purpose 
of obtaining financing, obtaining refinancing, acquisition of the subJect site, lease of the subject site, or 
sale of the subject site. Any other parties seeking reliance upon this report must obtain Atwell's prior 
written approval. Atwell specifically renounces any and all claims by pmties asserting a third party 
beneficiaiy status. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page5of797 



3.0 Introduction 
3.1 Purpose 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Atwell conducted the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) in order to provide an 
independent, professional opinion of the possible presence of Recognized Environmental Conditions 
(RECs) or other possible environmental concerns (if any) associated with the subject site as part of 
environmental due diligence. As defined in American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) 
Designation: E 1527-13, the term Recognized Environmental Conditions means "the presence or likely 
presence of any hazardous substance or petroleum products in, on, or at a property: (I) due to any 
release to the environment; (2) under conditions indicative of a release to the environment; or (3) or 
under conditions that pose a material threat of a future release to the environment". 

Performance of the Phase I ESA was intended to reduce, but not eliminate, uncertainty regarding the 
existence of Recognized Environmental Conditions in connection with the subject site. 

3.2 Scope of Work 

Atwell performed the Phase I ESA while using standards typically adhered to by other environmental 
consultmg professionals. Atwell adheres to such professional standards in an effort to maintain 
innocent landowner defense options for sellers, bona fide prospective purchasers, lenders and/or 
contiguous property owners under guidelines set forth in the Federal Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA). The Phase I ESA was performed to meet the 
standard of "All Appropriate Inquiry" (AAI) as promulgated by the United States Environmental 
Protection Agency (USEPA) to qualify for the CERCLA innocent landowner defenses. 

The Phase I ESA was conducted in general confmmance with the ASTM Designation: E 1527-13, 
Standard Practice For Conducting Environmental Site Assessments and 40 Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 312, AAI. 

This Phase I ESA was performed to evaluate environmental risk and does not include any investigation 
involving business envITonmental risks. 

The Scope of Work for the Phase I ESA included: 

A visual inspection of the subject site on November 18, 2015, and all improvements thereon to evaluate 
general environmental conditions; 

Establishing the present and past land uses at and adjacent to the site through the review of: (I) 
historical aerial photographs; (2) city directories; (3) the local topographic map; (4) local 
Assessment/Building Department/Tax records; ( 5) historical Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps, if available; 
( 6) the local Fire Department, and (7) interviews with present and past owners, operators and/or 
occupants, when available; 

A review and evaluation of the following databases of federal, tribal, state, and local known or 
suspected sites of environmental contamination within the applicable ASTM recommended distance 
from the subject site, including but not limited to: ( 1) The United States Environmental Protection 
Agency's (USEP A's) National Priority List (NPL) records including, current NPL sites, proposed NPL 
sites, de-listed NPL sites and NPL recovery (Superfund Liens) sites; (2) The USEPA's Comprehensive 
Enviromnental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA) list of known or suspected 
hazardous waste sites; (3) The USEPA's Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 
Liability Information System (CERCLIS)-No Fmiher Remedial Action Planned (NFRAP) list of 
known or suspected hazardous waste sites; ( 4) The USEP A's Resource Conservation Recovery Act 
(RCRA) Corrective Action Report (CORRACTS) list for facilities that produce small quantities, large 
quantities, or transpmi, store, or dispose (TSD) of hazardous materials that are subject to corrective 
action under RCRA; (5) The USEPA's Resource Conservation Recovery Info1mation System (RCRIS) 
Non-CORRACTS notifier list for facilities that generate small quantities, large quantities, or TSD of 

Atwell, LLC 
/5002193 Page6of797 



3.0 Introduction (continued) 
3.2 Scope of Work (continued) 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

hazardous materials; (6) The USEPA's Emergency Response Notification System (ERNS) list for 
reported releases of oil and hazardous substances; (7) USEP A's listin$ of sites with activity use 
limitations (AUL), engineering controls (US Eng. Controls), or sites with mstitutional controls in place 
(US Inst. Controls); (8) USEPA's listing ofBrownfields sites; (9) state and tribal-equivalent, priontized 
listing of known sites of environmental contamination [State Hazardous Waste Sites (SHWS)]; (10) 
state and tribal-equivalent listing of NPL sites; (11) state and tribal-equivalent listing of CERCLA 
sites; (12) state and tribal-equivalent listing of cwTent and formerly licensed and/or unlicensed landfill 
and disposal facilities (SWF/LF); (13) state and tribal-equivalent listing of Leaking Underground 
Storage Tank (LUST) sites; (14) state and tribal-equivalent listin$ of Re~istered Aboveground or 
Underground Storage Tanks (AST/UST); (15) state and tribal-eqmvalent listing of sites subject to 
engineering controls (Eng Controls); (16) state and tribal-equivalent listing of sites which are subject to 
institutional controls (Inst Controls); (17) state and tribal-equivalent listing of Voluntary Clean-up 
Sites (VCP); (18) state and tribal-equivalent listing of sites listmg of Brownfield sites; (19) proprietaiy 
and state-specific environmental database sites within one-quarter mile of the subject site, and 

Atwell has also provided a list of references used to complete the project (Appendix A). 

The Phase I ESA was conducted between the period of November 13, 2015 to December 4, 2015. 

This Phase I ESA was completed by Ms. Rebecca M. Harbison, Environmental Consultant of Atwell, 
under the supervision of Mr. Allan R. Lonwear, Project Manager and Environmental Professional 
(EP). The EP's involvement includes the project planning; supe1vision; reviewing and interpreting all 
data collected; formation of findings and opinions; report review, and recommendations for any fmther 
investigations, if warranted. Personnel resumes are included in Appendix B. 

3.3 Significant Assumptions 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, no significant assumptions were made. 

3 .4 Limitations and Exceptions 

During the site reconnaissance, interior visual observations were limited due to the lack of power to the 
subject site. These $aps, conditions and/or absences of infonnation represent data failure in records 
pertaining to the subject site. 

The information obtained from external sources, to the extent it was relied upon to form Atwell's 
opinion about the environmental condition of the site, was assumed to be complete and correct. Atwell 
cannot be responsible for the quality and content of inf01mation from these sources. However, based on 
a review of readily available and reasonably ascertainable information, Atwell concluded that these 
limitations/data gaps should not materially limit the reliability of the report and that a thorough 
documentation of the subject site's environmental condition has been conducted. 

3.5 Deviations From the ASTM Standard 

No deviations from the recommended scope of ASTM Standard E 1527-13 or AAI were perfonned as 
part of this Phase I ESA with the exception of any additions noted in Detailed Scope of Services or any 
additional items addressed in Section 9.0 (Other Environmental Considerations). 

Atwell, LLC 
/5002193 Page Jo/797 



3.0 Introduction (continued) 
3.6 Special Terms and Conditions 

140 South Saginaw Stl'eet 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Authorization to perform this assessment was given by the client on November 13, 2015. lnstrnctions 
as to the location of the property, access, and an explanation of the property and facilities to be 
assessed were provided by Mr. Adorno Piccinini of Walbridge. 

3.7 Reliance 

Atwell stipulates that, as of the date of the report, the information and opinions included in this Phase I 
ESA may be used and relied upon by Walbridge and Oakland County. 

4.0 Site Description 
4.1 Location and Legal Description 

The subject site is located in the northeast quarter of Section 32, Township 3 North, Range 10 East, in 
the City of Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan. A legal description (Parcel Number 
64-14-32-235-001) for the subject site is presented in Appendix H. The location of the subject site is 
presented on the Site Location Map in Figure 1 (Appendix C). 

4.2 Site and Vicinity Description 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell obse1ved the subject site to be comprised of approximately 
1.3-acres of developed land located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. The subject site 
includes one, approximately 145,000-square foot, seven sto1y commercial office building situated in 
the central porhon of the property, with the remaining pmtions consisting of asphalt covered parking 
areas and limited maintained landscaping. The building consists of office space around the perimeter of 
each floor, with the core of the building housing the restrooms, stahwells, elevators, and mechanical 
rooms. The structure also has a full basement, which houses most of the mechanical e~uipment as well 
additional office space. The area surrounding the site is primarily commercial. The Site Plan View is 
included as Figure 2 (Appendix C). 

4.3 Current Use of Prope1ty 

During the site inspection, Atwell observed the subject site to be vacant of occupants and operations. 
The interior of the subject building was obse1ved to be in poor condition, with significant water 
intrusion and mold growth visible in the basement, sixth floor, and seventh floor. 

4.4 Description of Structures and Other Improvements 

With the exception of the subject building, paved parking areas, and public utilities, no other 
improvements are located on the subject site. Refer to Section 6.2 for fu1ther mformation. 

Buildim! Name I Bnildin2 Use I# of Stories IFootol'int lso. ftl I Heat Source 
140 South Sa2maw I Commercial 17 olus basement 1~145.000 I Natural Gas 
General Construction . 

The suoJect building is constructed of a concrete facade over steel frammg, with composite steel-concrete 
floors, aluminum frame windows, and aluminum & steel door assemblies. Interior fimshes were generally 
obse1ved to be in poor condition (i.e., water damaged or othe1wise destroyed) and include: carpet, 
ceramic tile, and laminate flooring; d1ywall, tile, and CMU block walls; and acoustic tile and drywall 
ceilin!!s. 

Atwell. LLC 
15002193 Page8of797 



4.0 Site Description (continued) 
4.5 Current Adjoining Property Information 

140 South Saginaw Skeet 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

The subject site is bordered to the north by West Judson Street, with the Phoenix Center (a mutli-tenant 
commercial office building and parking structure) beyond; to the east by South Saginaw Street, with 
First United Methodist Church beyond; to the south by Jackson Street, with a vacant lot beyond; and to 
the west by Woodward Avenue, with the Amtrak Train Station and railway beyond. During the site 
reconnaissance, Atwell did not observe any RECs associated with the adjacent properties. 

5.0 User Provided Information 
5 .1 Title Records 

Atwell was provided limited title records for the subject site durini the course of this Phase I ESA, 
which indicated that the current property owner for the subject site 1s Oakland County. Please refer to 
Section 6.2 for current and histoncal ownership/use of the subject site. 

5.2 Environmental Liens and Activity/Use Limitations 

The client/user indicated that they had no knowledge of any environmental liens or activity/use 
limitations associated with the subject site. 

5.3 Specialized Knowledge 

No specialized knowledge in connection with the cmrnnt or historical use of the subject site, facility 
operations or adjacent prope1ties was identified by the user/client. 

5.4 Purchase Price and Market Value Comparison 

The user/client stated that the purchase price appears to be lower than the fair market value, based on 
the prope1ty being purchased following a foreclosure. 

5.5 Valuation Reduction for Environmental Issues 

No environmental issues were identified by the user/client that could result in prope1ty value reduction. 

5.6 Owner, Property Manager, and Occupant Information 

No other pertinent information in connection with the subject site was provided by the owner, the 
prope1ty manager or the occupant. 

5.7 Reason For Performing Phase I 

The Phase I ESA is being conducted for Walbridge as pa1t of environmental due diligence prior to 
property transfer. The User Provided Information questionnaire is included in Appendix E. 

6.0 Records Review 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources 

Atwell retained EDR of Shelton, Connecticut, to review federal, tribal, state and EDR proprietaiy 
records related to the subject site and nearby properties within the ASTM approximate mmimum 
search radius (as seen on the table below). However, Atwell typically reviews local, state, tribal or 
federal database records of those sites of known environmental contamination (i.e., SHWS, LUST, 

A/well, LLC 

15002193 Page 9of797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources (continued) 

CERCLIS, and NPL sites) within a one-qua1ier mile radius of the subject site. Atwell considers sites 
within this specified search radius as having the most potential to impact the subject site. Also, Atwell 
typically reviews local, state, tribal or federal database records of those sites of suspected 
environmental contamination (i.e., UST, Indian UST and RCRA generator sites), which adjoin the 
subject site, or, in the professional opinion of Atwell, are of such nature and proximity to the subject 
site to represent RECs. Atwell's evaluation of RECs includes circumstances where migration of 
hazardous substances or petroleum products in solid or liquid form at the surface or subsurface 
(including vapors) could reach the subject site. 

• The EDR rep01i identified RCRA-NonGen, Facility Index Systems (FINDS), BEA, MI 
Inventmy, and Waste Data System (WDS) listings associated with the subject site. According to 
the repmi, the subject site was a registered RCRA facility from 1991 through 2005 and no 
regulatory violations have been reported to date. Records indicate that two BEA reports were 
prepared for the subject site in 2005 and 2008. A BEA is completed for contaminated property in 
Michigan to limit liability for new owners. Atwell submitted a records request to the MDEQ to 
review the BEA reports and determined that elevated levels of volatile organic compounds 
(VOCs) and metals were identified in the subject site soils and groundwater at concentrations 
exceedmg applicable MDEQ criteria. The contamination is associated with historical filling 
station and automobile service operations that occurred on the nmiheast portion of the subject site 
in the 1930s through 1950s, as discussed in Section 6.4.2 and 6.4.4. It is the opinion of the EP 
that the documented contamination at the subject site represents an REC. Previous environmental 
reports are completed for the subject site discussed in further detail in Section 6.4.5. 

• EDR also identified 22 sites of known or suspect contamination located within one-qua1ier mile 
of the subject site, with listings that include: UST, LUST, RCRA-CESQG, RCRA-NonGen, MI 
Inventmy, BEA, US Brownfields, EDR US Historical Auto Station (EDR US Hist Auto), EDR 
US Historical Cleaners (EDR US Hist Clean), FINDS, and WDS. Based on a review of the EDR 
report, Atwell determined that a majority of the sites have no reported violations or releases, 
achieved Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) approved closure, are located 
hydraulically down or cross gradient to the subject site, or are not located within close proximity 
(i.e., one-eighth mile) of the subject site. Therefore, it is the opinion of the EP that a majority of 
the sites do not represent RECs. The remaining sites are discussed in further detail below. 

• In addition, Atwell reviewed the EDR Orphan Summa1y (list of sites with inadequate address 
infomiation) and did not identify any sites of known or suspect contamination located within 
one-quarter mile of the subject site. 

• Atwell conducted a preliminary vapor migration assessment of the property. The purpose of this 
assessment was to determine any potential risk related to volatile constituents associated with 
known soil or groundwater contamination in close proximity to the site building that may 
adversely impact indoor air quality. Based on a review of subsurface investigation rep01is 
completed for the subject site indicating elevated levels of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in 
the groundwater at the subject site, it is the opinion of the EP that there is a moderate potential for 
vapor migration concerns to be present on the subject site. Previous environmental repo1is 
completed for the subject site are discussed in Section 6.4.5. 

The EDR Radius Report with GeoCheck Report is included in Appendix G. 

Map Findings Summary 

Database 

Atwell, LLC 

/5002193 

T1uget 
Property 

_Search_ 
Distance 
(Miles) 

<1/8 1/8 -1/4 1/4 -1/2 1/2-1 >I Total 
Plotted 

Page JO o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources (continued) 

NPL 
CERCLIS 
CERCLIS-NFRAP 
CORRACTS 
RCRA-TSDF 
RCRA-Li•G 
RCRA-StiG 
RCRA-CESuG 
US ENG CONTROLS 
US INST CONTROL 
ERNS 
US BROWNFIELDS 
FINDS X 
EDR US Hist Auto Stat 
RCRA NonGen I NLR X 
SHWS 
SWF/LF 
LUST 
UST 
AST 
AUL 
BROWNFIELDS 
BROWNFIELDS 2 
SWRCY 
BEA X 
INVENTORY X 
PART 201 
WDS X 
INDIAN LUST 
INDIAN UST 
INDIANVCP 
INDIA,,, ODI 
INDIAN RESERV 
EDRMGP 

Site Name: 
Databases: 
Address: 

VACANTLOT 
WDS, LUST, UST 
147 S SAGINAW 

I 
0.5 
0.5 
I 

0.5 
0.25 
0.25 
0.25 
0.5 
0.5 
TP 
0.5 
TP 

0.125 
0.25 

I 
0.5 
0.5 

0.25 
0.25 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
1 

TP 
0.5 

0.25 
0.5 
0.5 
I 
1 

Distance: 
Direction: 

Adjoining beyond South Saginaw 
Notiheast 

Elevation: Lower 

0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
2 0 
0 0 
0 0 

NR NR 
0 1 

NR NR 
1 NR 
5 4 
0 0 
0 0 
4 2 
3 2 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
1 5 
7 10 
I 0 

NR NR 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
I 0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

NR 
NR 
NR 
0 
0 

NR 
7 

NR 
NR 
NR 
0 
0 
9 

NR 
NR 
3 
0 
0 
I 
5 
14 
1 

NR 
0 

NR 
0 
0 
0 
0 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

0 NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 

I NR 1 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 2 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 8 
NR NR 1 
NR NR 1 
NR NR 10 
0 NR 0 

NR NR 0 
NR NR 15 
NR NR 5 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 3 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR I 
NR NR 12 
NR NR 32 

1 NR 3 
NR NR 1 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
0 NR 0 
0 NR I 

Comments: According to the rep011, the southeast adjacent prope11y (147 South Saginaw Street) is 
listed in the UST, LUST, RCRA-NonGen, FINDS, and WDS databases. Records indicate 
that two, 550-gallon USTs of unknown contents were removed from the property in March 
1998. A release (Leak No. C-0824-96) was reported from one or both of the USTs in 
October 1996 and achieved unrestricted residential closure status in April 1998. Closure 
status indicates that subsurface investigations/corrective actions have been completed to 
render the contaminants to within applicable MDEQ criteria. Based on this information, it 
is the opinion of the EP that the southeast adjacent propetiy does not represent an REC to 
the subject site. 

Atwell, LLC 
/5002193 Page JI o/797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources (continued) 

Site Name: 
Databases: 
Address: 
Distance: 
Direction: 
Elevation: 
Comments: 

GM TRUCK & BUS EAST 
LUST, WDS 
31 E JUDSON ST 
236-feet 
Northeast 
Lower 
Records indicate that a release (Leak No. C-0677-85) was reported at the northeast 
adjacent property (31 East Judson Street) in November 1988. The release achieved Type B 
closure status in September 1995, which indicates that contaminants were detected above 
laborato1y detection limits but below all applicable MDEQ criteria. There was no 
information (installation/removal dates, capacity, contents) available pertaining to the 
USTs at the northeast adjacent property. Based on the closure status, it is the opinion of the 
EP that the northeast adjacent property does not represent an REC to the subject site. 

6.2 Additional Environmental Record Sources 

Atwell reviewed current and historical files maintained by the City of Pontiac municipal offices for the 
subject site. The review of municipal records was conducted in order to identify possible environmental 
concerns (e.g., suspect building materials, USTs, ASTs, etc.) associated with tfie subject site. Assessing 
Depaitment and Building records indicate that the subject site was fmmerly developed with a one stmy 
batte1y shop owned by L.M Angleton (1923-1926), and developed with other structures owned by John 
Foster (1927-1928), First National Bank (1935-1941), Sam's Unclaimed Freight Store (1942-1945), 
Fields (1948), City of Pontiac Urban Renewal Project (1963), and Telander Redevelopment and 
Construction (1971-1978). 

The City of Pontiac Buildin~ Depaiiment records indicate that the subject site has been occupied by 
multiple tenants since 1983, mcluding" Prndential Life INC (suite 101), Byron and Tre1Tis (smte 201) 
and Wilco Corp show up in 1983. The subject site has been owned by New York Life Insurance 
Company (1981-1986), Lambrecht (1985), Troy Design (1985-1986), Pontiac Place Restaurant (1988), 
TelTice Management (1989), Thrifty Drngs of Pontiac (1991-1993), GM Truck and Bus (1992), Bnc 
Inc. (1997), LDM Tech (1999), Nucorp, Inc. D/B/A Manpower Automotive (1995) and UAW - GM 
Legal Services (2007). There was no information on file pe1iaining to the cmTent/former presence of 
suspected USTs, ASTs, at the subject site. 

Atwell contacted the City of Pontiac municipal offices to determine the zoning specifications for the 
subject site. The subject prope1iy is currently zoned C-2 Downtown. 

Atwell submitted a freedom of information act (FOIA) request to the Waterford Township Fire 
Department for information regarding current or former USTs or ASTs at the subject site, as well as, 
any hazardous material storage, spill response records or commonly known information that may be 
available from fire depaiiment representatives. Fire depa1iment records did not identify any items 
indicative of environmental concern for the subject site. 

The subject site is not cu1Tently connected to any municipal or public utilities. Municipal sewer and 
water is available through the City of Pontiac, and electricity is available tlu·ough DTE. According to 
the online Consumers SIMS database, natmal gas services were connected to the subject site in 1972 
(when the current buildin~ was consh·ucted). No records of past heating sources for the historical 
structures were readily ava!lable. 

The Oakland County Environmental Health Department (OCEHD) maintain environmental files for 
sites throughout Oakland County. The files contain field inspection reports from city inspectors, 
reported environmental problems, results of right-to-know programs and other miscelfaneous data. 
Atwell submitted a FOIA request to the OCEHD for any information regarding water wells, septic 

Atwell, llC 
/5002193 Page 12 o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.2 Additional Environmental Record Sources (continued) 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

systems, hazardous material storage or any commonly known information that may be available from 
OCEHD representatives. OCEHD indicated that no such records are on file for the subject site. 

Atwell reviewed the MDEQ, Remediation and Redevelopment Division (RRD) Perfected Lien List, 
dated September 24, 2015 (most recent version available), regarding any recorded environmental liens 
for the subject site. Atwell did not identify any RRD environmental liens on file for the subject site or 
parent parcel. 

Interview documentation is included in Appendix I. Records documentation is included in Appendix 
H. 

6.3 Physical Setting Sources 

Atwell reviewed the USGS 7.5 Minute Topographic Map of the subject site and smrnunding area. The 
topographic map reviewed was the 1907, 1943, 1952, 1968, 1973, 1983, and 1997 Pontiac, Michigan 
Quadrangle. The subject site and surrounding areas are depicted as densely developed urban land in the 
1907 through I 997 topographic maps. Notable features depicted include a railroad to the west and a 
church property to the east of the subject site. 

Surface drainage at the subject site appears to be generally to the east/nmtheast, towards Clinton River 
and Spring Lake. According to the EDR, Physical Setting Source Summary, no groundwater flow 
direction data has been reported within one quarter mile of the subject site. Unless othe1wise noted, the 
surface drainage flow direction has been inferred from a review of regional topographical data. 
Site-specific conditions may vary due to a variety of factors, including geologic anomaltes, utilities, 
nearby pumping wells (if present), and other developments. 

According to the United States Departtnent of Agriculture (USDA) online Web Soil Survey, the subject 
site soils are primarily composed of urban land. Urban land has been so developed that soil 
characteristics are undefined. However, review of previous subsurface investigations completed for the 
subject site indicate that the site soils are composed of clayey fill soil underlain by silty clay. 

6.4 Historical Use Information 

6.4.1 Historical Summary 

Based on infotmation gathered during the site investiiiation and a review of aerial photographs, fire 
insurance maps, historical address indexes and municipal records, Atwell concluded that the subject 
site has been developed with the current commercial office building since I 972. Prior to 1972, the 
subject site was developed with multiple structures (including filling stations, automobile repair 
businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at least 1888 (as depicted in the Sanborn 
Maps). Several subsurface investigations have been completed by other consultants to address the 
historical automobile service, repair, and filling station operations at the subject site and north 
adjoining prope1ty. Based on a review of analytical results provided in the most recent BEA prepared 
for the subject site, it is the opinion of the EP that the documented contamination in the site soils and 
groundwater represents an REC. Previous environmental reports completed for the subject site are 
discussed in fmther detail in Section 6.4.5. 

Atwell, llC 
15002193 Page 13 o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.4 Historical Use Information ( continued) 

6.4.2 City Directories 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Atwell retained EDR to conduct a review of historical cross-index directories on file for the subject site 
and immediately adjoining properties. Bresser's, Cole's, and Polk's Cross-Index Directories compile 
historical addresses for sites located throughout southeastern Michigan. EDR reviewed the Oakland 
County area indexes in approximately five-year intervals for the time period of 1931 to 2013. The EDR 
City Directmy Abstract is included in Appendix F. 

During the review of historical address directories, Atwell identified the subject site as being occupied 
by the following: Holland Furnace Company, Shell Petroleum Company, Economy Lunch, Nicholas 
Angelo soft drinks, and private residents (1931); Nal'J'in's Service Station, Miller Oil & Gas, Posey & 
Son's auto repairs, Long Geo used cars, Traicoff restaurant (1939); Sucher's Bros filling station, Butch's 
Collision Service/auto repair, GoodY.ear Service Store, Sam's Unclaimed Freight, Milliman used cars 
(1945); Oakland County Gas & Oil, H&H Industrial Sewer Cleaners, Bodner paints and linoleum, 
Milliman used car lot, Pete's Lunch (1952); Oakland County Gas & Oil, Seat Cover Matt, Harold's 
Pain & Linoleum, Owens used cars, Pete's Place restaurant (1957); Oakland County Gas & Oil, Pontiac 
Undercoating Auto, Auto Reconditioning Service, Liquidallon Matt Used Cars, Pete's Place restaurant 
(1962); and general commercial office, restaurants, and physician's offices from 1977 through 2013. 

The north adjoining property was formerly part of the subject site and was listed as being occupied by 
various filling stations (as previously listed above) from 1931 to 1962. The east adjacent property was 
listed as being occupied by various churches from 1931 through 2013, and the west adjacent property 
was either not listed or listed as being occupied by private residents until 2003, when the cunent bus 
and train station was initially listed. The south adjacent prope1ty was listed as being occupied by 
private residents, commercial retail businesses, and auto sales businesses from 1931 to 1962. 

It is the opinion of the EP that city directories have identified the historical automobile se1vice and 
filling station operations at the subject site and nmth adjacent property as occupants of environmental 
concern. 

6.4.3 Aerial Photos 

Atwell reviewed aerial photographs for the years 1940, 1949, 1956, 1963, 1974, 1980, 1990, 1997, 
2000, 2005, 2010 and 2014 on file with the Oakland County One Stop Shop and DTE Aerial 
Photograph Collection. Aerial photographs are included in Appendix F. 

No evidence of landfilling activities, waste dumping, unexplained excavation, or hazardous material 
storage activities were observed during the review of historical aerial photographs. 

The aerial photograph review is as follows: 

The subject site is depicted as developed with small commercial buildings and paved parking areas in 
the 1940 through 1963 aerial photographs. By 1974, the subject site is depicted as developed with the 
current commercial building, and fmther developed with the current parking areas in 1980. 

The surroundings properties appear to consist of small commercial buildings, and residential homes in 
the 1940 to 1963 aerial photographs. In 1974 the land n01th and south of the subject site is undeveloped 
and the property to the east is occupied by two large commercial buildings. By 1990, the adjacent 
properties to the north and east are depicted as developed with large commercial buildings and paved 
parking lots. In the 1997 aerial photograph, the east adjacent property appears developed similar to the 
present. The south adjacent property appears to consist of undeveloped land in the 1974 to 2014 aerial 
photographs. The western adjacent property is depicted as a parkmg lot from 1980 to 2010, and as 
developed with the cunent commercial building in 2014. 

Ahvell, LLC 
15002/93 Page 14 o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.4 Historical Use Information ( continued) 

6.4.4 Sanborn/Historical Maps 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Atwell submitted a request to EDR for copies of available Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps that cover the 
subject site and surrounding adjacent prope1iies. These historical maps may provide information 
pertaining to adverse land uses and the presence and/or location of USTs. EDR concluded that 
Sanborn/Fire Insurance Maps for the years 1888, 1892, 1898, 1903, 1909, 1915, 1919, 1924, 1950, and 
1970 were available for the subject site. The Sanborn Maps are included in Appendix F. 

During the review of the historical fire insurance maps, Atwell identified historical filling station and 
auto repair operations (with five associated USTs) at the subject site and north adjoining property. 
Review of previous subsurface investigation reports and extensive ground penetrating radar (GPR) 
studies indicates that although contamination is present in the site soils and gr0tmdwater, historical 
USTs appear to have been removed as part of site redevelopment activities. Refer to Section 6.4.5 for 
fmiher discussion regarding previous environmental reports completed for the subject site. 

A review of the Sanborn Maps is as follows: 

During the review of the historical fire insurance maps, Atwell identified the subject site as developed 
with as many as four residential dwellings and associated outbuildings in the southern portion of the 
property and a lumber yard in the notiheastern portion of the property from 1888 to 1903. In addition, a 
public roadway (initially named "Rail Road" and later renamed "Chase Street") is depicted traversing 
east-west through the northern portion of the prope1iy from 1888 to 1950. From 1909 to 1915, two 
buildings associated with the lumber yard are depicted overlapping the northern portion of the property, 
and by 1919 only the small building (labeled "auto repair" remains. The 1924 Sanborn Map depicts the 
subject site as developed with a filling station (with two associated USTs) in the northeast potiion of 
the property, two commercial storefronts in the eastern and southwestern portions of the property, a 
residential dwelling in the western potiion of the property, and a battery shop and furnace store in the 
central potiion of the property. By 1950, the subject site is depicted as developed with two filling 
stations (and five associated USTs) in the northeastern pmiion of the prope1iy, an automobile sales and 
service shop in the nmihern potiion of the propetiy, a residential dwelling in the western portion of the 
property, and three commercial storefronts/restaurants in the central and southern potiions of the 
property. The 1970 Sanborn Map depicts the subject site as a vacant, undeveloped lot. 

The east adjacent property (beyond South Saginaw Street) is depicted as developed with a church 
building from 1888 to 1970. The south adjacent property (beyond West Jackson Street) is depicted as 
developed with residential dwellings and a wain elevator company from 1888 to 1950, and as 
undeveloped land in I 970. The west adjoinmg property appears undeveloped until 1898, when 
residential dwellings and outbuildings appear through 1950. The west adjoining property is depicted as 
undeveloped land in 1970. 

6.4.5 Other Environmental Reports 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the opportunity to review several previous 
environmental reports completed for the subject site, including: (I) BEA completed by McDowell & 
Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA completed by LFR Levme Fricke (LFR), dated 
November 11, 2005; and (3) Phase II Subsmface Investigation report completed by Hillman 
Environmental Grouf?, LLC (Hillman), dated October 6, 2004. Copies of all or portions of these 
reports are presented m Appendix J. 

RECs identified for the subject site by other consultants include: (I) historical gas station and 
automobile service/repair operations on the northern and eastern potiions of the property from the 
1920s through 1950s; (2) historical batte1y shop, auto repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the 
eastern potiion of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (3) a historical UST depicted at the east 
adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 

AMe/l,LLC 

/5002193 Page 15 o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.4 Historical Use Information (continued) 

6.4.5 Other Envirnnmental Reports ( continued) 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

1924 Sanborn Map; and ( 4) elevated levels of VOCs and metals identified in soil and groundwater at 
concentrations exceeding applicable criteria following the completion of several subsurface 
investigations. Based on the demonstrated soil and groundwater contamination, the subject site 
qualifies as a "facility" as defined in Part 20 I of the Natural Resources and Enviromnental Protection 
Act (NREPA), 1994. It is the opinion of the EP that the documented contamination at the subject site 
represents an REC. In Atwell's professional opinion, the testing completed during the previous 
subsurface investigations did not include a full list of parameters typically associated with automobile 
service/repair shop operations [i.e., solvents, polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PNAs)] at each soil 
boring location; thus did not adequately address the historical uses of the subject site. 

7.0 Site Reconnaissance 
7.1 Methodology and Limiting Conditions 

On November 18, 2015, Ms. Rebecca Harbison, Environmental Consultant for Atwell, conducted a 
walking recollllaissance of the subject site. During the site recollllaissance, Atwell evaluated the subject 
site for the potential presence of the following Recognized Environmental Conditions: (1) hazardous 
substances; (2) petroleum products; (3) evidence of the presence of underground storage tanks (USTs); 
(4) evidence of the presence of aboveground storage tanks (ASTs); (5) other suspect containers; (6l 
polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)-containing equipment; (7) interior or exterior staining/conosion; (8 
discharge features (i.e., cmTent or former septic/leaching fields, floor drains, oil/water separators); (9 
pits, ponds or lagoons; ( I 0) evidence of excavation and/or landfilling activities; (11) evidence of 
surface soil/surface water stains and/or stressed vegetation; (12) water supply and/or groundwater 
monitoring wells, and (13) observations of adjacent property uses and potential evidence of adverse 
enviromnental impacts associated with adjoining prope1ties (addressed in Section 4.5). 

The weather condition at the time of the site recollllaissance was raining and approximately SO-degrees 
Faln·enheit. The visual reconnaissance consisted of obse1ving the boundanes of the property and 
systematically traversing the site to provide an overlapping field of view, wherever possible. The 
periphety of the on-site strncture was obse1ved along with interior accessible common areas, storage 
and maintenance areas. During the site reconnaissance, interior visual obse1vations were limited due to 
the lack of power to the subject site. Photographs of pe1tinent site features identified during the site 
recollllaissance are included in Appendix D. 

7 .2 General Site Setting 

During the site recollllaissance, Atwell observed the subject site to be comprised of approximately 
1.3-acres of developed land located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. The subject site 
includes one, approximately 145,000-square foot. seven st01y commercial office building situated in 
the central port10n of the property, with the remaining p01tions consisting of asphalt covered parking 
areas and limited maintained landscaping. The Site Inspection Enviromnental Checklist is included in 
AppendixJ. 

7 .3 Site Visit Findings 

7.3.1 Hazardous Substances 

No significant quantities (i.e., greater than typical residential use) and/or bulk storage of hazardous 
substances were identified on the subject site during the site recollllaissance. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page 16 o/797 



7.0 Site Reconnaissance {continued) 
7 .3 Site Visit Findings ( continued) 

7.3.2 Petroleum Products 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

No significant quantities (i.e., greater than typical residential use) and/or bulk storage of petroleum 
products were identified on the subject site dunng the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.3 USTs 

Atwell evaluated the subject site for the P.Ossible presence of USTs. Typical indicators of USTs 
include: (I) gas pumps or pump islands; (2) vent pipes; (3) fill ports; or ( 4) unusual depressions. 
During the site reconnaissance, Atwell did not observe any readily apparent evidence of the 
current/former presence of USTs at the subject site. However, as discussed m Section 6.1 and 6.4.5, 
Atwell is aware of the former presence ofUSTs at the subject site. 

The lack of visible evidence of any other potential USTs and the fact that the individuals and agencies 
identified in this report were not aware of or did not have record of the presence of any other USTs 
does not preclude the possibility that other USTs could be present at the subject site prope11y. Visible 
evidence of USTs, such as fill po1ts or vent pipes, may have been obscured from view and other USTs 
could have been used at the subject site prope11y without the knowledge of the current owner/operator, 
site contact or government agency. 

7.3.4 ASTs 

No readily apparent evidence of ASTs was identified on the subject property during the site 
reconnaissance. 

7.3.5 Other Suspect Containers 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell identified several hundred fluorescent lighting bulbs stored 
within a basement office of the subject building. Fluorescent bulbs often contain hazardous levels of 
mercury or other metals. If these bulbs are not recycled, they must be tested to verify that they are not 
hazardous waste before disposal as solid waste. If the bulbs are recycled, the waste characterization 
requirements would not apply. Atwell recommends that all fluorescent bulbs and ballasts (if any) be 
properly disposed or recycled in accordance with State and Federal regulations. No other suspect 
containers were identified on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.6 Equipment Likely to Contain PCBs 

Atwell inspected the subject site for the presence of oil-cooled electrical equipment that may contain 
PCBs. During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed several electrical transformers and two elevator 
mechanical units stored within concrete vaults in the subject building's basement. The vaults were 
filled with water and the transformers were ove1turned and appeared to be in various stages of 
disrepair. Based on the age of the structure (repmiedly constructed in 1972), the possibility exists for 
the electrical equipment to contain PCBs. Based on the observed condition of the equipment, it is likely 
that the electrical equipment has leaked onto the nearby concrete surfaces; thus representing an REC. 

7.3.7 Staining/Corrosion 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed staining/co1rnsion on and near the electrical 
equipment and elevators located in the subject building's basement. It is the opinion of the EP that 
potential impact to the subsurface environment from leaks and spills of hazardous materials represents 
an REC to the subject site. 

Atwell, LLC 

/5002/93 Page 17 of 797 



7.0 Site Reconnaissance (continued) 
7.3 Site Visit Findings (continued) 

7.3.8 Discharge Features 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

With the exception of floor drains within the lavatories and basement, no discharge features (septic 
systems, catch basins, oil/water separators, etc.) were observed on the subject site during the site 
reconnaissance. 

7.3.9 Pits, Ponds, And Lagoons 

No pits, ponds or lagoons were obse1ved on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.10 Solid Waste Dumping/Landfills 

No readily apparent evidence of solid waste dumping (i.e., unusual moundini:;, debris piles, or 
depressions), suspect fill material, or landfilling was identified on the subject site during the site 
reconnaissance. 

7.3.11 Stained Soil/Stressed Vegetation 

No stained soil or stressed vegetation was observed on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.12 Wells 

No evidence of water supply or groundwater monitoring wells was obse1ved on the subject property 
during the site reconnaissance. 

8.0 Interviews 

With the exception of previously mentioned inte1views and/or information received from the Client, 
owner, occupants and/or municipal offices, no other inte1views were conducted during the course of 
this Phase I BSA. 

9.0 Other Environmental Considerations 
9. I Controlled Substances 

The presence of controlled substances on the subject site must be evaluated if the client is applying for 
or has been awarded a grant under CERCLA/EPA or if the prope1ty is considered abandoned. 

The term "controlled substance" means a drug or other substance, or immediate precursor, included in 
schedule I, II, III, IV, or V of part B of 21 US Code 802. The drugs include but are not limited to 
ephedrine and pseudoephedrine, which are suppressants that are used in common over-the-counter 
weight control and decongestant drugs, as well as, acetone, toluene and other solvents. These 
"conh·olled substances" are used to manufacture various drugs for recreational use. Unusually large 
quantities (i.e., cases of cold tablets, diet pills, unexplained containers of solvents) would be observed 
if the substances were being misused and site use should be taken into account when evaluating for 
"conh·olled substances". The term does not include distilled spirits, wine, malt beverages, or tobacco, as 
those terms are defmed or used in subtitle E of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell did not observe any evidence for the presence of controlled 
substances on the subject site. 

Atwell, U.C 

15002193 Page 18 o/797 



9.0 Other Environmental Considerations (continued) 
9 .2 Continuing Obligations 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Owners or operators of real property may be subject to certain land use restrictions or institutional 
controls as part of continued occupancy of a site. These obligations may include resource restrictions; 
conducting reasonable steps with respect to hazardous substance releases; provide full cooperation, 
assistance, and access to persons that are authorized to conduct response actions or natural resource 
restorations; comply with federal information requests and adminish·ative subpoenas, and provide all 
legally required notices. During the site reconnaissance and review of reasonably ascertainable 
records, Atwell identified the presence of documented contamination at the subject site. Therefore, it is 
the opinion of the EP that the current and/or future site owner may be subject to continuing obligations. 

9.3 Asbestos-Containing Materials 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include an inspection or sampling of suspect ACMs. 

9.4 Lead-Based Paint 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation of the presence of lead-based 
paint on the subject site. 

9.5 Radon 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation for the potential presence of 
Radon in the area of the subject site. 

9.6 Wetlands 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation of suspect wetland areas on 
the subject site. 

9. 7 Mold Evaluation 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include a mold evaluation on the subject site. 

9.8 Items ofNon-Compliance 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation of items of non-compliance 
with applicable local, state, or federal regulations. 

9.9 Client-Specific Items 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include addressing any client-specific items for the 
subject site. 

10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusions 
10.1 Report Findings and Opinions 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell identified and evaluated several potential environmental 
concerns and it is the opinion of the EP that the following RECs have been identified for the subject 
site: 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 Page 19 o/797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusions (continued) 
10.1 Report Findings and Opinions ( continued) 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 

• Based on information gathered during the site investigation and a review of aerial photographs, 
fire insurance maps, historical address indexes and mtmicipal records, Atwell concluded that the 
subject site has been developed with the current commercial office building since 1972. Prior to 
1972, the subject site was developed with multiple structures (including filling stations, 
automobile repair businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at least 1888 ( as 
depicted in the Sanborn MaJ?S ). Several subsurface investigations have been completed by other 
consultants to address the historical automobile service, repair, and filling station operations at 
the subject site and north adjoining property. Review of previous subsurface investigation repmts 
and extensive ground penetrating radar (GPR) studies indicates that the historical on-site USTs 
were likely removed as part of site redevelopment activities. Based on a review of analytical 
results provided in the most recent BEA prepared for the subject site, it is the opinion of the EP 
that the documented contamination in the site soils and groundwater represents an REC. In 
Atwell's professional Ojlinion, the testing completed during the previous subsurface investi$ations 
did not include a full hst of parameters typically associated with automobile service/rer.au- shop 
operations [i.e., solvents, polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PNAs)) at each sml boring 
location; thus did not adequately address the historical uses of the subject site. 

• During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the opportunity to review several 
previous environmental reports completed for the subject site, including: (1) BEA completed by 
McDowell & Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA completed by LFR Levine 
Fricke (LFR), dated November 11, 2005; Phase II Subsurface Investigation report completed by 
Hillman Environmental Group, LLC (Hillman), dated October 6, 2004. RECs identified for the 
subject site by other consultants include: (1) historical gas station and automobile service/repair 
operations on the northern and eastern po1tions of the prope1ty from the 1920s through 1950s; (2) 
historical batte1y shop, auto repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the eastern portion of the 
prope1ty from the 1920s through 1950s; (3) a historical UST depicted at the east adjacent 
prope1ty in the 1924 Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted at the east adjacent prope1ty in the 
1924 Sanborn Map; and (4) elevated levels of VOCs and metals identified m soil and 
groundwater at concentrations exceeding applicable criteria following the completion of several 
subsurface investigations. Based on the demonsh-ated soil and groundwater contamination, the 
subject site qualifies as a "facility" as defined in Part 201 of the Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), 1994. 

• Atwell inspected the subject site for the presence of oil-cooled electrical equipment that may 
contain PCBs. During the site reconnaissance, Atwell obse1ved several electrical transformers 
and two elevator mechanical units stored within concrete vaults in the subject building's 
basement. The vaults were filled with water and the transfmmers were ove1turned and appeared 
to be in various stages of disrepair. Based on the age of the structure (reportedly consh·ucted in 
1972), the possibility exists for the electrical equipment to contain PCBs. Based on the observed 
condition of the equipment, it is likely that the electrical equipment has leaked onto the nearby 
concrete surfaces; thus representing an REC. 

• During the site reconnaissance, Atwell identified several hundred fluorescent lighting bulbs 
stored within a basement office of the subject building. Fluorescent bulbs often contain hazardous 
levels of mercmy or other metals. If these bulbs are not recycled, they must be tested to verify 
that they are not hazardous waste before disposal as solid waste. If the bulbs are recycled, the 
waste characterization requirements would not apply. Atwell recommends that all fluorescent 
bulbs and ballasts (if any) be properly disposed or recycled in accordance with State and Federal 
regulations. 

Page 20 o/797 



10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusions (continued) 
10.2 Conclusions 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Atwell has performed this Phase I ESA in general conformance with the scope and limitations of 
ASTM Practice El527-13 and AAI specifications for the building and proJ?etty located at 140 South 
Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. Any exceptions to, or deletions from, thts practice are described in 
Section 3.4 of this report. During the course of this Phase I ESA, the EP identified RECs associated 
with the subject site as previously identified. Therefore, Atwell recommends that a Limited Phase II 
Subsurface Investigation be conducted to determine the nature, extent and materiality of the RECs. ln 
addition, Atwell recommends that new owners prepare a Baseline Environmental Assessment within 45 
days of purchase. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page 21 o/797 



K-TECH ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC. 

Mr. Adorno Piccinini 
Walbridge 
777 Woodward Ave 
Suite# 300 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 

Ref: Mold Bulk Sampling & Analysis 
(Vacant Office Building) 
140 S. Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, Michigan 48342 

Dear Mr. Piccinini: 

November 18, 2015 
Project No.: 1511-4659 

This report presents the results of the mold bulk sampling performed at the above referenced 
building in Pontiac, Michigan. Sampling was conducted by K-Tech Environmental 
representative, Rawlins Stivers Jr. on November 16, 2015 and then submitted them to Apex 
Research Inc. for laboratory analysis. The purpose of the bulk sampling was to identify 
mold/fungus spores and determine the existence "if any" of Stachybotrys spores, known as 
"black mold" on the walls and floor debris of the basement and 7th floor of the building. 

Five bulk samples were collected from drywall materials and floor debris consisting of ceiling 
tiles located inside the basement of the building for fungal organism identification. Also, it was 
observed that the drywall located on the 7th floor, n011h side, contained mold and a sample was 
collected from this area. Sample designations, description and location of the samples, along 
with the laboratory results are included in the table below. 

The bulk samples were analyzed for Microscopic examination using light microscopy analysis at 
600X with Calbera's stain to identify the mold/fungus spores that may be present in the bulk 
samples. Official laboratory results are attached for your reference. 

It was noted that the 7th floor drywall had sustained water damage and now are hosting 
mold/fungus colonies. Water damage materials should be cleaned and environmental conditions 
should be changed to prevent further growth of the mold. 

The analytical lab test results for the bulk samples revealed the presence of mold spores, conidia 
or hyphae (Cladosporium, Stachybotrys, Penicillium/Aspergillus and Alternaria) in the form of 
growth with 51 %-75% of the drywall & ceiling tiles debris contains mold spores (please see 
attached lab results). Stachybotrys which sometimes referred to as "black mold" was found in all 
five bulk samples. 

The mold sampling data results presented in this rep011 are indicative of the conditions of the 
building environment, as they existed on the day of the inspection and at the time of sampling 
only. 

19500 Middlebelt Rd, • Suite 11 lE • Livonia, Ml 48152 , Ph. (248) 426-7600 • Fax 1248) 426-7665 



In conclusion, at this time, based on the laboratory test results of the bulk samples, K-Tech 
Environmental recommends that all affected materials be removed and water sustained walls & 
floor areas be cleaned with 5% bleach solution products and anti-fimgus solution be applied to 
prevent any mold/fungus growth in the future. 

Also, K-Tech Environmental highly recommends that the workers performing the cleanup must 
wear personal protective equipment including at least half face air purifying respirators with 
HEP A filters during the cleanup operations. 

K-Tech Environmental appreciates the opportunity to provide you with our services. Should you 
have any questions or require any additional information concerning this report, please do not 
hesitate to contact our office at (248) 426-7600. 

Respectfully submitted, 
K-Tech Environmental 

Nick Kobrossi 
Vice President 

NK/mk 

Attachments 



K-TECH ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC. 
Bulk Sampling & Analysis for Mold Spores 

Location: 140 S. Saginaw Street, Pontiac, MI 

Project No.: 1511-4659 

Date Collected: November 16, 2015 

SAMPLE DESCRIPTION/LOCATION MOLD TYPE 
# 

1 Bulk Sample / Basement, Drywall Materials on wall Please 

2 Bulk Sample/ Basement, Drywall Materials on wall See 

3 Bulk Sample / Basement, Ceiling Materials on floor Attached 

4 Bulk Sample/ Basement, Ceiling Materials on floor Lab 

5 Bulk Sample/ ?1h floor, Drywall Materials on North wall Test Results 

• Refer to the attached Lab Report for results. 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. I I IE 
Livonia, MI 48152 

Lab ID# M19874-1 
Client ID: 1 
Location: Basement- Wall (Drywall) 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Project#: 1511-4659 

ARL Report # 15-Ml9874 
Date Collected: I 1/16/15 
Date Received: 11/16/15 
Date Analyzed: 11/17/15 
Date Reported: 11/17/15 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/17 /I 5 

Magnification: 600x 

Genus/Particle Observed Comments 

Stachyboflys 
C/adosporium 
Hyphal Fragments 
Penicillium/Aspergillus 
Alternaria 

Observations: 

1,3,8 
1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Robert T. Leta,1e ., aboratory Director 

Some fungi, yeasts, molds, are not ablp to be identified by mkroscopic c:xaminalion, all identificatiOfls are presumptive and cuifumlition of..-t<pecific m~olds, fungi, or yeast or bacteria should be confirm,:,;! by 

rolluring. APEX Rescar,;h Is not rc,ponsib!e fwthe :sarnpl.:: oolkction or interpretation ofn,~ults. Ilic rcsult5; are pre:.7.lmpfr,e and analy~ to r,;-lk,.-t dl.<:1.~ditions at the mom mt tested \\ith understanding thal 

results may vary "ith time and space. The above,;crtificate of analysis relates only to the samples tested and to in Stire the integriry ofresultikay on!y'~\-teproduced in full. Uability limited to cost of analysis_ 

Apex Rese~rch L~boratories Inc., 11054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48189 {734) 449-9990, Fax (734) 449- 9991. 
Pagel ofS 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. I llE 
Livonia, MI 48152 

ARLReporl # 15-Ml9874 
Date Collected: 1 l/16/15 
Dale Received: 11/16/15 
Date Analyzed: 11/17/15 
Dale Repmted: 11/17/15 

Lab ID# M19874-2 
Client ID: 2 
Location: Basement Wall (Drywall) 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Stachybohys 
Myxomycetes 
Hyphal Fragments 
Penicillium/Aspergi/lus 
Chaetomium 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1,3 
1 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/17/15 

Magnification: 600x 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Some fungi, yc;ut.s, molds, are not able to be identified by mkrosoopfo e~amination, all identifKations an.:; pre\O.lmptPoe and coofiflllation of specific molds, fungi, or yeast or bacteri.a should be oonfum~·<l by 

culturing. APEX Rescan:h is not Jnp,onsiblc for the sample ,:,;,Jk..'tion or inte{Jlretation of results. The rerults are pn,,'>7.l'!!Plivc and analyz,,,-.;( to rdkcl the eo~ditions at the mom mt te;;ted \1,ith under5tanding tha1 

n,,",mlts may vaiy l\ith time and spa~-e. )beabm·ecertificate of analysis relates only to the samples [¢i!t:d and to insum the intqµily of~lts m!1 only be!eprod,K•._"\.I in full. Liability limited to c-0stofanalysis 

Apex Research I~boratories Inc., 11054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48189 (734) 449-9990, Fax. (734) 449- 9991. 
Pagel of5 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. I I IE 
Livonia, MI 48152 

ARL Report # 15-Ml9874 
Date Collected: 11/16/15 
Date Received: 11/16/15 
Date Analyzed: 11/17/15 
Date Reported: 11/17/15 

Lab ID# M19874-3 
Client ID: 3 
Location: Ceiling Tile on Basement Floor 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Stachybollys 
Hyphal Fragments 
Cladosporium 
Penicillium/Aspergillus 
Ulocladium 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1 
1 

Image of Sample 
Date: l l/17/15 

Magnification: 600x 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Some fungi, yeasts, molds., are not able to be identified by mkrosoopic examination, all identif....,ations are pn'Sllmptivc and c«ifim1ation of specific molds, fungi, or yeast <-'f bacteri:1 should be oonfirme<l by 

culturing_ API',X Research Is not responsible for lhe sample colb."1ion or in!erpretation of~ults. The results an:: preru~ptive and analyzc,fto n.ikct'thc conditions al the moment testeJ "ith understanding tha1 

=l!s may vary v.ith time and space. ·Jheabovecertificatc of analysis •·elates only to the samp!-,s tested and to in,mc the integrity ofrtll;ults mi only bc~produro;I in full. Liability limited to cmt ofana!ysh 

Apex Research L3:boratories Inc., t 1054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48189 (734) 449-9990, Fax (734) 449- 9991. 
Page 3 of5 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. II IE 
Livonia, Ml 48152 

ARL Report # 15-Ml9874 
Date Collected: 11/16/15 
Date Received: 11/16/15 
Date Analyzed: 11/17/15 
Date Reported: 11/17/15 

Lab ID# M19874-4 
ClientID: 4 
Location: Ceiling Tile on Basement Floor 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Uloc/adium 
C/adosporium 
Hyphal Fragments 
Acremonium 
Stachyboflys 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1,3 
1,3 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/17/15 

Magnification: 600x 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Some fungi, yeasts, molds, are not able to be identified by microscopic examination, al! identifica!ions ~ pre5Urnptivc and confirmation of ~cific molds, fungi, or yeast or bacteria should be oonfumed by 

tulturing. APEX Res=h is not n:sponsibk for the sample collection or interpretation of results. The ~"Uhs are presumptive and analyzed to rellc.;ct the conditions at the mom mt tested \\ith ul)(lerstan<ling thal 

results may vruy \\ith time and spa«;. Theabon:certifica!e of analysis relates only lo the =pies lesteJ and [Oin$1.lru the futegrity ofre~lts may only be l"Cproduooi in full. LiabiHty lin1i1~d to cost of analysis ,, . 

Apex Research L~boratorics Inc., 11054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, MI 48189 (734) 449-9990, Fax (734) 449- 9991. 
Page4 ofS 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. I I IE 
Livonia, MI 48152 

ARL Report # 15-Ml9874 
Date Collected: 11/16/15 
Date Received: 11/16/15 
Date Analyzed: 11/17/15 
Date Reported: 11/17/15 

Lab ID # M19874-5 
Client ID: 5 
Location: 7th Floor (Drywall N Office) 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Stachyboflys 
U/ocladium 
Hyphal Fragments 
Cladosporium 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/17/15 

Magnification: 600x 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Some fungi, yeasts, molds, a,,; not ab!e to be identified by micro~copic examination, all idcnlifkations are presumpti••c and eoofim1ation of specific molds, fungi, or yeast or bactcri~ should be confirmed by 

culturing_ APEX Research is not responsible for the sample oolb."1ion or inttrpn.'talion of results. lbe remits are prc:sumplive and analyzed to «:fleet the conditions at the momcrit te5lcd with urukrstanding that 

results may va,y ,,,;th time and spaa:. lheabove ~'ertifica.1<,:: of analysis rela!es only to the sampks tested and to insure the i~tcgrity ofrewlts may only be rep~ced in full. Liability limited to cost of analysis_ . . . 

Apex Research La,boratories Inc., t 1054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lllke, Ml 48189 (734) 449-9990, Fax (734) 449- 9991. 
Page 5 of5 



~· 

~·-· 

~---

'. 

Mold Spoi•e Rating 

Mold Description Interpretation 
Ratine 

No Mold Spore, Hyphae, The sample consists of eiwironmcntal debris that is not 
0 Conidia were detected microscopically identified with mold or fungi. 

Trace amount of mold The sample consists of environmental debris with 
1 spores, conidia or hyphae random appearances of mold debris. 

--- _present 
Up to 25% of the material The sample consists of environmental debris with a 

2 on the bulk samples are noticeable amount of mold present. A consistent 
mold spores, conidia or accumulation from a nearby mold source. 

""~ 
J1yphae 
26%-50% of the material The sample consists of environn{entafdebris 

3 on the bulk sample are intermingled with mold that may or may not be in a .. 
mold spores, coni<lia or growth phase. 

·- .. -·,.~---- Ji)>]Jhae 
51%-75% of the materiaf The sample consists of n mold growif1 tl1.1thas some 

4 on the bulk sample are environmental debris. 
mold spores, conidia or 
hyphae 
>75% of the material on The sample consi:3.ts primarily of mold or related 

5 the bulk sample are mold structures indicating a colony of established mold. 
spores, conidia or hyphae 

---~-~k--- -· 

Co1n111cnts For Mold Bulk Reports 
J. This is a known allergen. 

2. These are known allergens. 

3. There is accumulation observed in this samjile. 

4. There is an amplification of mold in this sample. 

5. No mold was observed. 

6. Heavy debris notccbin sample. 

7. Cultming required for positive identification. 

8. The presence of fruiting structures observed in this sample suggests 

possible fungal contamination or growth. 

9. Growth was observed. 

10. There was a presence of loose fungal spores which can be considered 

., as background, most likely in dust accumulations. 



Resolution Requesting the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority to Review the 
140 South Saginaw Street 

WHEREAS the City of Pontiac has a Brownfield project known as 140 South Saginaw Street that it would like 
to have reviewed and processed by the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority; 

WHEREAS the City of Pontiac has a Brownfield Authority but desires to have the Oakland County Brownfield 
- Redevelopment Authority handle the 140 South Saginaw Street; 

WHEREAS the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority was created by Oakland County 

pursuant to MCL 125.2651 et seq. to assist jurisdictions like the City of Pontiac; 

WHEREAS the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority is prepared to assist the City of Pontiac 
by reviewing the proposed 140 South Saginaw Street, provided that the City of Pontiac acknowledges certain 

rights that the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority has, to wit: 

• OCBRA intends to collect an administrative fee of$5,000.00 per year for the length of the Brownfield 
plan; and 

WHEREAS the City of Pontiac will have the opportunity to provide public comment on any Brownfield plan 
(including the amount of the administrative fee to be collected) before it is finally adopted by the OCBRA 
and/or the Oakland County Board of Commissioners; 

NOW BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED that the City of Pontiac requests that the OCBRA unde1take review of 
the 140 South Saginaw. 



AGENDA 
ITEM 

6 



ST ATE OF MICHIGAN 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

RESOLUTION CONCURRING WITH THE PROVISIONS OF 
A BROWNFIELD PLAN ADOPTED BY THE OAKLAND COUNTY 

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FOR THE 
140 SOUTH SAGINAW STREET 

RECITATIONS: 

WHEREAS, the Oakland County Board of Commissioners, pursuant to and in accordance with the 
provisions of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, being Act 381 of the Public Acts of the State of 
Michigan of 1996, as amended (the "Act"), have established a Brownfield Redevelopment Authority and Board 
(OCBRA) to facilitate the clean-up and redevelopment of Brownfields within Oakland County's communities; 
and 

WHEREAS, the property located at 140 South Saginaw (Property), a site in the City of Pontiac is an 
environmental hazard, a "facility' under state statute; and 

WHEREAS, a Brownfield clean-up and redevelopment plan (the "Plan") has been prepared to restore the 
environmental and economic viability to this parcel which the OCBRA has reviewed and approved; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to OCBRA by-laws, a local committee has been appointed, participated m 
discussions regarding the proposed plan and project, reviewed the plan, and recommends its approval; and 

WHEREAS, the OCBRA, pursuant to and in accordance with Section 13 of the Act, shall consider 
recommending that the Oakland County Board of Commissioners approve the Brownfield Plan to be can-ied out 
within the City of Pontiac, relating to the redevelopment of 140 South Saginaw; and 

WHEREAS, the City has reviewed the Plan, and have been provided a reasonable opportunity to 
express their views and recommendations regarding the Plan in accordance with Sections 13(13) of the Act; and 



NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT, the City of Pontiac hereby concurs with the provisions 
of the Plan including approval of the Plan by the Oakland County Board of Commissioners and implementation 

of the Plan by the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT should any section, clause or phrase of this Resolution be declared 
by the courts to be invalid, the same shall not affect the validity of this Resolution as a whole nor any part thereof 

other than the part so declared to be invalid. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT all resolutions or paits of resolutions in conflict with any of the 
provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed. 

AYES: 
NAYS: 
ABSTENTIONS: 
ABSENT: 

CERTIFICATION 

It is hereby certified that the foregoing Resolution is a true and accurate copy of the Resolution adopted 
by the City Council of the City of Pontiac at a meeting duly called and held on the __ ~ day ofNovember, 2018. 

CITY of PONTIAC 

By:----------------
Garland Doyle, INTERIM CLERK 



AGENDA 
ITEM 

7 



CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

TO: Honorable Council President and City Council members 

FROM: John Balint, City Engineer 

Thru: Jane Bais DiSessa, Deputy Mayor 

Cc: Honorable Mayor Waterman 

DATE: November 16, 2018 

RE: Covenant Cemetery Services Contract. 

The Department of Public Work has received a proposed contract from Covenant Cemetery 
Services for the operation and maintenance of the City two cemeteries, Oak Hill and Ottawa 

Park. 

Covenant has been operating our cemeteries for since April of 2017 due lo of previous 
contractor leaving after failed negotiations. In the past year, Covenant has worked on a month
to-month basis performing burials and maintenance of the cemeteries, and other than some 
issues this past spring, their work has been excellent. 

Covenant will continue to submit to the City of Pontiac on a quarterly basis, a report of all sales 
of graves, crypts or niches. Covenant will provide a quarterly report of payments received on the 
sales of graves, crypts or niches and will submit 15% of all funds received for these items 
following the building phase of the project. We would recommend the City of Pontiac 
Department of Public Works for to establishment of a cemetery care fund. 

Business Administrative Services including Management oversile as required plus the minimum 
of two full-time employee on site lo assist with cemetery management, recordkeeping, burial 
sales, etc. will be provided during stated Management Office Hours below, in exchange for the 
Opening & Closing fees and sales revenue generated. 

M-F 9am-4pm 
Sat 9am - 1 pm or until last burial arrives. 
Closed Sundays and Holidays 

Current expense to the City will be for landscape maintenance and winter maintenance (snow 
plowing and salt). Those cost for landscape maintenance will reduce over time based on the 
schedule on page 3 of 8. Average cost for year 2019 will be approximately $115,500 for both 
cemeteries for landscape maintenance and $3,000 to $5,000 for snow, depending on snowfall. 



Memorandum - Cemetery Contract 
November 16, 2018 
Page 2 of 2. 

The Department of Public Works and the City Attorney have reviewed and based on the attached, 
recommend approval of this contract. 

WHEREAS, 

WHEREAS, 

NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED, 

JVB 

Attachments 

The City of Pontiac has had Covenant Cemetery Services performing cemetery 
services and maintenance at both City cemeteries, Oak Hill and Ottawa Park 
since April of, and; 

they have prepared a comprehensive, long term plan for operation of both 

cemeteries, and; 

The Pontiac City Council authorized the Mayor to enter into a contract with 

Covenant Cemetery Services for 2018 - 2023. 



overiant 
CEMETERY SERVICES 

3136 N. State Road 

Davison, Ml 48423 

(810) 653-2196 

PROPOSAL FOR MANANGEMENT OF 

OAK HILL AND OTTAWA PARK CEMETERIES 

Covenant Cemetery Services, Inc., herein also referred to as "Covenant" is pleased to propose to The 
City of Pontiac, herein also referred to as "The City'' or "Pontiac" the following outline of services and 
responsibilities for management of "Historic" Oak Hill Cemetery and Ottawa Park Cemetery. While this 
proposal may not include unknown items for either party, it is agreed that both Covenant Cemetery 
Services, Inc. and The City of Pontiac will, at all times, work together to provide the highest level of 
service to the community we serve. 

This proposal is based partially upon the approval of the City of Pontiac to allow Covenant Cemetery 
Services, Inc., the right to expand the interment products available to our community including the 
expansion of the current Mausoleum Garden and Columbarium and other Niche Units and the addition 

of private family estate products. 

Covenant is researching the potential to construct new facilities for interment using our own funds. We 
would require the right to hold all hold the deeds or certificates for interment rights for all crypts and 
niches should new buildings be constructed. Covenant would maintain the burial rights with a 
percentage payment made to the City based on the sale of the new inventory. There are currently no 
crypts available in inventory and many families have expressed their desire to own crypts in the 
cemetery. Covenant would agree to pay the City of Pontiac 15% of all funds received on the sales of 
these crypts following the building phase of the project. We hope that the City of Pontiac would use 
these funds to establish a saving account for the Perpetual Care of the building in the future. 

As its first order of business, Covenant is seeking to construct a new garden mausoleum. The 
mausoleum will be 4 crypts high and, although it will be simple, it will be a custom design. The crypt and 
niche fronts will be black granite with names and images etched on the stone. Covenant will look to 
Scott Goodsell, President of G.H. Forbes Associates Architects to recommend a concrete contractor, 
crane operator/ crypt setter, and membrane roofing contractor amongst other trades. Covenant plans 
to construct at least a portion of the building including pre-cast crypts, granite fronts/ trims and 
masonry. Before any work begins, The City must approve the construction. A copy of Mr. Goodsell's 
resume and his company profile is included with this proposal. 

The intent is to pre-sell the mausoleum and erect a temporary mausoleum at the south tip of the 
triangular plot of land where the existing garden mausolea currently stand. In order to pre-sell, the City 
will have to approve the schematic design and master plan (phased construction) for this triangle, 
known as Block 5 of Ottawa Park Cemetery. G.H. Forbes Associates Architects will also create a 3-
dimensional model (not a photo realistic rendering) to spark public interest and simple sales maps to 
record the sales. Covenant plans to finance this construction through advance sales of crypts and niches 

Page 1 of8 



in this project. It is important to note The City of Pontiac is NOT being asked to provide funding for this 
project, only your approvals to move forward and your understanding that Covenant Cemetery Services 
will hold the deeds or certificates for interment rights for all crypts and niches constructed. Because 
Covenant Cemetery Services, Inc. will be covering the cost of construction, no construction liens will be 
placed on the building. 

Ongoing Management Responsibilities 

Covenant will continue to be paid directly by the families and/or funeral directors for all opening and 
closing services provided, including late arrival, holiday, and weekend charges as well as for all ancillary 
merchandise sold, including markers, monuments, foundation installation and layout fees, vaults, 
caskets, cremation urns, etc. and will be responsible for the delivery and installation of such products 
and services. 

Covenant will continue to submit to the City of Pontiac on a quarterly basis, a report of all sales of 
graves, crypts or niches. Covenant will provide a quarterly report of payments received on the sales of 
graves, crypts or niches and will submit 15% of all funds received for these items following the building 
phase of the project. We would recommend the City of Pontiac Department of Public Works for to 
establishment of a cemetery care fund. 

Business Administrative Services including Management oversite as required plus the minimum of two 
full-time employee on site to assist with cemetery management, r~cordkeeping, burial sales, etc. will be 
provided during stated Management Office Hours below, in exchange for the Opening & Closing fees 
and sales revenue generated. 

M-F 9am-4pm 
Sat 9am - lpm or until last burial arrives. 
Closed Sundays and Holidays 

Spring, Summer & Fall Grounds Maintenance work is generally referred to throughout the industry as 
Mowing & Maintenance, but it includes far more than mowing. It is reference to the detailed work our 
professional staff handle throughout the seasons, including mowing and trimming of both open areas 
and around new and historic markers, monuments and features by our trained and supervised staff who 
understand the care needed to avoid damage to the family memorials and other cemetery features 
while navigating the often dangerous terrain of the properties. 

The grounds staff also handles the mulching of fall leaves with mowers, trash removal from sections to 
City provided bins and dumpster(s), work order requests from families for raising, leveling and top soil 
and seeding of graves and other areas that have sunken. Work order requests from families for raising 
and leveling of markers and monuments that have sunken or are leaning. Also included is the removal 
and trimming of small trees and bushes, small branch removal, the services of our "Gardening Person" 
who maintains and cares for the cemetery plants and gardens at both locations. Our staff watches over 
the properties to insu_re the general cemetery beautification projects are continuously moving forward. 
They are also often the first point of contact with families, which requires th.em to be more than just a 
summer intern, but rather a trained professional who can help families locate loved ones, answer 
questions and make suggestions as required. 

Page 2 of 8 



We currently provide these services on a weekly basis at the rate of $2500 per week for Oak Hill 
Cemetery and $1350 per week for Ottawa Park Cemetery. This rate includes onsite insured staff at both 
locations as needed, use of Covenant owned mowers, trimmers, and other gardening equipment, 
including mowing equipment, employee and equipment insurance, and ongoing maintenance and 
replacement costs. As discussed, the overall cost for mowing and maintenance will DECREASE over a 5 
year period for Ottawa Park. The costs for Oak Hill will be fixed for the term of this agreement. The 
weekly costs each year for the mowing/maintenance period will be as follows: (note we anticipate 
mowing/maintenance/spring and summer cleanup periods to average 25-30 weeks per year depending 
on the weather conditions.) 

PERIOD 
COMPARISON 2018 
Spring -Fall 2019 
Spring-Fall 2020 
Spring-Fall 2021 
Spring-Fall 2022 

OAK HILL COSTS 
$2500,00 
$2500.00 
$2500.00 
$2500.00 
$2500.00 

OTTAWA PARK COSTS 
$1350.00 
$1350.00 
$1000.00 
$650.00 
$300.00 

NOTE: If both parties agree to a new or extended management agreement for 2023 the 
Mowing/Maintenance costs for Ottawa Park going forward would be reduced to $0.00 

The City of Pontiac Dept. of Public Works will be responsible for patching/repairing the cemetery roads· 
each year and provide snow removal services for the Oak Hill location as well as salt, salting services and 
snow stakes for both locations. Covenant will provide the staff to handle the plowing of snow off the 
roads and entrances at the Ottawa Park location using the dump truck and plow provided by the City of 
Pontiac for snow falls of 5.99 inches and below. Snow falls over 5.99 inches may require assistance from 
the City of Pontiac larger equipment and staff to be determined based on availability and burial 
schedules. Covenant Plowing rates are as follows: 

Clearing of snow accumulation from parking areas and cemetery roads are charged per occurrence on a 
weekly basis based on the following amounts of snowfall: 

Current Rate Winter 2018 Rate 
1.5 - 3.99 inches $186.68 $200.00 
4.0 - 5.99 inches $224.00 $250.00 
6.0- 7.99 inches $270.68 $300.00 
8.0 - 9.99 inches $322.67 $350.00 
10.0-11.99 inches $388.00 $400.00 
12.0 inches and above $466.68 $500.00 
Plowing Rates going forward will be limited to 5% annual increases. 

We will continue with our current understanding that the Buildings and Roads, Water System 
Maintenance and Utilities and other related costs will be the responsibility of the City of Pontiac. 
Buildings must be .maintained with working phone lines; data lines, heating and cooling systems and 
plumbing services to operate efficiently. We would also require the continued use of the City of 
Pontiac's instance ofTechniServe, Inc's. "The Cemetery Manager'' programs. The assurance that 
TechniServe provides for your data management processing and backup services is essential to the day 
to day operation of the cemeteries. 

Page 3 of 8 



The City will continue to provide a backhoe at each of the cemeteries as well as a shared dump truck 
with snow plow capabilities to be available for use by our staff for burial and grounds keeping related 
purposes. 

We would also request that the City provide 4x8 plywood sheets for use on grounds to avoid excess 
damage to the grounds from heavy equipment. Ottawa Park currently has adequate plywood, but Oak 
Hill has nothing available. 30 sheets minimum are needed at each location. 

It is our hope that you have found our company worthy of continuing to provide services to the City of 
Pontiac. This proposal would be for a period of 4 years with renewals annually or longer going forward, 
subject to the agreement of both parties. 

Page 4 of 8 



ovenant 
Cf:Mf:TEPY SEPVICES 

PROPOSAL FOR MANANGEMENT OF 

3136 N. State Road 

Davison, Ml 48423 

(810) 653-2196 

OAK HILL AND OTTAWA PARK CEMETERIES 

SCHEDULE 1 : City Responsibilities 

"Historic" Oak Hill and Ottawa Park Cemeteries 

Main Chapel and Office Buildings 

Building Maintenance for Capital Items such as Roof Replacement (needed ASAP, the roof on 
the chapel/office building at Ottawa Park required 9 buckets in the main chapel and 6 other 
leaks in the other parts of the building. 

HVAC Systems (Boiler, Air Conditioners) 

Plumbing and Septic Systems 

Electrical Service 

Windows, Doors, Flooring 

Removal of Retorts at Ottawa Park as required. 

NOTE: Chapel at Oak Hill needs some plaster repair that should be 

done this spring as pieces are dropping and could hit someone. 

Shop Buildings 

Building Maintenance for Capital Items such as 

Roof Repairs/Replacement (repairs needed on main pole barn) 

Electrical Service NOTE: It is our understanding that the shop building at Oak Hill will 

have electrical soon and is in need of a new roof. 

Doors, Windows 

Vehicles 

Major Equipment Repairs/Replacements for: 

Back Hoes, Dump Trucks, Plows, Snow Blowers and Vans 

Burial Equipment 

Repairs/ Replacements for: 

Burial Tents and Lowering Devices 

NOTE: Should not be needed for several years. 

Page 5 of8 



Grounds, Roads and Sidewalks 

Utilities 

Repairs, Replacements and Removals for: 

Paved and Unpaved Roads 

Cement Sidewalks and Curbs 

Cemetery Water and Sewer Lines 

Top Soil and Seed for Grounds Maintenance 

Dead, Unhealthy and Unsafe Tree Removals and Stumping 

Features, Crypts, Niches and Private Mausoleum Buildings Roofs, Foundations, tucking and 

other related maintenance. 

Electrical Expenses 

Natural and Propane Gas Expenses 

Water, Sewer and Septic Cleaning Expenses 

Telephone and Communication Expenses 

Office Furniture and Equipment List that Belongs to the City of Pontiac 

NOTE: These are specified as Covenant and The City each have items currently in use at the 

ottawa Park location. (When the Oak Hill Office opens this list may have to be updated. 

Currently all Furniture and Equipment at Oak Hill belongs to the City. 

Ottawa Park City Owned Items: 

3 Dell Desktop Computers, Monitors and Keyboards 

1 HP Color Printer 

1 Older Desktop Computer and Printer with Older Cemetery Records in Access Database 

5 Black and Wood Padded Waiting Room/Office Chairs 

All Standard Style Black, Yellow and Silver File Cabinets plus all Blue Lateral File Cabinets 

Conference Table 

6 Black Weave Style Conference Table Chairs 

4 Black Secretary rolling chairs 

2 Black and Brown L Shaped Office Desks 

1 Blue Desk with Gray/Pink Overheads and Pink partition Walls 

1 Grey Executive Desk 

1 Pink and Wood Executive Chair and 2 Pink and Wood Side Chairs 

All Chapel Pews, Casket Bier and Flower Stands 

1 Meilink Vault 

1 small round wood table, 1 Queen tables 6 misc chairs 

Page 6 of 8 



ovenant 
CEMETERY SERVICES 

PROPOSALFORMANANGEMENTOF 

3136 N. State Road 

Davison, Ml 48423 

(810) 653-2196 

OAK HILL AND OTTAWA PARK CEMETERIES 
SCHEDULE 2 : Covenant Responsibilities 

"Historic" Oak Hill and Ottawa Park Cemeteries 

Main Chapel and Office Buildings 

Building Maintenance for Non- Capital Items such as 

Regular Building Cleaning 

Carpet and Floor Cleaning 

Portable Air Conditioners 

Window and Door Cleaning 

Light Bulbs and Keys 

Shop Buildings 

Building Maintenance for Non-Capital Items such as 

Building Cleanliness 

Light Bulbs and Keys 

Vehicles 

All Gas, Oil and Hydraulic Grease Costs and Regular Cleanings for: 

Back Hoes, Dump Trucks, Plows, Snow Blowers and Vans 

Covenant owns and maintains all lawn mowers and weed whips at both locations 

Burial Equipment 

Burial Tents and Lowering Devices NOTE: Should not be needed for several years. 

Grounds, Roads and Sidewalks 

Covenant will use caution and standard practice to help protect the condition of 

and immediately report any problems to the City of Pontiac but will not be responsible for repair 
or replacement costs for: 

Paved and Unpaved Roads 

Cement Sidewalks and Curbs 

Cemetery Water and Sewer Lines 

Dead, Unhealthy and Unsafe Tree Removals and Stumping 

Features, Crypts, Niches and Private Mausoleum Buildings Roofs, Foundations, tucking and 
other related maintenance. 

Page 7 of 8 



Communication Equipment/ Utilities 

Allworx Phone Equipment - Covenant will provide for use, an Allworx VOiP Phone system 

connected to the City of Pontiac phone and communication lines during the term of this 
contract, including all wiring and data connections. The 3 Phones and related equipment that 
were in use when our relationship began are stored in the Chapel store room and easily 
reconnected to the existing old wiring. 

Any cabling attached to floors and walls for the Allworx system will become the property of the 
City should this agreement end. The Phone System and all Phones will remain the property of 
Covenant and removed. 

Office Furniture and Equipment List that Belongs to Covenant Cemetery Services, Inc. 

NOTE: These are specified because both Covenant and The City each have items currently in use 

at the Ottawa Park location. (When the Oak Hill Office opens this list may have to be 
updated.) 

Currently all Furniture and Equipment at Oak Hill belongs to the City. 

Ottawa Park, Covenant Owned Items: 

5 laptop Computers with wireless Keyboards and Mice 

1 HP Color Printer 

1 B&W Brother MFC Printer 

1 Burgundy Swivel Executive Chair (belongs personally to Charles Sornig) 

4 Standard Style 4 Drawer Beige File Cabinets 

4 Lateral Style Brown and Beige File Cabinets 

2 Epson Scanners and 2 Desktop Calculators 

2 Drawer lateral wooden file cabinet 

1 Kerby Sentra Vacuum and 1 Shop Vac 

3 Grey Brocade Cubicles with Overheads, Desk Tops, File drawers and related hardware. 

1 U-Shaped Black Desk/Credenza with overhead and lighting 

1 Cross Cut Shredder 

Various Floor Lamps 

Various Tools and Grounds Maintenance Equipment 

Building Improvements 

Covenant requests permission to paint the wood paneled walls and joiners in the reception and 
manager offices at their expense, should they choose to do so. 

Page 8 of8 



AGENDA 
ITEM 

8 



TO: 

FROM: 

Thru: 

DATE: 

RE:. 

CITY OF PONTIAC 
OFFICIAL MEMORANDUM 

Honorable Mayor, Council President and City Council Members 

Danielle Kelley, Plante & Moran 

Office of Deputy Mayor, Jane Bais-DiSessa 

November 16, 2018 

Resolution to provide a 5% increase for eligible full time City employees 

and related budget amendments. 

Effective December 1, 2018, Mayor Waterman is requesting to increase the wages by 5% 
for those full time City employees that were hired before May 1, 2018 (excluding the City 
Council department and the Mayor). A list of the eligible employees is found in Exhibit B 
attached to this memo. 

The 2018-2019 budget as adopted by City Council on June 8, 2018 did contain a 
provision for employee wage increases in the general fund for $146,724 under department 
270 - personnel. The Controller's office has performed a calculation of the impact on the 
budget for these increases and has determined that the $146,724 provision is sufficient to 
provide this increase to those eligible employees. 

However, not all employees eligible for this increase provide service to the general fund. 
Therefore, granting this increase will require a transfer of this budgeted funding from the 
general fund into various other funds of the City, which requires approval by the City 
Council. The exact transfers required can be found on Exhibit A, which is a balanced 
budget amendment and does not require a use of fund balance in any fund. 

As such, the following resolution would be in order: 

Whereas, the City of Pontiac timely approved the 2018-2019 budget on June 8, 2018 and; 

Whereas, the General Fund budget contained a provision for employee wage increases of 
$146,724 in general government appropriations; and 

Whereas, the Executive Office wishes to provide a 5% increase as of December 1, 2018 
to those full time City employees hired before May 1, 2018 (excluding City Council 
department and the Mayor); and 

Whereas, the budget ordinance allows the Mayor to amend appropriations within a fund, 
so long as total revenues and appropriations are equal to that as approved by the City 
Council. The transfer· of appropriations for full time employees eligible for this wage 
increase that provide service in the General Fund from the provision for employee wage 
increases originally budgeted will be $62,569; and . 



Memo - Salary Adjustments 
November 16, 2018 
Page 2 of 2. 

Whereas, certain full time employees hired before May 1, 2018 eligible for this increase 
provide service to other funds outside of the General Fund. Therefore, there will be a ne~d 
to decrease the provision for employee wage increases in general government 
appropriations in the General Fund by $61,252 and increase the transfers out in the 
General Fund by $61,252. The corresponding transfers in and personnel appropriations 
will need to increase in the following funds: Major Streets Fund transfers in and 
appropriations by $18,484, Local Street Fund transfers in and appropriations by $14,125, 
Youth Recreation Fund transfers in and appropriations by $6,331, Cemetery Fund 
transfers in and appropriations by $337, Senior Center Fund transfers in and 
appropriations by $16,129, Sanitation Fund transfers in and appropriations by $291, Cable 
Fund transfers in and appropriations by $2,840, -District Court Fund transfers in and 
appropriations by $1,291, and Insurance Fund transfers in and appropriations by $1,424; 
and 

Whereas, the Mayor is proposing to the City Council to increase transfers out and 
decrease general government appropriations for the current fiscal year 2018-2019 for the 
General Fund in the amount of $61,252 and increase the transfers in and appropriations 
for those funds in amounts described above for a total of $61,252. 

Now therefore, the City Council of the City of Pontiac approves a five percent increase to 
eligible City employees as detailed in attachment labeled Exhibit B and that ii be effective 
December 1, 2018. In addition, the City Council approves related budget amendments for 
the fiscal year 2018-2019 as detailed in the attachment labeled Exhibit A. 

DK 

Attachments 



EXHIBIT A 
General Fund - 101 2018-2019 2018-2019 

ESTIMATED REVENUES Original Budget Proposed Amendment Amended Budget 

Property Taxes 7,912,643 7,912,643 

Income Taxes 13,450,000 13,450,000 

licenses and Permits 195,000 195,000 

Federal Grants 115,000 115,000 

State Grants 9,962,707 9,962,707 

Charges for Services 1,115,600 1,115,600 

Fines and Forfeits 108,000 108,000 

Interest and Rents 376,000 376,000 

Other Revenue 2,433,704 2,433,704 

Transfers In and other Uses 240,000 240,000 

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 35,908,654 35,908,654 

APPROPRIATIONS 
General Government 5,369,226 (61,252) 5,307,974 

Public Safety 20,004,501 20,004,501 

Public Works 2,584,892 2,584,892 

Health and Welfare 150,000 150,000 

Community and Economic Development 2,555,850 2,555,850 

Recreation and Culture 676,963 676,963 

Other Functions 2,452,662 2,452,662 

Transfers Out and Other Uses 2,114,555 61,252 2,175,807 

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 35,908,649 35,908,649 

General Fund 
NET REVENUES/APPROPRIATIONS 5 5 

Estimated Beginning Fund Balance 15,142,436 15,142,436 15,142,436 

Estimated Ending Fund Balance 15,142,441 15,142,436 15,142,441 

Major Street Fund- 202 2018-2019 2018-2019-

ESTIMATED REVENUES Original Budget Proposed Amendment Amended Budget 

State Grants 4,995,130 4,995,130 

Interest and Rents 20,523 20,523 

Transfers In and Other Uses 18,484 18,484 

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 5,015,653 18,484 5,034,137 

APPROPRIATIONS 

Public Works 7,838,560 18,484 7,857,044 

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 7,838,560 18,484 7,857,044 

General Fund 
NET REVENUES/APPROPRIATIONS (2,822,907) (2,822,907) 

Estimated Beginning Fund Balance 4,230,212 4,230,212 4,230,212 

Estimated Ending Fund Balance 1,407,305 4,230,212 1,407,305 

Local Street Fund • 203 2018-2019 2018-2019 

ESTIMATED REVENUES Original Budget Proposed Amendment Amended Budget 

State Grants 1,522,860 1,522,860 

Interest and Rents 21,493 21,493 

Transfers In and Other Uses 14,125 14,125 

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 1,544,353 14,125 1,558,478 

APPROPRIATIONS 
Pub He Works 2,855,411 14,125 2,869,536 

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 2,855,411 14,125 2,869,536 

General Fund 
NET REVENUES/APPROPRIATIONS (1,311,058} (1,311,058) 

Estimated Beginning Fund Balance 3,290,253 3,290,253 3,290,253 

Estimated Ending Fund Balance 1,979,195 3,290,253 1,979,195 



Youth Recreation Fund - 208 2018-2019 2018-2019 

~STIMATED REVENUES Original Budget Proposed Amendment Amended Budget 

Property Taxes 960,642 960,642 

Transfers In and Other Uses 6,331 6,331 

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 960,642 6,331 966,973 

APPROPRIATIONS 

Recreation and Culture 9S8,062 6,331 964,393 

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 9S8,062 6,331 964,393 

General Fund 

NET REVENUES/APPROPRIATIONS 2,580 2,S80 

Estimated Beginning Fund Balance 16,939 16,939 16,939 

Estimated Ending Fund Balance 19,519 16,939 19,S19 

Cemetery Fund - 209 2018-2019 2018-2019 

ESTIMATED REVENUES Original Budget Proposed Amendment Amended Budget 

Charges for Service 10,000 10,000 

Transfers In and Other Uses 240,000 337 240,337 

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 250,000 337 250,337 

APPROPRIATIONS 

General Government 246,659 337 246,996 

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 246,659 337 246,996 

General Fund 

NET REVENUES/APPROPRIATIONS 3,341 3,341 

Estimated Beginning Fund Balance 26,826 26,826 26,826 

Estimated Ending.Fund Balance 30,167 26,826 30,167 

Senior Activites Fund- 212 2018-2019 2018-2019 

ESTIMATED REVENUES Origlnal Budget Proposed Amendment Amended Budget 

Property Taxes 306,860 306,860 

Interest and Rents 19,397 19,397 

Transfers In and Other Uses 16,129 16,129 

TOT Al ESTIMATED REVENUES 326,257 16,129 342,386 

APPROPRIATIONS 

Recreation and Culture 423,522 16,129 439,651 

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 423,522 16,129 439,651 

General Fund 

NET REVENUES/APPROPRIATIONS {97,265) {97,265) 
Estimated Beginning Fund Balance 589,722 589,722 589,722 

Estimated Ending Fund Balance 492,457 589,722 492,457 

Sanitation Fund• 226 2018-2019 2018-2019 

ESTIMATED REVENUES Original Budget Proposed Amendment Amended Budget 

Property Taxes 1,761,539 1,761,539 

Charges for Service 1,675,000 1,675,000 

Interest and Rents 25,852 25,852 

Transfers In and Other Uses 291 291 
TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 3,462,391 291 3,462,682 

APPROPRIATIONS 

Publ!cWorks 4,401,28_6 291 4,401,577 

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 4,401,286 291 4,401,577 

General Fund 

NET REVENUES/APPROPRIATIONS (938,895) {938,895) 

Estimated Beginning Fund Balance 5,438,144 5,438,144 5,438,144 

Estimated Ending Fund Balance 4,499,249 S,438,144 4,499,249 



Cable Fund - 231 2018-2019 2018-2019 
ESTIMATED REVENUES Original Budget Proposed Amendment Amended Budget 

Charges for Service 175,100 175,100 
Interest and Rents 6,631 6,631 
Transfers In and other Uses 2,840 2,840 

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 181,731 ·2,840 184,S71 

APPROPRIATIONS 

General Government 135,975 2,840 138,815 
TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 135,975 2,840 138,815 

General Fund 

NET REVENUES/APPROPRIATIONS 45,756 45,756 
Estimated Beginning Fund Balance 430,558 430,SSB 430,558 
Estimated Ending Fund Balance 476,314 430,558 476,314 

District Court Fund • 276 2018-2019 2018-2019 
ESTIMATED REVENUES Original Budget Proposed Amendment Amended Budget 

Charges for Service 673,795 673,795 
State Grants 187,639 187,639 
Other Revenue 876,540 876,540 
Fines and Forfeits 1,083,635 1,083,635 
Interest and Rents 1,500 1,SOO 
Transfer's In and Other Uses 1,374,SSS 1,291 1,375,846 

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 4,197,664 1,291 4,198,955 

APPROPRIATIONS 

General Government 4,168,343 1,291 4,169,634 
Transfers Out and other Uses 15,000 15,000 

TOT AL APPROPRIATIONS 4,183,343 1,291 4,184,634 

General Fund 

NET REVENUES/APPROPRIATIONS 14,321 14,321 
Estimated Beginning Fund Balance 13,325 13,325 13,325 
Estimated Ending Fund Balance 27,646 13,32S 27,646 

Insurance Fund • 659 2018-2019 2018-2019 
ESTIMATED REVENUES Original Budget Proposed Amendment Amended Budget 

Charges for Service 7,117,185 7,117,185 
Transfers In and Other Uses 500,000 1,424 501,424 

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 7,617,185 1,424 7,618,609 

APPROPRIATIONS 

General Government 48,908 1,424 50,332 
other Functions 11,780,185 11,780,18S 

TOT AL APPROPRIATIONS 11,829,093 1,424 11,830,517 

General Fund 

NET REVENUES/APPROPRIATIONS {4,211,908) {4,211,908) 
Estimated Beginning Fund Balance 4,528,140 4,528,140 4,528,140 
Estimated Ending Fund Balance 316,232 4,S28,140 316,232 



EXHIBIT B 
_E_l)Kl_bl~l:.\!IIJJme_~~l~~.l!...~[~J,(l,ayJ.~_2.9JJI_ 
'De~~0$;/ -- Hlr11c·oato'.,-:rytDap_t ____ • •··,;;--'_1.JinNil_ine" '":· " ·~l'l.rjU14in,i 
Moy-Or 10/26/2015 101-171 DISe,sa Jono 
May-0r 8/21/2017 101-171 Vcasy Tamura 
Cl<>rk 9/9/2009 101-191 Wesley Anll<!tle 
lneomeTilX 1/7/2016101-202 Ko,ofslcy "'" Finance 11/6/2017 101•206 Bawa Sekar 
Flnane,, 7/6/2015 101,206 Mc~em:lc Michelle 
Finance 7/1/2013 101,206 Peter.; Janet 
Clerk 7/1/2010 101·21$ Grandison Shollo 
Trc..sury 6/24/2002 101-2S3 W1son Sow 
PubllcWorks 3/22/2009 Multlplc Robinson "'" J>ubllcworks 8/21/2017 Multlpl<> Sh<>lton Robert 
Sheriff 7/1/2013 101•301 Reis Deni:-.., 
Public Works 1/26/2015 Multiple JlmonN Vince 
Public Works 12/5/2011101-4S8 B111int John 
Public Works 5/6/2013 Multiple Brimm Eric 
Public Works 7/8/2013 101-458 Tennille focqulllne 
Comm.Dev 8/26/2013 101-690 '" Miriam 
Camm, Dev 8/9/2017 101-690 lcehrln Rachel 
Camm. Dev 3/17/2017 101-WO l\f(lnS Dwa\ff1e 
Public Works 7/31/2017 Multiple Cooley Allen 
Public Works 3/2/2015 Multiple Nettle Atfrcd 
Youth Recreation 8/3/2017 208-756 Flelds-Andcr,on Portl<1 
Youth Rocreatlon 5/1S/2017 Multlpl<> Croft ''"' Public Works 7/1/2009 Multiple Steveri:: Victor 
PubllcWorlc. 1/5/2015 2U•813/814 Howard Mickle 
Camm. Dev 7/27/2011231-291 "°"" J>hllllp 
Finance 1/1/2006 6S9-194 Jimenez Ester 

T1tl<1 .... .:;;:.,.:,:,;Umlti(li(!llr1v,1tnJ;0;;_;,.....;.,,..L,;__CU&;,;n1:_s..1a,Y_·.· -~pos(HI-H,o§i1V l'tatii:~:~ ,,.,,_w ,Piy~Se,;I_S,:.la"rL~~~..J 
Deputy Mo\f(lr s 108,505.00 s 114,035.25 
EKocutlve Assl,tant s 60,000.00 s 63,000.00 
Ocrl,;al Assistant 24.04 25.24 
lncometaxAdmln 62,400.00 65,520.00 
Sr. Flnanci!ll Analyst 75,000.00 78,750.00 
PurthasJng Ag<>nt 52,000.00 54,600.00 
AP/AR Manag,,r 52,000.00 54,600.00 
oeputy City O<>rk 62,000.00 65,100.00 
Deputy City Traosuer 62,400,00 65,520.00 
Building Superintendent 35.89 37.68 
M:ilntencc Worker 17,00 17.85 
Customer Servltc 22.83 23.97 
Rlght-.of-Way Inspector 21.11 22.17 
DPW Director/ City Engineer 95,oo,:wo 99,7S4.20 
DPW AS,lstant 21,11 , s 22.17 
Customer Service 22.83 $ 23.97 
Cu,;tomer Service 12.67 s B.30 
Econ./Ccmm. Ow Directer 85,000.00 89,250.00 
Promotion to 0eputy Directer Community Development 52,000.00 73,892.00 
Malnton,inca S.iperlntendent 30.00 31.S0 
Maintenance Foreman II 20.80 21.84 
Yooth R<x:rcatlon S5,000.00 57,750.00 
Athlotlc MaMger ""' 1S.7S 
Senior Scrvlcos Provider U.00 12.60 
Senior Center Dir 13.67 14,35 
Cilbt,,Olr..aor 64,000.00 67,200,00 
Customer Service 18.25 19.16 


	20181116162419634
	20181116162533365
	20181116162642091
	20181116162841189

